
 

Democracy Service 
Council Offices 
CAERNARFON 

Gwynedd 
LL55 1SH 

 

 

 

Geraint Owen 
Head of  Democracy Service 

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

 
 

  
 

Meeting 
 

THE COUNCIL 
 
 

 

 
 

Date and Time 
 

1.00 pm, THURSDAY, 8TH JULY, 2021 
 

* NOTE * 
 

This meeting will be webcast 
 

https://gwynedd.public-i.tv/core/l/en_GB/portal/home 

 

 
 

 
Location 

 
Virtual Meeting - Zoom 

   
 

 

 

Contact Point 

Eirian Roberts 

01286 679018 

eirianroberts3@gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

(DISTRIBUTED 30/06/21) 

Complete Agenda

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/
https://gwynedd.public-i.tv/core/l/en_GB/portal/home


 

 
WEDNESDAY, 30 JUNE 2021 
 
 
 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
MEETING OF GWYNEDD COUNCIL – THURSDAY, 8 JULY 2021 
 
YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED to attend a virtual Zoom meeting of GWYNEDD 
COUNCIL which will be held at 1.00 pm on THURSDAY, 8TH JULY, 2021 to 
consider the matters mentioned in the following agenda. 
 
Yours faithfully, 
 

 
 
Head of  Democracy Services 
 
 
 



 

 

AGENDA 
 

1.   APOLOGIES 
 

 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

 

2.   MINUTES 
 

5 - 13 

 The Chair shall propose that the minutes of the Annual Meeting of the 
Council held on 13th May, 2021 be signed as a true record. 
 

 

3.   DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive any declaration of personal interest. 
 

 

4.   THE CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

 

 To receive any Chair’s announcements. 
 

 

5.   URGENT ITEMS 
 

 

 To note any items which are urgent business in the opinion of the 
Chair so they may be considered. 
 

 

6.   QUESTIONS 
 

 

 To consider any questions the appropriate notice for which have 
been given under Section 4.19 of the Constitution. 
 

 

7.   ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE 2020/21 
 

14 - 30 

 To submit the report of the Chair of the Standards Committee. 
 

 

8.   GWYNEDD COUNCIL ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 
2020/21 
 

31 - 141 

 To submit the report of the Council Leader. 
 

 

9.   LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND ELECTIONS ACT (WALES) 2021 
 

142 - 165 

 To submit the report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate Support. 
 

 

10.   ELECTORAL REGISTRATION OFFICER / RETURNING OFFICER 
 

166 - 167 

 To submit the report of the Monitoring Officer. 
 

 

11.   SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 
 

168 - 195 

 To submit the Scrutiny Annual Report. 
 

 



 

12.   THE COUNCIL'S POLITICAL BALANCE 
 

196 - 200 

 To submit the report of the Head of Democracy Services. 
 

 

13.   NOTICES OF MOTION 
 

 

 In accordance with the Notice of Motion received under Section 4.20 
of the Constitution, Councillor Gruffydd Williams will propose as 
follows:- 
 
“That Gwynedd Council supports the United Nations Treaty on 
the Prohibition of Nuclear Weapons.” 
 

 

14.   RESPONSES TO PREVIOUS NOTICE OF MOTION 
 

201 - 207 

 To submit, for information:- 
 
(a) Letters from the UK Government Minister for Welfare Delivery 

and the Welsh Government Minister for Social Justice in 
response to Councillor Elin Walker-Jones’ notice of motion to 
the 4th March, 2021 meeting regarding Universal Basic Income. 

 
(b) Letters to the First Minister for Wales (i) in response to Dr 

Simon Brooks’ report “Second Homes – Developing New 
Policies in Wales”, and (ii) calling for an earlier review of the 
Joint Local Development Plan following the Extraordinary 
Council meeting on 28th June, 2021. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 



Annual Meeting of the Council, 13/5/21 

 

 
ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL, THURSDAY, 13 MAY 2021 

 

 
Present:  Councillor Simon Glyn (Chairman); 

Councillor Elwyn Jones (Vice-chair). 
 
Councillors: Craig ab Iago, Menna Baines, Beca Brown, Stephen Churchman, Steve 
Collings, Annwen Daniels, R.Glyn Daniels, Anwen Davies, Elwyn Edwards, Alan Jones 
Evans, Aled Evans, Peter Antony Garlick, Gareth Wyn Griffith, Selwyn Griffiths, Alwyn 
Gruffydd, Annwen Hughes, John Brynmor Hughes, Louise Hughes, R.Medwyn Hughes, 
Judith Humphreys, Nia Jeffreys, Aled Wyn Jones, Anne Lloyd Jones, Berwyn Parry Jones, 
Elin Walker Jones, Eric Merfyn Jones, Gareth Tudor Morris Jones, Huw Wyn Jones, Keith 
Jones, Kevin Morris Jones, Linda A.W.Jones, Eryl Jones-Williams, Cai Larsen, Beth Lawton, 
Dilwyn Lloyd, Dafydd Meurig, Dilwyn Morgan, Linda Morgan, Dafydd Owen, Dewi Owen, 
Edgar Owen, Nigel Pickavance, Rheinallt Puw, Dewi Wyn Roberts, Elfed P.Roberts, Gareth 
A.Roberts, John Pughe Roberts, Mair Rowlands, Paul Rowlinson, Angela Russell, Dyfrig 
Siencyn, Mike Stevens, Gareth Thomas, Ioan Thomas, Hefin Underwood, Catrin Wager, 
Eirwyn Williams, Elfed Williams, Gareth Williams, Gethin Glyn Williams, Gruffydd Williams 
and Owain Williams. 
 
Also present:   Dafydd Gibbard (Chief Executive), Morwena Edwards (Corporate 
Director), Dafydd Edwards (Head of Finance Department), Iwan Evans (Head of Legal 
Services / Monitoring Officer), Geraint Owen (Head of Corporate Support Department / Head 
of Democracy Service), Sion Huws (Senior Solicitor - Corporate), Vera Jones (Democracy 
and Language Manager) and Eirian Roberts (Democracy Services Officer). 
 
1. ELECTION OF CHAIR 

 
RESOLVED to elect Councillor Simon Glyn as Chair for 2021/22. 
 
Councillor Simon Glyn read and signed the declaration accepting the post of Chair of 
Gwynedd Council for 2021/22, in the presence of the Chief Executive. 
 

2. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR 
 
 Two names were proposed and seconded for the post of vice-chair, namely Councillor 

Elwyn Jones and Councillor Peter Read. 
 
 RESOLVED to elect Councillor Elwyn Jones as vice-chair for 2021/22. 
 

Councillor Elwyn Jones read the declaration accepting the post of Vice-chair of 
Gwynedd Council for 2021/2022.   
 
The Monitoring Officer explained that, as the Vice-chair was attending the meeting 
remotely, arrangements had been made for him to sign the declaration in the presence 
of the Chief Executive. 

 
3. APOLOGIES 
 

Councillors:- Dylan Bullard, Dylan Fernley, Peredur Jenkins, W. Roy Owen, Jason 
Parry, Peter Read and Cemlyn Williams. 
 

4. MINUTES 
 

The Chairman signed the minutes of the previous meetings of the Council held on the 
following dates as a true record:- 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Annual Meeting of the Council, 13/5/21 

 

 4 March, 2021 

 23 April, 2021 (Extraordinary Meeting) 
 

5. DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST 
 

No declarations of personal interest were received. 
 
6. THE CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
Councillor Selwyn Griffiths paid tribute to the late Maldwyn Lewis, Porthmadog – a 
former member of this Council and the previous Gwynedd County Council. 
 
The Chairman noted with sadness that they had also heard about the sudden death of 
former Councillor Dewi Llewelyn, who had been very active in representing local 
people and his community in Bangor. The Council's sincerest condolences were 
expressed to his family and friends.  

 
It was also noted that the Council wished to sympathise with everyone within the 
county’s communities who had recently lost loved ones. 
 
The Council stood in silence as a mark of respect and remembrance. 
 
The Leader was invited to say a few words about the recent Senedd Elections. He 
noted:- 
 

 This was the last Annual Meeting of the Council before the members faced 
elections in May of next year, and he took the opportunity to thank every 
member for their valuable contribution to the Council's work. He also noted that 
it had been a pleasure and privilege to be Leader over the past four years, and 
that he would do his best for the remaining year of the current Council's term. 

 He wished to congratulate Siân Gwenllian and Mabon ap Gwynfor on being 
elected to represent Arfon and Dwyfor Meirionnydd in the recent Senedd 
Elections. He expressed his hope that both of them, as former county 
councillors, would remember local government in their work, and support every 
effort to empower and protect local government, and to ensure that we 
received sufficient funding to perform our duties. 

 He wished to state his appreciation of those members of the Council who had 
stood in the Senedd Elections, and thanked them for participating in the 
democratic process. 

 He wished Lord Dafydd Elis-Thomas well in his retirement from the Senedd 
after a lifetime of service to Wales, especially to Meirionnydd.  He noted that 
his work as the Presiding Officer of the Assembly had been key in laying firm 
foundations and giving status to the body, and he thanked him for all his work, 
and for representing us for all this time. 

 The people of Wales had put a vote of confidence in the Labour Party, and 
much of the thanks for that was down to the First Minister, Mark Drakeford, for 
the measured and honest way in which he had guided us through an extremely 
difficult time.  The last year had shown that Wales could work more effectively, 
and more sensibly, than the Westminster Government, and it had also shown 
very clearly the need for far more powers for Wales.  There was a challenge for 
the Labour Party to demonstrate that they were ready to stand firm for Wales, 
insisting on more powers, and to establish themselves as a Welsh independent 
party, breaking free from their peers in England. As Leader of the Council for 
the next year, he would take advantage of every opportunity to express this 
challenge to them. 

Page 6



Annual Meeting of the Council, 13/5/21 

 He wished to welcome Dafydd Gibbard to his first meeting of the full Council as 
Chief Executive. He wished him every success in the job, and noted that he 
looked forward to working alongside him over the next year.  

 
Andy Dunbobbin was congratulated on being elected as North Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner.  
 
The Chair expressed his appreciation of Councillor Edgar Owen's work as Chair over 
the past two years. He had truly walked the second mile, and his term as Chair was 
greatly respected. He added that the last year had been incredibly challenging, and 
that Councillor Edgar Owen had been very successful in handling the chairing of the 
Council meetings virtually for the first time in the Council's history. 
 
Dafydd Gibbard was welcomed to his first meeting of the full Council as Chief 
Executive, and Dilwyn Williams, former Chief Executive, was thanked for his work over 
the past seven years, and was wished a long and happy retirement. 
 
It was also pleasing to note that the Council had retained its Gold Level status by a 
Corporate Health Standard assessor (Welsh Government) following a presentation and 
discussion on what the Council had done to support mental and physical health during 
the past 12 months. 
 

7. URGENT ITEMS 
 
None to note. 
 

8. QUESTIONS 
 
No questions were received. 
 

9. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR TO THE DEMOCRATIC SERVICES COMMITTEE 
 
The Council was invited to appoint a chair for the Democratic Services Committee for 
2021/22. 
 
RESOLVED to elect Councillor Anne Lloyd Jones as Chair of the Democratic 
Services Committee for 2021/22.  
 
Councillor Anne Lloyd Jones thanked the Head of Democratic Services, the Language 
and Democracy Manager and the staff of the Democracy Service for all their support 
over the past year. 

 
10. ANNUAL REPORT BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRACY SERVICES 

 
The Head of Democratic Services presented his annual report on behalf of the 
Democratic Services Committee in respect of support for members. 
 
The Head thanked all the committee members and the officers of the Democratic and 
Language Services for their support during the last year. He referred in particular to the 
heroic efforts of the Leader and staff of the Translation Team in ensuring simultaneous 
translation provision at virtual meetings, not only within this Council but also across the 
region with other public organisations. The work of the Information Technology officers 
had also been essential, and had enabled everyone to now take the technology for 
granted. He also thanked the officers of the Council's Learning and Organisational 
Development Service for coordinating the training, and he also thanked the members 
of the Democratic Services Committee and Councillors Dewi Owen and Anne Lloyd 
Jones as the chairs of the committee for the period of the report in question. 
 

Page 7



Annual Meeting of the Council, 13/5/21 

Members were given an opportunity to ask questions and offer observations.  During 
the discussion, the following matters were raised:- 
 

 A member expressed concern that the additional cost of working virtually from 
home could prevent some from standing in an election to become a councillor – 
we should ensure that we continue to be an inclusive council.  In response, it 
was noted that the Service was live to this threat, and that the matter would be 
discussed further at the next meeting of the Democratic Services Committee in 
June. 

 A member asked whether consideration had been given to offering a translation 
service to other authorities, as a way of generating additional income to the 
Council's coffers. In response, it was explained that the Translation Service 
already provided a translation service to a number of other organisations.  Over 
the past year the service had also assisted many other local authorities etc., in 
order to introduce systems that allowed simultaneous translation in virtual 
meetings. There was already income coming in from organisations for the 
translation service provided by Gwynedd, but there was scope to consider 
extending this further. 

 It was noted that Gwynedd Council had been proactive in moving to conduct 
virtual meetings bilingually from the very beginning, and was an example to 
other bodies across Wales.  

 It was noted that conducting meetings virtually saved a lot of travelling costs for 
the Council and travel time for the members, and that virtual meetings should 
be considered as the way forward in future. 

 Members expressed that the Planning Committee should meet in person in 
order to maintain its status as a fair and firm committee.  It was also noted that 
it had not been possible for the members to go on site visits, which were so 
important in respect of making the correct decisions on planning applications. 

 Members expressed the view that the full Council and Scrutiny Committees 
should meet in person, but that members should be given the choice of 
attending other meetings either virtually or in person.  In response it was 
explained that the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 
incorporated the virtual way of working, as well as the hybrid and common 
method, and that the Council would be requested to adopt a policy on the 
procedure.  As such, there would be an opportunity for the members to 
contribute to the discussion regarding the form and shape of future committees 
soon. 

 It was noted that the hybrid approach had been successful in other places.  This 
Council had been proactive in establishing a virtual system, and it could push 
again to be at the forefront in terms of a hybrid system. In response, it was 
explained that the Council was already investing in a provision that would allow 
this flexibility in the near future, and it would certainly be in a position to proceed 
and agree on this very soon. 

 
RESOLVED to accept the report. 
 
The Head of Service was thanked for his presentation. 

 
11. ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATUTORY DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL SERVICES 

2020/21 
 
The Statutory Director of Social Services presented her annual report regarding the 
performance of the Social Services in Gwynedd during the previous year. 
 
The Director noted that, due to the pandemic, 2020/21 had been a very different year 
to previous years, and a year that no-one would wish to see repeated ever again. She 
sympathised with everyone who had lost loved ones to the virus, and thanked every 
one of the county's care workers who had gone above and beyond to provide the best 

Page 8



Annual Meeting of the Council, 13/5/21 

possible care for the residents.  She also noted that the joint-working across Gwynedd 
had been an inspiration for everyone, and that we had seen the best of the people of 
Gwynedd, be they staff, volunteers, champions in the communities or elected 
members. 
 
She noted further that despite the challenges faced because of the pandemic, she was 
proud to note that the performance of social services for the past year had once again 
been positive.   However, as they had focused on coping with the Covid-19 crisis, some 
priorities had slipped somewhat, or had been put to one side for the time being.   
Consequently, the report focused on how the department had responded to the 
pandemic and how they had continued to maintain and provide the essential services, 
and also developed and provided new services. 
 
She explained that there was an army of hard-working staff and managers behind this 
performance, as well as carers who were family or friends, foster parents and 
volunteers.   The pandemic had demonstrated that having robust care services in the 
communities was vital, and it was greatly hoped that policies and arrangements etc. in 
the future would highlight that the care sector was just as important as the health 
services. 
 
She emphasised that she and the heads of department would closely monitor the effect 
of last year on the staff in the long term and the short / medium term.  There was 
mental health support available for the staff. We must be alert to the needs of individual 
staff, and try and anticipate any future problems. The pandemic had also left its mark 
on the county's population in terms of employment, loneliness, depression etc., and the 
Supporting People Board was looking at well-being issues, and had learned from the 
experiences of Covid in order to ensure that we responded in the best possible way.   
 
She added that good performance was not possible without political and corporate 
support, and she thanked all the members for their work throughout the year in 
supporting, challenging and offering observations and new ideas.  She thanked the two 
Cabinet Members involved in the care field, Councillors Dafydd Meurig and Dilwyn 
Morgan, and thanked the Leader and the rest of the Cabinet, and the Chair and 
members of the Care Scrutiny Committee for their continued assistance and support.  
She also took the opportunity to thank the Head of Adults, Health and Well-being 
Department and the Head of Children and Families Department, and the senior 
managers and managers.  She further thanked other departments in the Council for 
their willingness to step in and support the social care work over the past year.  She 
gave particular thanks to Dilwyn Williams for his leadership and support during his time 
as Chief Executive, and noted that she looked forward to working with Dafydd Gibbard, 
the newly-appointed Chief Executive. 
 
To close, she noted that 2021 would also be a challenge, but by working together and 
sharing and offering ideas, she was confident that they could continue to offer the best 
service to the people of Gwynedd.  
 
Members were given an opportunity to ask questions and offer observations.  During 
the discussion, the following matters were raised:- 
 

 It was noted that the Gwynedd Test, Trace and Protect department had done 
exceptionally good work. 

 It was noted that no matter how hard the Council worked, especially in the area 
of mental health, they would not be able to achieve their mission unless the 
Health Board had enough staff, and they emphasised the need to train doctors 
and nurses in Bangor, jointly between the Hospital and the University. 

 The two care Cabinet Members thanked the Director for her support and 
leadership, and they thanked all members of staff, especially the front-line staff, 

Page 9



Annual Meeting of the Council, 13/5/21 

for all their work and their personal sacrifice at times, for the benefit of the 
vulnerable people of Gwynedd. 

 The staff were thanked for their willingness to assist the members to respond to 
enquiries by the public. 

 It was noted that the effects of the pandemic would last for years, and they 
called on fellow-members to assist with the burden in support of the officers and 
the people of Gwynedd. 

 In response to a question regarding the Department's capacity to face the 
problems we will face in the future in light of Covid and Brexit, it was explained 
that the matter of recruitment in the care field had been included on both 
Departments' risk register. There were no easy solutions to this, but we must 
make this matter a priority, in partnership with the Health Service.  We had to 
have the funding from the Government to ensure that we could pay fair salaries 
across the entire sector. It was unclear as yet what kind of service would be 
required in light of the experiences with Covid, but it was important that we were 
able to be responsive and answer some of the problems in the most 
constructive and proactive way possible.   

 A member queried what kind of response there had been to the recent national 
and local campaigns to recruit workers in the care sector, and questioned what 
could the members do to promote this. In response, it was noted that the 
campaigns had improved the situation. They believed that more could be done, 
and there might be scope to have more of a local feeling to some of the posts 
too, so that it was possible to support anyone who was slightly anxious to apply 
for a post in a council or with a provider.  The members' role could be key in 
that respect. The social workers must be taken into account too, ensuring that 
enough of them were supported to complete a higher degree to enter the field.  
The Care Scrutiny Committee would undoubtedly keep an eye on the work that 
was happening, and anyone who had ideas on how to improve the recruitment 
systems and the campaigns were invited to make contact with the Department 
to discuss further. 

 It was asked how the Council could support those people who are on the line 
and cannot get financial aid from anywhere. In response it was explained that 
the Supporting People Board were working in this direction, as it included 
specific work streams on employment, poverty, mental health, well-being etc. 
but this could be discussed further with the member outside the meeting.   

 
RESOLVED to accept the report. 
 
The Director was thanked for her presentation. 
 

12. EXTEND THE APPOINTMENT OF LAY MEMBER OF THE AUDIT AND 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 The Cabinet Member for Finance presented a report which requested the Council to 

extend the appointment of Mrs Sharon Warnes as a lay member of the Audit and 
Governance Committee for an additional year, until the election in May 2022, as the 
current local government term would end in 2022, and since constitutional changes 
would entail quite significant changes to the committee's membership from May 2022 
as a result of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. 

 
The Cabinet Member for Finance, the Chair and Vice-chair of the Audit and 
Governance Committee and members of the committee noted that Mrs Sharon Warnes 
had been a very hard-working member over the years.  

 
 RESOLVED to extend the appointment of Mrs Sharon Warnes as a lay member of 

the Audit and Governance Committee for an additional year, until the election in 
May 2022. 

 

Page 10



Annual Meeting of the Council, 13/5/21 

13. ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL’S POLITICAL BALANCE 
 
The Head of Democratic Services presented a report on the annual review of the 
Council’s political balance. 
 
The Head of Democratic Services noted that Councillor Freya Bentham, Member for 
Harlech / Talsarnau, had tendered her resignation since publishing the report, and he 
intended to report further on any change to the political balance as a consequence of 
this to the Council in July, after a by-election had been held. 
 
He also acknowledged that the formula for allocating seats on committees was 
complicated, but this was a statutory system that was implemented consistently across 
Welsh Councils.  As such, the Democracy Team and the Communications Team were 
in the process of producing a short video to assist everyone to better understand the 
process. 
 
RESOLVED 
(a)  To adopt the list of committees and sub-committees to be established for 

the municipal year, as noted in the appendix to these minutes, and to adopt 
the allocation of seats in accordance with what is noted in the appendix. 

(b)  To delegate the power to the Head of Democracy Services to make 
appointments to the committees based on political balance and in 
accordance with the wishes of the political groups. 

(c)  To adopt the chairpersonships of the scrutiny committees on the basis of 
political balance, as follows: 

 
Education and Economy Scrutiny Committee – Independent Group 
Communities Scrutiny Committee – Plaid Cymru 
Care Scrutiny Committee – Independent Group 

 
14. RESPONSE TO PREVIOUS NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
 Submitted for information – a letter from the Chief Executive of Snowdonia National 

Park Authority, in response to Councillor Glyn Daniels' notice of motion to the meeting 
on 1 October, 2020, regarding the possibility of charging tourists for visiting parts of the 
National Park. 
 
A member noted his dissatisfaction that it had taken five months to present the 
response to the Council members. 

 
 

The meeting commenced at 1.00pm and concluded at 2.55pm. 
 
 
 

_________________________________ 
CHAIR 

 

 

Page 11



THE COUNCIL Thursday, 13 May 2021 

APPENDIX A – ALLOCATION OF SEATS ON COMMITTEES 
 
 

A Plaid Cymru Independent Llais Gwynedd The National 
Party 

United 
Independent 
Group for 
Gwynedd 

Individual 
Member 

Total 

Education and Economy Scrutiny 
Committee 

10 5 1  1 1 0 18 

Communities Scrutiny Committee 10 5 2  0 1 18 

Care Scrutiny Committee 10 5 1 1 0 (down 
from 1) 

1 (up from 0) 18 

Audit and Governance 10 5 1  1 1 18 

 

B Plaid Cymru Independent Llais Gwynedd The National 
Party 

United 
Independent 
Group for 
Gwynedd 

Individual 
Member 

Total 

Democratic Services 8 4  1 1 1  15 

Planning 8 4 1  1 1 15 

Central Licensing 8 4 1  0 2 15 

Language  8 5 1  1  15 

Chief Officers Appointment 8 4  1 (down from 2) 1 0 1 (up 
from 0) 

15 

Employment Appeals 4 2 1  0  7 

Number of seats 84 43 11 4 5 7 154 

 

C Plaid Cymru Independent Llais Gwynedd The National 
Party 

United 
Independent 
Group for 
Gwynedd 

Individual 
Member 

Total 

Pensions 4 2 0  0 1 7 

Local Joint Consultative 
Committee 

6 3 1  1  11 

SACRE 4 1 (down from 2) 0 1 0 1 (up from 0) 7 

P
age 12



THE COUNCIL Thursday, 13 May 2021 

Joint Planning Policy Committee 5 2 1  0  8 

 

Total seats 103 51 13 5 6 9 187 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 desig nating  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
In accordance with the previous decision of the Council, the higher salaries are paid as follows: 

 Leader  

 Deputy Leader  

 8 other Cabinet members  

 The Leader of the largest Opposition  

 Committee Chairs  
- Scrutiny Committee (x3)  
- Audit and Governance Committee  
- Planning Committee  
- Licensing Committee (Central and General count as one Committee)  
- Pensions Committee 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 desig nating  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

P
age 13



Meeting The Full Council 

Date 8 July 2021 

Subject Annual Report of the Standards Committee 2020/21 

Author Dr. Einir Young, Chair of the Standards Committee 

Relevant Officer Iwan Evans, Monitoring Officer 

 

Background 
 
1. The Standards Committee is a statutory committee, which has been established to to 
promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the councillors and co-opted members 
of Gwynedd Council, and community and town councils in Gwynedd. 
 
2. To this end the Committee has decided to publish an annual report in order to explain it’s 
and promote its work.  The Committee also decided that the report should be presented 
formally to a meeting of the full Council.  
 
3. The Committee therefore presents this report for the Council’s attention.  The report will 
also be circulated to all the community and town councils.  
 
Recommendation 
 
4. To accept the report 
 

 
Statutory Officers Observations 
 
Monitoring Officer 
 
Responsible Officer 
 
Chief Finance Officer  
 
Nothing to add to the report from a financial propriety perspective. 
 

Page 14

Agenda Item 7



  
 
 
 

ANNUAL REPORT 
OF THE  

GWYNEDD COUNCIL  
STANDARDS COMMITTEE  

 
2020 - 2021 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



$bfs5i0zl.docx 1 

FOREWORD BY THE CHAIR 
 
It is difficult to believe that another year has passed and we are still, to all intent and 
purposes, under lock-down. The Standards Committee has not met face to face since 
February 2020 but like all other committees, we have adapted to remote meetings. 
The pandemic has impacted all aspects of the work of the Council and Community 
Councils, and as a result, new challenges emerge in this new virtual environment. 
Nevertheless, the normalisation of virtual meetings, reducing the need to travel may 
be one of the positives emerging as a result of the pandemic. 
 
You will note from the report that the Gwynedd Standards Committee has had a 
quiet year. No formal complaints of breaches to the Code of Conduct were referred 
to us and this reflects well on the culture across the County. Some of you, however, 
may be disappointed that the threshold for referral is too high.  As we have 
explained in the past, it is not for us to decide which cases are referred to us and as a 
committee we have noted that Elected Members have expressed disquiet in this 
regard. When the North Wales Standards Committee Forum reconvenes, this will be 
a topic for discussion. 
 
The lack of standards and lack of respect in public life are dominating headlines 
across the board in the countries of the United Kingdom and beyond. The litany of 
tales regarding totally unacceptable behaviour being ignored, excused and even 
supported at times is disappointing. We are on a slippery slope when governments 
at all levels undervalue decent and respectful behaviour. 
 
Such confusion is the weapon of dictators. Clarity and transparency are the 
cornerstones of democracy. The increase in unacceptable behaviour, the practice of 
spreading misinformation, speaking nonsense or spawning lies creates uncertainty 
everywhere. All too often, attempts to determine what is true and what is false can 
be onerous, tedious and futile. 
 
The reasons why this trend is on the increase is too complex to discuss in this 
foreword. We all have a duty to recognise that there is a wider problem and to do 
our utmost to be part of the solution. Cynicism and thinking the worst of those who 
disagree with us is counterproductive. We are all to some extent part of the 
problem, but on an encouraging note we are also part of the solution. 
 
As we look forward to another year we have an opportunity to engage in dialogue on 
the Code of Conduct and build on the good work already taking place within the 
County to ensure a better, transparent, honest and no-nonsense future for all. 
 
This will be even more important in an election year. The role of elected members as 
leaders in maintaining standards is as important as ever. 

  
 
Dr Einir Young  
Chair of the Standards Committee  

Page 16



$bfs5i0zl.docx 2 

FOREWORD BY THE MONITORING OFFICER 
 

 
As I prepared the foreword for the 2019/20 annual report I touched upon 
the initial impacts of the pandemic. It is difficult to set the ethical 
framework issues in the context of a worldwide pandemic. However, in this 
Council and Town and Community Councils the way in which we operate 
and communicate within local government has radically changed. It has also 
highlighted the role of members as community leaders and the 
responsibilities and challenges, which flowed from this.  
 
 
In the middle of all this we saw a video of a meeting of the Handforth Parish 
Council and the by now famous Jackie Weaver attempting to assist the 
Council to get its house in order. What was particularly striking about the 
video was not so much the subject of the challenge but the attitude and 
tone of some members  towards her. A type of conduct, which would be 
difficult to convey on paper but which should have no place in a meeting of 
a responsible public body. With virtual meetings now being the norm not 
only in this Council but also in Town and Community Council the nature and 
culture of meetings is changing. Although it is  anticipated that meetings in 
the chamber will re-start the electronic element and remote attendance 
will continue to be part of the landscape. It can only be hoped that the type 
of conduct seen on the video is exceptional. However, the transparency 
which comes from the new medium will also hopefully lead to more 
reflection on what represents appropriate conduct in a public bodies.  
 
 
The government has initiated a process to review the ethical framework, 
the Code of Conduct. The Code of Conduct was last significantly revised in 
2008. Without pre-empting the results of the research, which has been 
commenced  it does represent an opportunity to reflect on the operation of 
the Code  and it’s fitness for purpose across all bodies.  
 
The picture in relation to formal complaints is positive. That is not down to policing 
rather to the culture which exists across the county. This needs to be highlighted and 
promoted. In an election year this message will be  important as we prepare for new 
members and re-set the culture of standards of conduct which reflect the 
expectations of the people of Gwynedd.   
 
 
 
Iwan Evans 
Monitoring Officer 
Gwynedd Council   
 

Page 17



$bfs5i0zl.docx 3 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The Committee was established in 2001 under the Local Government Act 2000. The 
main role of the Committee is to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by 
the councillors and co-opted members of Gwynedd Council, and community and 
town councils in Gwynedd. It does so in many ways: 
 

 Assisting the councillors and co-opted members to follow the Members’ Code 
of Conduct   

 

 Advising the authority regarding adopting or amending the Members’ Code 
of Conduct 

 

 Monitoring the implementation of the Members’ Code of Conduct  
 

 Advising, training or arranging training for councillors and co-opted members 
on matters relating to the Code of Conduct 

 

 Determining complaints referred to it by the Public Services Ombudsman for 
Wales that members have breached the Code of Conduct 

 

 Considering applications made by members for dispensations to allow them 
to participate in discussions despite them having a prejudicial interest under 
the Code 
 

 Considering complaints referred to it under Gwynedd Council’s local 
resolution procedure. 

 

 Overseeing the Gwynedd Council Members Gifts and Hospitality Policy 

 

Page 18



$bfs5i0zl.docx 4 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
 
Though the Standards Committee is one of the committees of Gwynedd Council, the 
majority of its membership does not have any connection with the Council or local 
government ('Independent Members').  It also has a member who represents the 
interests of the community councils (‘Community Committee Member'), as well as 
three elected members from Gwynedd Council.  The Chair and Vice-chair of the 
Committee must be Independent Members. 
 

Independent Members  
 
 
Margaret E Jones (member since 2012) 

 
Originally from Llandrillo yn Rhos, Margaret has spent most of her life in Chwilog. 
She taught at Ysgol Abersoch for 32 years, including 14 as headmistress. She is a 
deacon in Eglwys yr Annibynwyr Siloh, Chwilog, was Chairman of the Council of the 
Union of Welsh Independents for 3 years and is also a former President of the Union. 
She was a member of Gwynedd Community Health Council and Vice Chairman until 
the reorganisation in 2010. She is anactive member of the Chwilog Eisteddfod and in 
charge of the Chairing Ceremony. 

 
 
Dr Einir Young (member since 2012) 

 
Born in the Rhondda and raised in Llanelli and Cwmtwrch Einir has been living in 
Gwynedd for more than thirty years. She lived in California for a while and has wide 
global experience in Africa mainly, working with marginal communities in semi-arid 
regions. Wales has been her focus for many years and she notes the challenges faced 
by communities world-wide are similar. We need a long-term vision and plan, to 
ensure that the actions we take are for good or prevent things from getting worse. 
Integration and collaboration is critical and possibly more important of all to involve 
everyone. These are the principles are encapsulated in the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations Act and Einir is keen to see ways of working promoted in the Act being 
widely adopted. Maintaining standards is as important to sustainability as recycling 
and saving energy and Einir welcomes the opportunity to contribute to and chair 
Gwynedd’s Standards Committee. She retired from her post as Director of 
Sustainability at Bangor University at the end of December 2020 but continues to 
work part-time on the Pen Llŷn Ecoamgueddfa project. She is a director of Ynni Llŷn, 
Community Energy Wales and is one of the deputy-chairs of Academi Heddwch (the 
Peace Academy). In her free time Einir enjoys walking long-distance paths such as 
the Wales Coastal Path, the Pilgrim’s Way and the Eryri Slate Trail. 
 
 
David Wareing (member since 2015) 

Page 19



$bfs5i0zl.docx 5 

 
In 2014 David relocated from Lancashire to Groeslon following his retirement from 
Merseyside Police.  He served for 26 years in a variety of roles with his last posting 
being to the Force Operations Department at HQ.  This position involved the 
planning and delivery of large-scale public events, public safety during major Police 
operations and the reduction of police support to outside agencies through greater 
partnership working.  David specialised in risk assessment and ensuring compliance 
of relevant Health and Safety legislation working within the legal framework.  David 
represented Merseyside Police on all five Safety Advisory Groups that covered the 
Force Area.  He firmly believes that the actions of those in public office must be both 
transparent and accountable. 

 
Aled Jones (member since 2016) 
 
Aled is originally from Lampeter, Ceredigion. He read Welsh and Geography at 
Aberystwyth University. Having graduated in 1999, he moved to Caernarfon to work 
for Cymen translation company. He became a joint-owner of the company in 2007 
and now heads a team of 20 members of staff and employs over 15 other freelance 
translators. He lives in Bangor with Tegwen, and their two children Cai and Beca. He 
has a keen interest in sport and can often be seen on the touchline supporting 
Bethesda Rugby Club and Bangor City Football Club. As a result of his work as a 
simultaneous translator he is privy to observe conduct and standards at all levels of 
governance and to identify best practice.  

 
 
Hywel Eifion Jones (member since 2019) 
 
Born and educated in the Vale of Clwyd, Eifion was a senior manager with Barclays 
Bank  serving 34 years in numerous branches throughout North and Mid Wales. He 
has undertaken many public service roles including County Councillor with Ynys Mon 
Council and member of North Wales Police Authority. He is currently a Magistrate on 
North West Wales bench, and a member of Gwynedd Pension, Betsi Cadwaladr and 
Adra Boards. He is also a member of the Adjudication Panel of Wales which 
determines alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct by elected members of County 
and Community Councils. 

 
 
Community Committee Member 
 
Councillor Richard Parry Hughes (member since 2017) 
 
Richard was educated at Llanaelhaearn farm and went to Pwllheli Grammar School, 
Glynllifon Agricultural College, and Seale Hayne College (Plymouth University). He 
has a degree in Farm Management. He worked for a vet partnership in Chwilog for 
three years and as a part-time lecturer at Glynllifon College, before buying the Upper 
Penfras Llwyndyrys farm where his family had been tenants for over three hundred 

Page 20



$bfs5i0zl.docx 6 

years. He is married to Eleri and they have three sons. A former leader of Gwynedd 
Council, he still farms. He has extensive experience of committees, holding positions 
as chair of the Wales Federation of Young Farmers' Clubs before being elected as a 
member of public bodies. He served as a member of Gwynedd County Council from 
1992 to 1996 and was a member of Gwynedd Council from 1996 to 2008. He led 
Gwynedd Council from 2003 to 2008 and was the Welsh Local Government 
Association spokesman on Environment and Planning during this period. He is an 
enthusiastic member of the Llwyndyrys Drama Company and a supporter of many 
other local societies such as Antur Aelhaearn and Friends of Carnguwch Church. He 
works as a voluntarily as a caseworker for the Farm Community Network. He is a 
member of Llannor Community Council since 1992. 

 
 
Gwynedd Council Members 
 
Councillor Dewi Roberts (member since 2017) 
 
Dewi lives in Llanengan near Abersoch with his wife Bethan, and they have 5 children 
who are all grown up. He was an engineer and a lectured in engineering at Bangor 
Technical College before joining North Wales Police. There he worked as  a 
Detective, locally, regionally and nationally, before retiring after 29 years of service. 
 
He was elected in May 2017 as gwynedd Councillor representing Abersoch. Since his 
election he has chaired the Democratic Service Committee, is Chair of the Care 
Scrutiny Committee, Chair of the Dwyfor Area Committee, a member of the Audit 
and Governance Committee and Chair of the Gwynedd Community Health Council. 
 
As well as being a member of the Standards Committee, he is also a member of the 
Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education, the Warden of Llanengan Church 
and sits on the Church Parish Council. He also serves as Governor of Ysgol Abersoch 
and Ysgol Botwnnog.   
 
 
Councillor Beth Lawton (member since 2017)  
 
Beth lives in Bryncrug and owns a local factory. She is a County Councilor for the 
Bryncrug / Llanfihangel area which includes the village of Bryncrug and 
Abergynolwyn. She is also a Community Councillor and chair of the School Governors 
of Craig y Deryn. She is active on several community-based committees including the 
Abergynolwyn Carnival, Bryncrug Rural Fair, Tywyn Hospital Appeal Committee and 
many others. She is Vice- chair of the Gwynedd Council Care Scrutiny Committee and 
is a director of the new leisure company. 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Anne Lloyd-Jones (member since 2017) 

Page 21



$bfs5i0zl.docx 7 

 
Anne lives and runs a farm tourism business in Tywyn and has represented Tywyn on 
Gwynedd Council since 1995 and prior to that was a member of Meirionnydd District 
Council for eight years. She was first elected as a member of Tywyn town Council in 
1985 and became the first Lady Mayor in 1991, and again in 2004, and was Chairman 
of Gwynedd Council in 2009. She is the former Chairman of Gwynedd Council’s 
Planning Committee and is a founder member of the management Board of Cartrefi 
Cymunedol Gwynedd. She was a member of Meirionnydd Community Health 
Council, and is the present Chairman of Tywyn and District Hospital Appeal Fund. 
 
She is a member and past Chairman of Ysgol Penybryn and a member on the 
Governing body of Ysgol Uwchradd Tywyn. 
 
Anne was Chairman of Mid Wales Tourism from 2001-2016, was a founder member 
and past President and Treasurer of the Tywyn Inner Wheel Club and has been the 
Treasurer of the local branch of the NSPCC since 1989. 
 
Anne is married to John and they have three daughters and twin granddaughters. 
 
 

 
 

 
The Monitoring Officer 

 
The Council’s Monitoring Officer, Iwan Evans, along with officers from the Legal 
Service and the Democratic Service support the Standards Committee in its work.  
The Monitoring Officer has a statutory role to ensure that the Council, its members 
and its officers act appropriately and lawfully. 

 
Contact Details 

 Iwan Evans, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer.  

E-mail:  IwanGDEvans@gwynedd.llyw.cymru  Tel: 01286 679015 

 Sion Huws, Senior Solicitor (Corporate).  

E-mail:  sionhuws@gwynedd.llyw.cymru  Tel: (01286) 679168    

 

Page 22

mailto:IwanGDEvans@gwynedd.llyw.cymru


$bfs5i0zl.docx 8 

THE COMMITTEE’S WORK DURING 2020-2021 
 
The Committee’s work over the year has included the following (the Committee’s full 
work programme can be seen in Appendix 1): 
 

Cases heard by the Standards Committee  
 
No  complaints that elected members had breached the Code of Conduct  were 
referred to the Committee during the year 
 
 

Other Complaints 
 
The Committee is also informed of those complaints not referred to it for decision.  
Summaries can be found in Appendix 2. 
 

Dispensations 
 
The Code of Conduct for Members provides that a councillor cannot participate in a 
discussion if he/she has a ‘prejudicial interest’.  However, a member has a right to 
apply to the Committee for permission to participate despite having this interest, i.e. 
dispensation.   
 
 No applications for dispensations were considered during the year. 

 
 
North Wales Standards Committee Forum  
 
The North Wales Standards Committee Forum gives representatives of all north 
Wales authorities' standards committees the opportunity to meet.  The purpose of 
the forum is to enable the area’s standards committees to discuss and share ideas, 
good practices and resources and also provide a joint opinion on a national level.  
The Chair and Vice—chair of the Committee attend the meetings. Ceredigion and 
Powys Standards Committees are by now also members of the Forum. 
 
The Forum did not meet during this year but meetings will resume in 202/21. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



$bfs5i0zl.docx 9 

Appendix 1  
 

THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE'S WORK PROGRAMME 2020-21 
 
 
 

 

9 November 2020 

 

 Approval of the Standards Committee’s Annual Report 2019/20 
 

 Receipt of an update on The Protocol For Holding Virtual Meetings 
 

 Receipt of a report on allegations against members 
  

 

 

 

22 February 2021 

 

 Undertook Self-Assessment and decidied on a Work Programme for the 
upcoming year 
 

 Consideration of the Public Services Ombudsman For Wales Consultation – 
New Draft Guidance On The Code Of Conduct For Members Of County And 
Town And Community Councils 

 

 Receipt of a report on allegations against members 
 

 

Page 24



Appendix 2 
 
The Committee was informed of the following decisions by the Ombudsman in relation to allegations that county and community and town 
councillors had breached the Code of Conduct: 
 

Allegation 
 

Decision 

Complaint no. 2019000952 
 An officer of aTown Council (“the Council”) complained that a 
member had written a disrespectful letter to a third party.  

 Following an investigation: 
 
The Ombudsman found that the majority of the comments made by 
the member were political in nature.  
 
However, the member’s comments to the third party recipient of the 
letter were considered to be disrespectful. Whilst the Ombudsman 
considered that those comments were suggestive of a breach of 
paragraph 4(b) of the Code, having taken into consideration the 
information provided by the recipient and the wider evidence 
available, he did not consider it would be proportionate or in the 
public interest for any further action to be taken.  
 
The Ombudsman did not consider that there was evidence to 
suggest that the content of the letter sent by the member was 
suggestive of a breach of paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Code.  
 

Complaint no. 202000026 
 
A complaint that a councillor had visited the complainant's property 
during the ‘Lockdown' to ask if this was his main residence. The 

The Ombudsman decided not to investigate. He was not persuaded, 
in the context of the Coronavirus pandemic, that any of the specific 
actions identified by the complainant amounted to a breach of the 
Code. Considerable public concern had been raised at the time both 

P
age 25



$bfs5i0zl.docx 1 

complainant felt that the member’s attitude was very aggressive and 
complained about his behaviour during the visit. 
 
 

locally and nationally about traveling to and occupying second 
homes. There had been well-publicised national and regional 
Government advice stipulating no unnecessary journeys to second 
homes were to be undertaken. 
 

Complaint no. 201907387 
 
A complaint that a community councillor failed to treat others with 
respect and made malicious and defamatory allegations against 
other council members. 
 

The Ombudsman decided not to investigate. He was of the opinion 
that the member's language and the criticism she was making fell 
into the category of political expression. She also made her criticisms 
of other members in the context of the need for members to act in 
accordance with the Code of Conduct and her view that local 
democracy was undermined  by what she perceived to be sub-
optimal behaviour. 
 

Complaint no. 20201141 
 
A complaint that a town councillor was responsible for the decision 
to withhold a grant to a local body by accusing it of acting illegally. 
The councillor had no legal qualifications. It was also alleged that he 
had provided the Clerk with a document in confidence without the 
permission of the Council in breach of the Code of Conduct which 
states that all members of the Council have the right to vote on any 
question at any meeting. It was claimed that he had breached the 
basic principles of the Code of Conduct by putting his personal 
agenda ahead of his responsibilities and duties to the town. 
 

The Ombudsman decided not to investigate. The complainant had 
provided no direct evidence to prove that the member had 
attempted to use his position improperly to the detriment of the 
local body concerned, or failed to make a decision objectively. There 
was no suggestion that the documents were confidential or that the 
transfer was inappropriate. 
 
 
 

Complaint nos. 202002320 and 202002705 
 

The Ombudsman decided not to investigate. Although the member 
had provided much information about his complaint, he had 

P
age 26



$bfs5i0zl.docx 2 

A complaint against a town councillor by a fellow councillor that he 
failed to show respect towards himself and his family and that he 
had been bullied the complainant. 
 

submitted no direct evidence that the councillor had breached the 
Code of Conduct 
 

 Complaint no. 202002837 
 
A complaint that a community councillor, during a Zoom council 
meeting, had breached the Code of Conduct by his behaviour 
towards the complainant as a member of the public, and towards 
another councillor. 
 

The Ombudsman not to investigate. The complainant had not 
submitted sufficient evidence to support the complaint. However, 
even if there was direct evidence to support the complaint, he was 
not persuaded that the matter would meet the two stage test. 
 
In relation to the behaviour towards the other member there is a 
clear distinction between robustly engaging in debate and engaging 
in personal attacks on individuals. He was not persuaded that the 
conduct was so excessive that it amounted to a personal attack 
which could amount to a breach of the Code of Conduct. 
 
In relation to the conduct towards the complainant, the Ombudsman 
did not condone the comments and considered such gestures 
discourteous, and reminded the Councillor to be mindful of his 
obligations under the Code of Conduct, and how such theatrics 
during public meetings could be construed by members of the public 
who he represents. However, even if there was direct evidence to 
support the complaint, he was not persuaded that this incident in 
isolation meet the Ombudsman's public interest test. 
 

 Complaint Nos.202005454 & 202005455 
 
 Complaint  by a town councillor against two fellow councillors that 
two payments, for gardening services, were made without being 

No investigation 
 

P
age 27



$bfs5i0zl.docx 3 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Member who is subject of the complaint  

Member of community council 6 

Member of Gwynedd Council 1 

Member of Gwynedd Council and community council  2 

Nature of the complainant  

Councillor  6 

Member of the public 2 

Officer 1 

Nature of the allegation  

General conduct 9 

Declaration of Interest 0 

Conduct & Declaration of Interest 0 

Outcome  

No Investigation 8 

approved by the Finance Committee or full Council and that the 
Councillors had colluded and enticed the Clerk to make these 
payments. 
 

It was not for the Ombudsman to determine whether or not 
payments met with Financial Regulations but, rather, whether there 
is any evidence suggestive of a breach of the Code.  
 
On the information provided the Ombudsman found no evidence to 
support the contentions made by the complainant. 
 

P
age 28



$bfs5i0zl.docx 4 

Investigation – No evidence of breaching the Code of Conduct  0 

Investigation  - no further steps required 1 

Investigation - referral to the Standards Committee 0 

Investigation - Referral to the Adjudication Panel for Wales 0 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 29



$bfs5i0zl.docx 5 

 
 
 

P
age 30



MEETING  Full Council 

DATE 8th July 2021  

TITLE Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/21 

PURPOSE To approve and adopt Gwynedd Council's 2020/21 
Performance Report as a clear, balanced and accurate picture 
of the Council's performance during the period in question. 

CABINET 
MEMBER 

Cllr Dyfrig Siencyn 

CONTACT 
OFFICER 

Dewi W. Jones, The Council's Business Support Service 
Manager  

 

1 Introduction 
  

1.1 The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 has placed a duty on local 
authorities to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement and to be 
accountable for it. As a Council, we have met this requirement by publishing a 
Plan that outlines how we will act (Gwynedd Council Plan 2018-23), and then 
be accountable for progress against this plan by publishing an Annual 
Performance Report.  
 

1.2 Local authorities are required to publish an assessment of their performance 
(the Performance Report) during any financial year by 31 October of the 
following financial year. In accordance with the requirements, the Council also 
needs to ensure that the content of the report provides an accurate, balanced 
and clear picture of the Council’s performance. 
 

1.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This will be the Council’s last Annual Performance Report under the 
requirements of this measure. In future, we will be reporting in line with the new 
Performance and Governance Guidance within the Local Government and 
Elections (Wales) Act 2021. Amongst other things, we will be required to 
produce a self-assessment of our performance and to demonstrate how we will 
use the outcomes to improve performance. There will also be a duty for us to 
consult on our performance at least once a year with relevant stakeholders. 
We will, over the coming months, consider the most appropriate way to address 
these additional duties.   
 

1.4 In order to meet the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations Act, 
we are expected to report on our contribution to the principles of the Act and 
specifically the well-being objectives that we have adopted. Consequently, it 
can be seen that the well-being objectives, to which the Departments' day-to-
day work and projects contribute, have been highlighted in the report. 

 
  

2 Reasons for Recommending the Decision 
  

2.1 The Council Cabinet discussed the Gwynedd Council Performance Report 
2020/21, seen in Appendix 1, at its meeting on 15th June 2020, and 
recommended that the Council adopts the report. 
 

  

Page 31

Agenda Item 8



3 Relevant Considerations 
  

3.1 The Gwynedd Council Performance Report 2019/20 has been structured in 
order to reflect the format of the Gwynedd Council Plan 2018-2023. The first 
part focuses on the performance of the Council Plan's Improvement Priorities 
projects and the second part looks at our day-to-day work in each department. 

3.2 Additionally, at the beginning of this year’s report we have included an extra 
chapter with the intention of summarising and conveying the council’s main 
additional work programmes during 2020/21 because of the need to respond 
to the Covid-19 crisis. The chapter is also an opportunity to mention the general 
adaptations that have faced all departments, e.g. the need to establish virtual 
working arrangements.  

3.3 Furthermore, the departmental reports add to that by outlining the effect of the 
Covid-19 crisis specifically on their work and performance.  

3.4 
 
 
 

The Cabinet Members have not presented individual performance reports 
during the year in accordance with the usual arrangements. Therefore, the 
report has been prepared based on the departments’ end of year performance 
reports. These reports have been presented for discussion at performance 
challenging meeting with the relevant Cabinet Members and representation of 
scrutiny committees.  
 

3.3 The main measures have been included within the body of the report, rather 
than in a separate table of measures, in order to be a part of conveying the 
story. 

  

4 Next steps and timetable 
  

4.1 Following the adoption of Gwynedd Council Performance Report 2020/21 by 
the Council, we will make arrangements to inform the public and partners about 
the report by communicating the report and the main successes in various 
ways. 
 

  

5 

5.1 

Recommendation 

The Council is requested to approve and adopt the report as an accurate, 
balanced and clear reflection of the Council's performance in 2020/21.   

 
  

6 Views of the Statutory Officers 
  

 The Monitoring Officer 
 
Reporting on the performance and outcomes of the Gwynedd Council Plan is 
part of an appropriate governance regime. It also meets the Council’s statutory 
duties to report annually on performance under the Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2009, and achievements against the Wellbeing Objectives as noted 
in the report. Nevertheless, it is appropriate to note that this regime has 
changed for 2021/22 with new arrangements for reporting and consulting on 
performance coming into force under the Local Government and Elections 
(Wales) Act 2021. 

Page 32



 
 The Head of Finance Department 

 

I have worked with the author to prepare the financial figures and aspects 
included in the Performance Report and its appendices, and I confirm the 
relevant content’s accuracy (the financial figures are consistent with 2020/21 
accounts). Despite the pandemic and its restrictions, the Council have 
achieved much during 2020/21 including rectifying the situation regarding 
many historical savings plans, finishing the year in a robust financial situation. 
This is following the Council’s success to claim grants from the Government to 
ensure the continuation of vital services (a total sum of over £27m was claimed 
for the Council, Gwynedd schools, and Byw’n Iach) and assisting the county’s 
economy (over £106m of support grants to local businesses were distributed).   

 

7 Appendices 

  
Appendix 1 – Gwynedd Council Annual Report 2020/21 

 

Page 33



Gwynedd Council
Annual Performance 
Report
2020/2021

Page 34



Graphics “designed by Freepik”

Contents

Page
Gwynedd Council Leader’s Foreword 3

Introduction 4

Impact of Covid-19 7

Our Expenditure 11

Part 1 – Improvement Priorities 12

Part 2 – Departmental Reports 55
Education 56
Adults, Health and Wellbeing 61
Children and Supporting Families 68
Economy and Community 72
Highways and Municipal 77
Housing and Property 83
Environment 88
Ymgynghoriaeth Gwynedd Consultancy 93
Finance and Information Technology 96
Corporate Support 102
Legal Services 107

If you would like to receive this document in a different language or format please 
phone 01766 771000 or email equality@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

If you would like further information about this report please contact the Council 
Business Support Service on 01766 771000 or councilplan@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Page 35

mailto:equality%40gwynedd.llyw.cymru?subject=
mailto:councilplan%40gwynedd.llyw.cymru?subject=


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 3

Foreword of the Leader of Gwynedd Council

I hope that we will never see a year like 2020/21 ever again. Yes, that is a huge statement; however, it 
was a year of pain and bereavement for a number of families and individuals who suffered because of 
Covid-19. Please accept my sympathy and that of all my fellow members and Gwynedd Council staff.

It is impossible not to refer to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the residents of Gwynedd 
and on our response as a Council to the situation when presenting this report on Gwynedd Council’s 
performance during 2020/21. I sincerely thank each and every one of the Council staff members who 
went that extra mile in order to keep the residents of Gwynedd safe, and who continue to do so. The 
staff of our homes and care services were on the front line in the battle against the virus, and we owe 
them a huge debt of gratitude, as well as everyone else who continued to maintain public posts, such 
as teachers, waste services officers and crematorium staff.

Quietly behind the front line services, an army of other officers were redeployed temporarily from 
their usual jobs to undertake essential work such as establishing the Test, Trace and Protect Service, 
sourcing and distributing PPE, and running an information and support service for the public, 
particularly for those who were shielding or vulnerable. All of this was work that was prioritised by us as 
a Council in an attempt to do our best for the people of Gwynedd, and if we had to slow down work on 
some other plans in order to achieve that, then so be it. 

As a Council, we also owe a huge debt of gratitude to all the other agencies, and to the people 
of Gwynedd themselves, for working in partnership with us throughout the effort to respond to 
the pandemic. Despite the strong existing partnerships, this report is full of examples of slick and 
successful collaboration between the Council and partners old and new, from the Health Board to 
voluntary community groups. We have to continue to sustain this strong will for collaboration in the 
future.

By reading this report in its entirety, I hope that you can gain an understanding of the very varied nature 
of Gwynedd Council’s work. It is a matter of great pride that we not only continued to sustain normal 
services in the face of the pandemic, but that we also managed to start, or complete, a number of 
other influential projects. We have adopted a Housing Action Plan, which includes over 30 specific 
plans that will lead to a £77 million investment in the housing field in Gwynedd over the next six years. 
The new Ysgol y Garnedd building was opened in Bangor, which will give the best opportunities for 
generations of children in the city. A new dementia unit was completed in Llan Ffestiniog, and its 
doors will be opening soon. In the middle of the challenging second wave of Covid-19 in January 
2021, Care Inspectorate Wales carried out an inspection of adults and children services and presented 
very positive feedback. It is also excellent to be able to say that no waste from the county is directly 
disposed of through landfill any more.  

Therefore, sharing this report is a matter of great pride for me, as it collectively bears witness that 
2020/21 was not only a difficult and challenging year, but also a year of achievement, despite the 
obstacles we faced. 

Councillor Dyfrig Siencyn,
Leader of Gwynedd Council.

Page 36

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/214

Introduction

The Council published its ‘Gwynedd Council Plan for 2018-2023’ in March 2018, in which our 
ambition and priorities were set for the five years in question. We have reviewed the Plan 
every year since then in order to keep it current and therefore, this report illustrates how we 
proceeded to realise the ambition of the ‘Gwynedd Council Plan 2018/2023: 2020/21 Review’. It 
also includes information about the rest of the Council’s ‘day-to-day’ work and our expenditure 
for the year.

Part 1 of this report provides an update on our performance per Improvement Priority, namely 
the fields that required particular attention from us. Part 2 describes the rest of our work, and 
there are individual chapters for each Council department. Within the departmental reports, we 
also update the work on Local Priorities that were identified by elected members.

It is clear that the main impact on the work of Gwynedd Council during 2020/21, as every other 
local authority, was the Covid-19 pandemic. We detail our response to the pandemic in the 
‘Impact of Covid-19’ chapter, which follows this introduction. 

As we have reported in the past, our financial position as a Council has changed considerably 
in recent years and it will continue to set us a considerable challenge as we plan our services 
for the future. Of course, 2020/21 was such an extraordinary year compared to all others with 
additional expenditure falling on the Council that we had not been able to plan for in advance. 
However, we have still had to realise our savings programme due to grant cuts from Welsh 
Government.  90% of the savings schemes, a total value of £31 million between 2015/16 and 
the end of 2020/21, have been realised. 

Page 37



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 5

This is an end of financial year report, but the 
task of measuring the success of our work, 
and challenging our own performance, 
happens throughout the year. The challenges 
of responding to new Covid-19 related tasks 
and maintaining our day-to-day work over 
the past year led to a different approach in 
2020/21.  

Leading on from internal progress updates, 
end of year departmental performance 
challenge meetings were held, where the 
Cabinet Member, with the support of the 
Chief Executive or the Corporate Director, 
reviews the progress of the departments’ 
Improvement Priorities projects and their day-
to-day work. Furthermore, members of the 
relevant Scrutiny Committee attended so that 
they can report the achievements to the rest 
of the members. 

This end of year Annual Performance Report 
is based on the balanced findings of these 
meetings, along with any financial information. 
The report is presented to the Cabinet and the 
Full Council for approval.

With the introduction of the Well-being of 
Future Generations Act (2015) (the Act) 
designated public bodies are required to work 
individually and collectively to improve well-
being in Wales. 

In line with the requirements of the Act, the 
Council adopted seven Well-being Aims 
for 2018/19, which contribute to the seven 
national well-being aims, and these have 
been and remain up-to-date. The objectives 
are based on the well-being assessment 
carried out by the Gwynedd and Anglesey 
Public Services Board and engagement 
sessions held when developing the Plan. 

The need to act in accordance with the five 
sustainable development principles has also 
been noted, through: 

• considering the long-term
• prevention

• integrated working
• working collaboratively 
• and being inclusive of people of all ages.

We are expected to report on our contribution 
to the principles of the Act, and information 
about many of these activities can be 
found in the body of the report. In addition, 
the Wellbeing Objectives, to which each 
individual project and the Departments’ day-
to-day work contributes, are noted at the end 
of each chapter.

We have agreed that the best way to embed 
the responsibility for acting in accordance with 
the five sustainable development principles 
is for the Department Management Teams to 
pay attention to the principles when forward-
planning.   There is some evidence to suggest 
that this does happen, but the need to assess 
whether this method is successful has been 
recognised. We will continue to look at how 
the five ways of working can be embedded 
within the Departments.  

Page 38

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/216

Gwynedd Council Well-being 
Objectives

National Well-being Goals

We will ensure that the residents of 
Gwynedd:

P
ro

sp
er

ou
s

R
es

ili
en

t

H
ea

lt
h

ie
r

E
q

u
al

C
oh

es
iv

e 
C

om
m

u
n

it
ie

s

A
 v

ib
ra

n
t 

cu
lt

u
re

 w
h

er
e 

th
e 

W
el

sh
 

la
n

g
u

ag
e 

is
 t

h
ri

vi
n

g

G
lo

b
al

ly
 re

sp
on

si
b

le

Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives

Live in quality homes within their 
communities

Earn a sufficient salary to be able to 
support themselves and their families

Receive education of the highest 
quality which will enable them to do 
what they want to do

Live with dignity and independently 
for as long as possible

Live in a naturally Welsh society 

Take advantage of the beauty of the 
County’s natural environment.

Page 39



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 7

On 23 March 2020, the British Prime Minister, Boris Johnson, announced that the United 
Kingdom would be going into Lockdown with immediate effect with stringent restrictions 
on people’s rights to leave their homes. The seriousness of the health crisis had become 
apparent, and the public, organisations and businesses had to accept and adapt to a totally 
different life literally overnight.

At the time, the Council employed over 6,200 staff across all its services, and there was a need 
to continue providing essential ‘front-line’ services for Gwynedd residents. It was not an option 
for the Council not to provide these essential services, such as care for vulnerable adults 
and children, or waste collection. Welsh Government and Public Health Wales issued regular 
instructions and regulations on living and working in Wales during this period. As a Council, we 
responded to these instructions by planning how to continue to provide services and support 
while keeping residents and staff safe at the same time. 

On Friday, 20 March, the county’s schools closed and the curriculum was delayed. At the time, 
nobody knew that the majority of learners would not be returning to the classroom until mid-
July. 62 of our schools were re-purposed between 23 March and 17 July to provide care for at 
least one day between Monday and Friday to vulnerable children and children of key workers. 
The rest of the year was a period of adapting education provision, often at short notice, in 
response to Welsh Government guidelines.

Much more details about the education provision and well-being support for Gwynedd 
children and young people can be found in the Education Department’s chapter in part 2 of 
this report, but it is fair to say that provision was revolutionised during 2020/21.

Of course, one of the most obvious fields to be affected by the crisis as we still sought to care 
for our most vulnerable residents was the care field. People over 70 years old were advised 
to be particularly cautious and to avoid mixing before the official Lockdown period came into 
force. Likewise, it was advised that ‘non-essential’ visits to care homes should not continue. 

Therefore, it should be noted that the work of responding to the pandemic in this field did 
not commence on 23 March, with infection control procedures already implemented in care 
homes and the community, as well as efforts to ensure that staff and vulnerable residents were 
protected. We had been distributing PPE stock received from the Government to the Council’s 
internal care services as well as independent care services in the county, to ensure that they 
had proper equipment to be able to deal with any Covid-19 cases that would arise. However, 
from this date forward, the process of creating new ways of working sped up rapidly. 

A number of officers from the Adults, Health and Well-being Department focussed their efforts 
completely on maintaining very regular contact with our internal services and our independent 
care providers in order to ensure appropriate support for them, and ensuring that they were 

The main impacts of the Covid-19 crisis on 
Gwynedd Council services

Page 40

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/218

aware of the latest Government and Public Health Wales guidance. They also kept a record 
of the number of Covid-19 cases, the need for tests for staff and clients, PPE equipment stock 
and ensured appropriate support accordingly. They were also responsible for ensuring suitable 
contact when required between providers and our health and safety and environmental health 
services. 

In the early days of the crisis, until it was possible for members of the public to arrange their 
own Covid-19 test, we were responsible for administrating the referral pathway, which enabled 
front-line staff in the care field to have a test should they display symptoms. The department 
was also supporting the Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board with the regular testing 
system in care homes by providing support to distribute and collect tests. Care homes in the 
county were completely committed as they implemented procedures to ensure that regular 
testing could be undertaken to protect residents. This was a substantial demand on them in 
terms of time and training, and it meant that staff had to attend work on their days off. 

Since December 2020, we have been responsible for ordering and distributing LFD tests 
(tests where individuals undertake the test themselves) for all of the county’s care providers to 
ensure that front-line staff in the field have a sufficient supply to be able to test twice a week. 
Throughout the year, the department’s officers have been pursuing individual matters relating 
to test results, and have kept in regular contact with key partners such as the Health Board 
and Welsh Government in order to identify and solve weaknesses in the system to ensure 
arrangements that are as convenient as possible. 

Since the end of 2020, Council staff also offered organisational support to the Health Board and 
GPs as they rolled out the vaccination programme.  We coordinated lists of front-line staff who 
needed the vaccine as a priority and facilitated communication between them and front-line 
staff as required. Two Byw’n Iach leisure centres were used by GPs as temporary vaccination 
centres, and Council staff have been working on a temporary basis to provide assistance at the 
Health Board’s main vaccination centre in Bangor. 

As PPE guidelines strengthened and as we restored more and more services, the need for 
PPE equipment across Council departments became more prominent - e.g. in schools, in the 
crematorium and in a number of other ‘face-to-face’ services. Initial arrangements that were 
implemented in the care field were built upon in order to create a more mature and reliable 
arrangement on a corporate level, which included: providing Health and Safety guidance on 
the need for PPE in different situations, a system to monitor stock levels across locations,  and 
a procedure for ordering PPE, running a PPE storage area and collecting and distributing the 
equipment. This work has grown as we see more services being restored and there are no 
guidelines to suggest that PPE will not be required any time soon and, therefore, this system 
remains operational, with the likelihood that an additional element of distributing Covid-19 
home testing kits to staff across the Council will also be added. Staff from departments such 
as Corporate Support, Adults, Health and Well-being, Housing and Property and Highways and 
Municipal have all been involved with the work of bringing this system together and we are 
very proud of their success in distributing thousands of items each week across the county. 

On a broader level, it must also be borne in mind that the first few weeks of the initial 
Lockdown was a concerning and confusing period for many Gwynedd residents, especially 
those who had been advised to shield or those who could not leave their homes. This led to 
a massive campaign to bring providers and volunteers in the community together to support 
the most vulnerable and the Council coordinated a lot of this work. Partnerships with a number 

Page 41



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 9

of other organisations such as Anglesey Council, the Housing Associations, Citizens’ Advice 
Bureau and Mantell Gwynedd were strengthened and a number of Council staff were relocated 
from their usual posts to be part of the Community Resilience work.  

Between April and September, a number of Council staff relocated from their usual posts to 
offer advice and information over the telephone to Gwynedd residents as part of the Covid-19 
Support Team. The team mainly focussed on contacting individuals who had been advised to 
shield to ensure they had the necessary support to cope with a period where they could not 
leave their homes. Others organised and distributed food packages for vulnerable residents 
and children; 4,781 people who were self-isolating were contacted and it was arranged to 
distribute the Government’s food packages to them. Jointly with Menter Môn, Anglesey 
Council, the Dylan’s company and housing associations, a new food distributing scheme called 
‘Neges’ was established. Staff from many different departments also packaged surplus food in 
schools and distributed it to the Food Banks, and information on where to go in order to obtain 
essential items such as food and medicine was regularly updated on the Council website and 
via the Covid-19 Support Team phone-line.  

The Test, Trace and Protect Service, under the leadership of the Environment Department, 
was established in May 2020 and came into operation on 1 June 2020.  The purpose of the 
service is to reduce the spread across our communities by supporting people who have 
been infected or who have been in contact with a positive case to isolate in accordance 
with guidelines, to support people with symptoms to get access to a Covid-19 test and 
work with specialist partners to control risks for people who are isolating together with 
wider communities and businesses. Between June 2020 and 31 March 2021, the service has 
responded to 11,315 Covid-19 cases in Gwynedd (with the exception of hospital patients). 

We have also undertaken the substantial work on behalf of other Welsh local authorities, with 
the model enabling us to be more resilient across Wales to reduce the spread and ensure the 
best use of public funding.

This work was a high priority and, therefore, 7 staff members from different Council 
departments were relocated, as well as five ‘bank’ staff members, and 90 new staff were 
employed to work in the team. Now, at the start of 2021/22, the service continues to employ 
102 employees.

In order to offer financial support to those instructed to self-isolate by the Contact Tracing 
Service, the Council’s Finance Department administrated the Self-Isolation Payment Scheme 
on behalf of Welsh Government. They processed 713 payment applications between the 
scheme start date on 16 November 2020 and the end of March 2021. 

The Environment Department has also had a lead role in terms of protecting people and 
coordinating preparations for reopening, by dealing with enforcement cases where required. 
Covid-19 Community Engagement Officers were also appointed by the Environment 
Department to provide guidance on latest Covid-19 guidelines to organisations, businesses 
and individuals in Gwynedd while supporting them to comply, in the hope of avoiding 
enforcement situations. In a situation where we have been unsuccessful in contacting people 
over the phone, these officers have also been supporting the Test, Trace, and Protect Service 
to contact positive cases or people who have been in contact with a positive case. The role of 
these officers is to engage and educate and not to enforce.

Page 42

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2110

Gwynedd businesses, both large and small and across all sectors, have suffered hardship and 
obvious losses during 2020/21.  Departments across the Council joined forces to support local 
businesses by protecting jobs and livelihoods of Gwynedd residents.  A specific task-force was 
established to lead the work with departments such as Finance, Environment and Corporate 
Support playing a prominent part as well as the Economy and Community Department. The 
latest information and advice was shared with over 4,300 local businesses and enterprises via 
a series of information bulletins, and this work continues to 2021/22 as restrictions are lifted.

The COVID-19 crisis had a significant financial impact, with a combination of additional costs 
and loss of income worth over £20 million to the Council in 2020/21. There was additional 
spending on obvious things such as PPE, which had not been planned for by the Council, but 
we have been able to reclaim this expenditure from Welsh Government.

Welsh Government introduced five different grant schemes during the year in order to support 
businesses, and the Council processed 20,000 payments for a total of £106m for businesses in 
Gwynedd. 

In terms of working arrangements of Council staff not working on the front-line who were 
prioritised, the majority have been accomplishing their work from home since March 2020, or 
through a combination of being home and out in the community.

Staff were ready to adapt to their new working environments quickly and they received 
information technology (IT) support as required. Over 900 new laptops were provided, 
excluding school provision, and additional work was undertaken on the infrastructure in order 
to protect from cyber-attacks and to strengthen internet connections. Customer contact 
services were maintained over the phone and the web throughout the year as we adapted and 
upgraded our use of technology, and new on-line self-service systems were developed for 
our residents, such as applying for business grants or booking an appointment in a recycling 
centre.

The IT network was also strengthened in all our schools, and laptops, iPads or internet 
connections were provided to learners who did not have internet access. This was essential in 
order for them to be able to continue with their education. 

Like most workplaces, Council staff and members held most of their meetings virtually 
throughout 2020/21, and the translation team managed to adapt very quickly in order to be 
able to ensure simultaneous translation provision in virtual meetings. Although there was 
some delay in holding Council committee meetings as we sought to establish arrangements 
to hold virtual meetings and ensure that it was available bilingually with secure access, we 
succeeded to establish procedures, a protocol and train members very early on with virtual 
meetings of the Cabinet being held from April 2020 onwards. Over the coming months, other 
Council committee meetings were restored in the same manner in order of priority. In terms 
of the public’s ability to exercise their rights to follow the members’ public discussions, we 
succeeded to start recording meetings and publish them within approximately 24 hours of 
the meeting very early on in the process, but live webcasting proved to be more challenging 
when seeking to ensure bilingual provision. However, we managed to webcast the Cabinet 
meeting live from November 2020 onwards, and the Full Council meeting from December 
2020 onwards. We will continue to develop in this field in order to further extend the provision 
in future. 

Page 43



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 11

Our Expenditure

Page 44

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2112

Part 1
Improvement Priorities
Eight Improvement Priorities have been identified within 
the Gwynedd Council Plan 2018-2023. These are the key 
fields within which we believe we need to take action 
in order to make a positive difference to the lives of the 
people of Gwynedd.

Under the 8 Improvement Priorities below, a description 
is provided of the projects which will contribute towards 
realising the ambition that the Improvement Priorities 
describe. On the following pages, a report is provided 
on the progress of those projects during 2020/21 against 
what we said we would do in the Gwynedd Council Plan: 
2020/21 Review. 

Further information on what we will do in the future in 
the Gwynedd Council Plan 2018-2023 can be obtained by 
visiting www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/councilplan 

Page 45

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/councilplan


North Wales Growth Deal Improvement Priority 1    
What did we promise to do?

A lack of growth is a weakness in the economy of the whole of north Wales, and particularly 
in the north-west. In an attempt to overturn the situation, the six counties in north Wales, 
and other stakeholders such as education establishments in the region and the private 
sector, came together to establish the North Wales Economic Ambition Board (NWEAB). 

The Board’s main plan is the ‘North Wales Growth Bid’ and in November 2019 an initial 
agreement was signed between the Ambition Board, the Welsh Government and UK 
Government which are preparing the realisation of the Growth Bid. The deal will lead to an 
investment of £1.1bn in the north Wales region over the next fifteen years and will create up 
to 4,000 jobs across north Wales.
 
As a member of the Ambition Board, our aim as a Council is to ensure that the people and 
businesses of Gwynedd maximise the benefits from this financial investment, especially at a 
time when there will be a need to respond to the side-effects of Brexit. 
 
In future, we will continue to contribute to the Ambition Board’s work programme, including 
improving the availability of fast broadband, developing the Trawsfynydd Power Station 
site, and developing a Rural Innovation Centre in Glynllifon. We will also contribute to the 
development of the North Wales Economic Framework, which is being prepared by Welsh 
Government to identify the main regional investment programmes in the future.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

Over the last year a Regional Programme Office team has been set up with the support 
of Gwynedd Council as the Host Authority. Work has been done to develop the details 
of a package of regional projects to be submitted as part of the North Wales Growth Bid, 
including:

• A Digital Programme to upgrade infrastructure across Gwynedd
• Glynllifon Rural Economy Hub
• Smart Local Energy Network Project for communities
• Developing the Trawsfynydd Power Station Site
• Developing business premises at Parc Bryn Cegin, Bangor

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 13

Improvement Priority 1

Improve the conditions to create a viable and prosperous economy whilst 
aiming towards securing more jobs which offer good salaries.

Page 46

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


In 2020, the Council scrutinised and approved the agreement between NWEAB, the British 
Government and the Welsh Government for £240m of investment in the north Wales 
economy. The detailed business cases for the projects are in the process of being prepared 
with a view to begin implementing the first projects in 2022.

Over the last year preparatory work has also begun to review the growth vision for north 
Wales, however, Covid-19 has affected the timetable for developing the new Development 
Framework. An analysis was prepared of the impact of Covid-19 on North Wales businesses 
and on employment in the region and a series of measures to be prioritised in future in light 
of the pandemic was agreed with the Government.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2114 Page 47



Keeping the Benefit Local Improvement Priority 1
What did we promise to do?

The Council is responsible for procuring, or purchasing, a number of goods and services 
and is eager to try to ensure that local businesses can compete and win these contracts in 
order to ensure that as much of the Council’s expenditure as possible remains local. We have 
already introduced new arrangements to attempt to purchase goods and services in more 
innovative and efficient ways, and steps were taken to facilitate the ability of businesses to 
compete for contracts.  

In future, we will engage with local businesses in order to assess what would make 
procurement opportunities more attractive to them and what further support they need. We 
will also review our procurement arrangements in order to ensure that the balance between 
keeping the benefit local and getting value for money is appropriate.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

In terms of revenue spending, there was an increase in local spending to £78m (63% of all 
revenue spending) compared with £71m (60% of all revenue spending) the previous year.    

Within that performance, there were major variations in the spending headings with some 
fields spending less and others spending more. The greatest variations were seen in the 
following fields:
 
• Costs with local Adults and Children Care providers increased by £8m. 
• Allocation of Grant Funding to local businesses increased by £4m.  
• Civil engineering expenditure increased by £1m.

In terms of capital spending, there was a reduction in local spending to £3.6m (23% of all 
capital spending) in 2020/21 compared with £5.1m (33% of all capital spending) the previous 
year. This is due to the impact of working within Covid-19 restrictions mainly where it was not 
possible to carry out work on our roads. Also, new schools were built such as Ysgol y Garnedd 
and Ysgol y Faenol where contractors from outside Gwynedd were appointed to deliver the 
schemes. 

We have continued with the work of raising awareness and understanding among businesses 
of the Council’s procurement procedures and to find other ways of supporting them further to 
deliver the services we need.  

We have also established a project to include aspects of local social benefits within the 
process of assessing contract bids. The current procedure looks at price and quality alone 
and adding this new element could enable us to calculate the broader value of implementing 
contracts awarded by the Council. 

Well-being Objectives:
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 15Page 48

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Create High Value Jobs
(£26,500 + salary)

Improvement Priority 1   

What did we promise to do?

Salaries in Gwynedd are among the lowest anywhere in Britain.  Weekly pay in the county was the 
lowest in Wales in 2019 (£459 on average) and the low pay at its worst in our rural communities 
(£423). Low salaries will inevitably lead to higher levels of poverty and rural depopulation, which 
in turn affects our communities, the future of our young people, and the Welsh language as a 
healthy community language. 
 
The Creating High Value Jobs project has already taken steps to improve the situation, ensuring 
European funding to realise a plan to develop space for businesses to locate at Snowdonia 
Aerospace Centre in Llanbedr, and a plan to increase the number of school pupils who study the 
subjects desired by businesses within well-paid sectors. 

In future, we will continue with the above-mentioned schemes, and we will also lead on other 
schemes such as developing a scheme by the North Wales Economic Ambition Board to prepare 
the Trawsfynydd Power Station site in order to attract investment to generate low-carbon energy.  
Such schemes will ensure the continuation of high-value local jobs.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

After years of trying to influence the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority confirmation was 
received in 2020 that the work to decommission the Trawsfynydd Power Station will continue 
safeguarding employment on the site for years to come.

An investment of £20m was secured through the North Wales Economic Ambition Board 
Growth Bid to develop the Trawsfynydd site for future employment use and Welsh 
Government has agreed to set up a new company as a vehicle to drive the development. 

The preparatory work to upgrade Llanbedr Air Field has commenced along with preparations 
to create a new access road to the site. Discussions are continuing with companies that have 
expressed an interest in locating on the site to benefit from the resources and gain access to 
the air zone. The British Government has declared the site as one of its aerospace launching 
sites and the relevant regulatory arrangements are being put in place.

Preparing young people to benefit from the work opportunities is key and through the STEM 
scheme, 140 young people received opportunities and experiences involving science and 
technology during 2020 despite the restrictions related to the pandemic. Among other things, 
a webinar was held to celebrate local women who are engineers or scientists, a workshop 
was held to help local young people to study to become medics and a series of sessions to 
generate interest in related subjects with pupils from 8 of Gwynedd’s secondary schools. 

The creative industries have also been identified as a sector that includes high value jobs 
and the Council is coordinating the Gogledd Greadigol network to collaborate with the sector 
to hold, create and recruit jobs. The network has nearly 800 followers on social media. The 
network was also very active in representing the voice of the creative sector in response to 
the Covid-19 crisis.

Well-being Objectives:

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2116 Page 49

https://stemgogledd.cymru/
https://stemgogledd.cymru/


Arloesi Gwynedd Wledig Improvement Priority 1   
What did we promise to do?

The nature of our rural economy means that 79% of Gwynedd businesses do not employ 
more than one person and there are too many jobs within sectors which don’t pay well. This 
leads to threats in terms of the sustainability of our rural communities. 

Ensuring digital connectivity for our rural communities, and that the workforce and rural 
businesses have the skills to take advantage of them are matters that have already received 
attention.  We have held a pilot scheme to provide public WiFi in eight rural towns, and to 
increase access to computer equipment.  We are also a part of the ARFOR programme, a 
Welsh Government investment to create more and better jobs in areas in west Wales where a 
high percentage of the population speaks Welsh.  

In the future, we will continue to act as part of the ARFOR programme, to extend the digital 
provision in communities and will work with Grŵp Llandrillo Menai and the private sector to 
establish a rural innovation hub in Glynllifon, giving particular attention to the food and drink 
sector.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

Despite the challenges of 2020/21, the scheme has achieved much during the year.
The ARFOR programme was coordinated across four counties leading to joint activities 
such as Bwrlwm ARFOR which encourages businesses and their customers to appreciate 
the Welsh language. Locally, grants were offered for businesses to grow including; the 
development of new industrial units in Nefyn, supporting a lady from Bala to return to the 
area to start a business selling Welsh goods and helping a local meats business to expand 
their offer. The grants will lead to the creation of 100 jobs locally.

ARFOR in Gwynedd has also helped to establish the Ffiws centre in a vacant shop in 
Porthmadog to give local businesses the opportunity to learn how to use modern equipment 
such as 3D printers or a computer operated wood cutting machine. After gaining experience 
of using the equipment in Ffiws, one example of the venture’s success is that a local business 
selling bee keeping equipment has invested in new equipment and has moved to an 
industrial unit to enable the business to grow further.

The scheme has also secured funding to build upon Ffiws’ work by supporting communities 
to reduce waste, promote local supply chains and create opportunities for Gwynedd 
businesses. 

Across Gwynedd and Anglesey ARFOR has also addressed the challenge of young people 
leaving the area under the Llwyddo’n Lleol 2050 banner. The project supports young people 
to venture, to start a business and to convey what’s good about our area to their peers.
Throughout the year, the LEADER programme in Gwynedd has also continued to deliver 
despite the circumstances. It has held a range of activities to promote innovation; amongst 
them, there is a scheme that trials the provision of electric cars for community use. The 
cars have been used extensively during the pandemic and have helped to deliver meals to 
vulnerable members of society and offer help to the residents of isolated communities to 
attend medical appointments as public transport was less available.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 17Page 50

https://bwrlwmarfor.360.cymru/
https://bwrlwmarfor.360.cymru/
https://www.arloesigwyneddwledig.cymru/prosiectau/ffiws/
https://www.facebook.com/Llwyddon-Lleol-2050-111221147002339/?ref=page_internal
http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


LEADER has supported local businesses to begin trading on-line; to use technology to 
measure the use of town centres in Gwynedd to see the impact of Covid-19 restrictions 
and to contribute to a selection of schemes to support communities during lockdown, for 
example through food delivery schemes.

The scheme has also continued with efforts to ensure that good broadband is available to 
everyone in Gwynedd by supporting the efforts of individual communities such as Croesor, 
Pistyll and Dyffryn Ardudwy to improve broadband availability.

Well-being Objectives:
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want to do.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2118 Page 51



Promotion of Town Centres Improvement Priority 1   
What did we promise to do?

Lively town centres are able to make substantial contributions to the economic and social 
success of local areas. 

The “high streets” of a number of Gwynedd towns need support to ensure that they thrive by 
maintaining and creating work and providing a range of goods and services that residents 
and visitors need. 

We have already been collaborating with businesses in Bangor and Caernarfon to promote 
the Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) and to attract resources from Welsh Government’s 
Regional Regeneration Programme.  We successfully established a loans programme for 
the upgrading of redundant buildings in the areas of Caernarfon, Bangor, Bethesda and 
Penygroes, and we are collaborating with partners in Harlech to establish a town centre 
regeneration programme there also. 
 
In future, we will continue with the above-mentioned work, and will prepare plans for 
13 catchment areas in Gwynedd, based on what matters to the residents within these 
communities.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

Bangor city centre has been identified as a regional priority within Welsh Government’s 
Targeted Regeneration Investment Programme and is therefore eligible to receive capital 
grants. As part of the Bangor City Centre Regeneration Scheme, it succeeded to:

• support 9 applications worth £750,000 in grant funding to improve and renovate vacant 
property on the High Street.

• secure £1.2m for Cwmni Fran Wen’s scheme, Y Nyth, to develop a new creative centre at 
St Mary’s Church.

• secure revenue funding of £20,000 and prepare an initial report to consider potential 
locations to develop a new Health and Well-being Centre in the city centre.

• lead on the Bangor Partnership and collaborate with a range of partners on a cross-
section of schemes within the city such as the green infrastructure scheme, a centre for 
the homeless, the Bangor Good Food scheme and the Hirael Bay infrastructure scheme.

The Economy and Community Department was successful in securing a comprehensive 
loans package worth £1.1m that will target town centres across the county. The department 
will collaborate with the Housing and Property Department to bring commercial and 
residential property in town centres back to use through the Council’s schemes and also by 
supporting third party schemes.

The department worked with businesses in Bangor and Caernarfon to support the Business 
Improvement Areas. A formal vote was held among businesses and property owners during

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 19

Image: Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historic Monuments of Wales 

Page 52

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


March 2021 and it was resolved to continue with the Business Improvement Areas for the next 
five years.

In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, arrangements were established in 20 towns and 
centres across Gwynedd to implement short term safety measures and engage with Town 
and Community Councils and local business groups. In addition, we succeeded to:

• attract a grant of £365,000 from the Welsh Government’s capital fund to implement a 
package of projects to promote town centres. The package includes developing digital 
infrastructure within town centres along with improvements to make commercial areas 
more attractive. Developing the digital infrastructure will enable the towns to provide 
community wi-fi and gather data about the use of our town centres and trial the innovative 
use of available technologies

• secure a package of £135,000 from the Welsh Government’s regeneration capital fund to 
implement small-scale improvements in town centres and to administrate the Welcoming 
the Customer Safely Fund. 56 businesses within the county were supported with up to 
£2,000 each to support businesses to operate within Covid-19 restrictions and adapt their 
external spaces.

Well-being Objectives :

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2120 Page 53



Implementing the Gwynedd Slate 
Heritage

Improvement Priority 1   

What did we promise to do?

During 2019-20, a full nomination from Gwynedd was presented to the UK Government and 
to UNESCO for a World Heritage Site designation. The nomination gives us an opportunity to 
acknowledge the contribution of the traditional slate industry on an international platform, 
and to celebrate and protect the Welsh culture associated with those areas. 
 
We have already used the World Heritage Site nomination as a tool to regenerate our slate 
communities and to increase the value of the tourist industry. £1m of additional resources 
have been attracted to the county through the Heritage Fund, Welsh Government, the 
European Union and Snowdonia National Park through the LleCHI project. 
 
In future, we will collaborate with the slate communities, via the LleCHI project, to create 
a programme of regeneration activities in these areas that will improve the appearance 
and look of communities, improve the quality of the visitor’s experience, and will lead to an 
increase in residents’ ownership of their heritage, language and culture.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

During 2020/21 we responded to enquiries on our nomination by the official assessment body 
on behalf of Unesco and we also arranged a visit from an official assessor over a 7 day period 
during the autumn. Despite Covid-19 restrictions, we were able to hold a safe and successful 
visit by holding an official welcome evening through Zoom with the First Minister of Wales, a 
British Government Minister and local and national representatives.  The assessors provided a 
positive interim report on our nomination.

As part of arrangements to manage the nomination in future, we formulated the following:

• Local Management Plans with landowners
• Supplementary Planning Guidance with landowners
• guidance to care for our slate landscape with communities and landowners
• draft economic objectives for the future with stakeholders and landowners
• Risk Management Plan with stakeholders and landowners
• quarry safety communications strategy
• brief for setting a linguistic baseline for projects in the nomination area.

Our community and regeneration activities continued through the LleCHI scheme funded by 
the Lottery Heritage Fund, Gwynedd Council, Snowdonia Fund and Arloesi Gwynedd Wledig. 
This project has been central to all the engagement work, community regeneration and 
cultural activity relating to the nomination. It has supported many activities to promote pride 
in area, culture, heritage and language and is also a means of celebrating our slate areas’ 
contribution to the world. The activities included:

• the continuation of activities for LleCHI Young Ambassadors including site visits, creating 
videos and displays. 

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 21Page 54

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


• community art and regeneration projects in Bethesda, Deiniolen, Llanberis, Penygroes, 
Blaenau Ffestiniog, Abergynolwyn and Tywyn

• developing an Interpretation Plan for the entire site and beginning the work of developing 
a new website

• discussions with partners for a succession plan for LleCHI and specifically with the Wales 
Slate Museum on potential development on the site

• assistance in implementing the priorities of the Local Management Plans in Llechwedd, 
Dorothea, Parc Padarn and other sites.

Well-being Objectives: 

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Take advantage of the beauty of the county’s natural environment.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2122

Image: Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Wales

Page 55



Benefiting from Tourism Improvement Priority 1    
What did we promise to do?

Tourism is one of Gwynedd’s main economic sectors and it is an important employer.  
However, the increase in the tourist numbers makes a significant contribution to the pressure 
on the infrastructure of the county’s destinations; a cost that is mainly shouldered by the 
residents of Gwynedd. 

We have already consulted with representatives from the sector and Snowdonia National 
Park Authority in order to look at how we can attract income to support the industry, and what 
the priorities are for the future. 
 
In future, we will look to continue to collaborate with the tourism industry and our partners 
to create a new Tourism Management Plan for Gwynedd that will consider the best way of 
getting the greatest benefit to the industry and for the residents of Gwynedd.  In doing so, we 
will seek to improve the sector’s contribution to the communities and economy of Gwynedd, 
improve the provision of the county’s destinations and increase the industry’s provision for 
tourists and for the people of Gwynedd.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

During 2020/21 we continued to meet with the Tourism Sub-group of the Regeneration Board 
to understand the visitor economy sector in Gwynedd and develop sustainable principles for 
the future. 

Evidence sessions were held with the tourism sector and good practice was identified in 
sustainable tourism from other areas in Britain and across the world.

We appointed a consultant with expertise in the field of international sustainable tourism to 
work with the Council on developing the principles and an associated action plan.

The draft Sustainable Visitor Economy Principles were submitted to a meeting of all Council 
Members and members of Snowdonia National Park in March 2021 and in light of the 
feedback, the draft principles were approved for engagement and consultation on 30 March 
2021. The draft principles were based on the following vision:

“A Visitor Economy for the benefit and well-being of Gwynedd residents”

And the three principles and associated sub-principles as follows:
1. Celebrate, Respect and Protect our Communities, Language, Culture and Heritage
• a visitor economy in the ownership of our communities which boosts pride in one’s area
• a visitor economy that leads in Heritage, Language, Culture and the Outdoors

2. Maintain and Respect our Environment 
• a visitor economy that respects our natural and built environment and considers the 

implications of visitor economy developments on our environment today and in the future
• a visitor economy that leads in sustainable and low carbon developments and 

infrastructure.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 23Page 56

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


3. Ensure that the advantages to Gwynedd communities outweigh any disadvantages 
• a visitor economy that ensures that infrastructure and resources contribute towards the 

well-being of the community all year round
• a visitor economy that thrives for the well-being of Gwynedd residents and businesses 

and that offers quality year-round employment opportunities for local people
• a visitor economy that promotes local ownership and supports local supply chains and 

produce
• a visitor economy that improves the quality of the experience and the offer for all.

Upon approving the draft visitor economy principles, it is intended to hold a broader 
engagement exercise with the public, businesses and key partners. There will be a need 
to continue to develop arrangements to implement the principles in partnership with 
Snowdonia National Park, the sector and Gwynedd communities. In order to do so, the 
Council will develop a Gwynedd Sustainable Visitor Economy Plan which will contribute to 
the Gwynedd Regeneration Framework.

Well-being Objectives:
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Take advantage of the beauty of the county’s natural environment.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2124 Page 57



Businesses Receiving Support to Prosper Improvement Priority 1    
What did we promise to do?

It is currently an uncertain time for businesses as a result of Brexit and changes in trading 
and competition arrangements.  Gwynedd Council is determined to help local enterprises 
to adapt and respond to the challenge and we have already played a proactive part in the 
discussions regarding the future of business support in North Wales and the future of money 
to support the economy post-Brexit.
  
The county’s businesses also work with many Council Departments and they receive 
a service from them, including rates, planning, trading standards, building control and 
procurement. We have already consulted with the county’s businesses to see whether the 
assistance and support they receive from the Council is the best it can be.
  
In future, we will respond to the views of businesses about the support they receive from the 
Council and ensure that every part of the Council considers how they can offer assistance to 
support businesses.  We will also encourage Gwynedd businesses to make the most of the 
support available from others, and to powerfully convey the needs of Gwynedd businesses 
when discussing with our partners, in particular in light of Brexit.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

2020/21 has been a difficult year for businesses in Gwynedd as a result of Brexit, and, most 
particularly, the Covid-19 pandemic.

The work that had already started through the plan to facilitate collaboration across Council 
departments had set a firm foundation as we respond urgently to the impact of Covid-19 on 
the county’s businesses. 

Consequently, the Council’s departments have collaborated closely during the last year to 
ensure that business needs are considered and that appropriate support is provided.
  
We succeeded to establish an inter departmental taskforce as soon as the Lockdown began 
in March 2020 to lead our response and the Council has succeeded to:

• distribute over £110m in financial support directly to businesses providing an on-line 
application procedure to help businesses to access support with ease.

• ensure that businesses receive appropriate and timely information to enable them to work 
safely in accordance with regulations

• win the support of businesses to cascade information to residents and visitors to the area 
and help to keep our communities safe 

• ensure that the Council speaks in unison with businesses with a view to support them 
to the best of our ability. For example, the Public Protection Service helped businesses 
to comply and referred them to sources of support and the Economy and Community 
Department promoted good practice in terms of compliance among businesses

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 25Page 58

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


• hold a campaign to encourage local residents to support businesses by buying local.

Many businesses have expressed their gratitude for the work, such as:

“Just a word to thank Gwynedd Business Support for your bulletins and business support 
grants.  They have both been invaluable to a small business like us and we truly appreciate 
how quickly and effectively you have responded to quickly changing circumstances to help 
businesses to carry on....”

The Council has also worked hard to ensure that Gwynedd businesses are aware of the 
implications of leaving the European Union and any new requirements. Information about 
the new regulations and the support that is available have been included regularly in our 
information bulletins and we speak regularly with local businesses as any challenges 
resulting from Brexit become apparent.

Similarly, the Council has been working closely with Welsh Government and other counties 
in north Wales during the last year to voice the needs of Gwynedd businesses and to gather 
and share good practice.

Well-being Objectives:

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2126 Page 59



Apprenticeships Scheme Improvement Priority 1    
What did we promise to do?

Welsh Government has outlined its national vision to address the need to develop vital skills 
in Wales and the broader economy to identify the priority fields and how apprenticeships will 
be an integral part of fulfilling this. 

The Council has already identified appropriate fields for establishing apprenticeships and has 
allocated funding to deliver these schemes for the next two years. 17 apprentices had been 
appointed to work in the Council by the end of December 2019.  

In future, we will proceed to appoint more apprentices in priority fields during 2020/21, 
considering the practicality of the scheme’s continuation beyond the current commitment.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

Of the 17 original apprentices, 11 women and six men have been recruited. The age range 
comprises of - two apprentices aged under 18, eleven apprentices between 18 and 24 
and four apprentices who are over 25. By the end of 2020/21 eight apprentices have 
been appointed to jobs within the Council and continue to follow their qualifications. One 
apprentice has left the scheme voluntarily.

At the beginning of 2021/22 we are in the middle of a process of recruiting and appointing 19 
additional apprentices to nine different fields, meaning that we will have recruited a total of 
35 apprentices with the Cabinet’s original investment of £300,000. This is 15 apprentices more 
than the target in the original plan, and the main reason for this is that Council services have 
been able to contribute more to the plan’s costs than what had been anticipated. 

We have planned to offer at least 20 apprenticeships a year for the next three years. This all 
would add to the 35 apprenticeships already created and would enable us to develop further 
by working more with small businesses, local contractors and community enterprises to 
establish and support new apprenticeship jobs.

Well-being Objectives:

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2127 Page 60



Bangor catchment area, Berwyn 
catchment area (Bala), Treferthyr 
catchment area (Cricieth), Post-16 
provision 

Improvement Priority 2   

What did we promise to do?

As a number of our schools are old and unsuitable to address future learning and educating 
needs, and as there are challenges associated with the provision of secondary and post-
16 education in the county, we are planning and realising innovative projects to ensure that 
the children and young people of Gwynedd are educated in the best possible learning 
environment.  

We have completed the work of establishing Ysgol Godre’r Berwyn, in the Bala Catchment 
Area. The school opened to pupils aged 3-19 years in September 2019, along with services 
for the local community such as a library and theatre.  We have commenced work to 
improve the provision in the Bangor and Treferthyr catchment areas. We have also been 
collaborating with Meirionnydd Secondary Schools to look at the system of providing 
secondary education for the area, and carrying out field work with key stakeholders to 
consider the current post-16 provision across the county. 

We will aim to complete Ysgol y Garnedd in Bangor by September 2020, Ysgol y Faenol in 
Bangor by January 2021 and Ysgol Treferthyr in Cricieth by September 2021. We will continue 
to collaborate in order to identify creative solutions to the secondary provision in Meirionnydd 
and we will draw up a report on the current post-16 provision that will form the basis to 
future developments.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

Bangor Catchment Area:

We have completed the work of establishing a new building for Ysgol y Garnedd in Bangor. 
The school opened to pupils aged 3-11 years in October 2020, only a few weeks later than 
originally intended due to the pandemic, and that is incredible given the challenging times 
of the pandemic, and is testament to collaboration and partnership working between all 
stakeholders.  

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 28

Improvement Priority 2

Ensure that every pupil has the opportunity to reach his or her potential 
by ensuring that we have a sustainable education system, which 
provides development opportunities relevant to everyone whatever their 
background or where they live.

Page 61

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


The school community have settled in their new home and are making the most of the 
modern, first rate building, environment and teaching resources.

The work of extending and upgrading Ysgol y Faenol in the Bangor catchment-area is 
continuing, and in light of some problems with the tenders at the beginning of the project 
there was delay with the timetable meaning that the work of extending and upgrading Ysgol 
y Faenol was about to start when the first Lockdown came in (March 2020), and consequently, 
the amended completion date for the school is February 2022. 

The work that has been ongoing on the site of Ysgol y Faenol over the last year reflects good 
collaboration and partnership working between the school, the Council and the construction 
company, in an extremely challenging time when pupils and builders are on the site the 
same time and having to work within the added restrictions of the pandemic such as social 
distancing and maintaining bubbles. 

Ysgol Treferthyr:

We have begun the work of establishing a new building for Ysgol Treferthyr in Cricieth. A 
public consultation was held on the proposal to increase the school’s capacity to 150 pupils, 
and the new building will include a location for the early years along with space for the cylch 
meithrin. It is anticipated that the work of planning for and constructing the new building 
for Ysgol Treferthyr will be completed by September 2023, with slippage in the timetable in 
light of our decision at the start of the project to include Ysgol Llanystumdwy as part of the 
initial consultation. However, after a number of meetings the school chose not to participate 
in the project. The business case for the new building has been approved by the Welsh 
Government, therefore the money has been guaranteed to begin the work. 

Meironnydd:

The progress in the context of finding creative solutions to the secondary provision in 
Meirionnydd has been slow and has been impacted in light of re-purposing schools to 
provide childcare as well as remote learning, and subsequently supporting learners as they 
return to the school following the Covid-19 lockdowns. 

Nevertheless, we have sought the opinion of headteachers and representatives of the 
Governing Body of every secondary school on the potential challenges they face in terms 
of providing quality secondary education in the Meirionnydd area.  Two former secondary 
headteachers were commissioned to gather the opinion of headteachers and we also held 
consultation sessions with the chair and vice-chair of every school.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2129 Page 62



In particular, we looked at identifying the challenges the schools face in terms of recruiting 
teachers, middle managers and leaders. However, the opinion thus far has not highlighted 
any obvious concerns, although some specific aspects need addressing.

The next steps will be to seek the opinions of pupils, parents and staff.  We will address the 
quality of the experiences the pupils are getting at the schools along with the opinion of staff 
about the experience of working within these schools. In order to ensure fair comparison 
we will circulate the questionnaire among staff, parents and pupils at Arfon and Dwyfor 
schools also. The work of forming the questionnaire has begun and we will share it with all 
stakeholders during the summer term 2021.

Post-16 Education:

An overview report on post-16 education was submitted to the Cabinet on 10 March 2020 
which included our vision for post-16 learners in Gwynedd, along with a recommendation to 
hold discussions with the stakeholders of post-16 education in Arfon.  

A period of informal engagement on post-16 education in Arfon was held during the autumn 
term of 2020. The purpose of the engagement was to give stakeholders such as learners, 
parents, staff, governors and the wider community an opportunity to present observations 
and ideas regarding the post-16 education system in Arfon, within the context of the Council’s 
vision and objectives. 

As part of the process, virtual meetings were held via Microsoft Teams and Zoom, with 
learners, parents, staff and governors to give them an opportunity to voice their opinions and 
ask any questions about the field. In addition, special virtual sessions were held to gather 
opinions and ideas from learners in Arfon.  A report on the process was submitted to the 
Education and Economy Scrutiny Committee on the 4 February 2021 with the intention of 
submitting a further report to the Cabinet in due course, to include a short list of potential 
options for post-16 education in Arfon, based on the Council’s vision, along with messages of 
the informal engagement process that was held.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 30Page 63

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Transforming the provision of Additional 
Educational Needs and Inclusion 

Improvement Priority 2   

What did we promise to do?

Work has already been done to transform the additional learning needs and inclusion 
service, with the aim of ensuring that those children and young people who need it have 
access to the most suitable support to enable them to fulfil their potential. 

This service is now provided throughout Gwynedd and Anglesey, and it focuses on equipping 
our schools to support our most vulnerable children and young people to ensure they are 
able to fulfil their potential. 

In the future, we will continue to develop the service in some fields such as the early years, 
post-16 and special schools.  We will also build on the existing partnership work between our 
Special Schools and with the authority’s mainstream schools in order to improve the learning 
experiences of children with severe and complex needs.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

The transformation work in this field during this year has been focused on preparing for the 
Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018 over an extended period, 
and following the publishing of the Final Code on 23 March 2021.  We are planning the steps 
needed for the initial steps of transitioning from the existing legislation to the new legislation 
in September 2021. Although some elements will come into force in September 2021, there 
will be a full three year period of transition, will some elements such as post-16 being 
delayed.

A crucial element of the new legislation will be the importance of placing the learner and 
their family at the centre of the process of identifying and providing for their individual 
needs, and this is key to the preparations and to the systems of schools, other educational 
establishments and the support services. The work of simplifying processes as much as 
possible is extremely important for this.

In terms of wider preparations we have seen strong progress in preparing for the legislation 
with many innovative aspects. A Preparedness Survey (i.e. how prepared the Authority is to 
transition to the new legislation) created for Welsh Government demonstrates that 33 fields 
have reached full preparedness, 18 fields have reached preparedness in part and 3 fields are 
showing initial work. Work streams in the key fields (e.g. post-16 and the Early Years, and ALN 
Funding) continue to make good progress in preparing for the new requirements. Processes 
for service provision, quality assurance and training have been created and established.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2131 Page 64



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 32Page 65

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Residents to Play a Full Part in 
the World of Work

Improvement Priority 3    

What did we promise to do?

A substantial number of residents are unable to fulfil their full potential as they are 
underemployed or excluded from employment. Being outside the world of work leads to 
reducing residents’ wealth and increasing the demand for public resources, and preventing 
this is a key part of the anti-poverty agenda. There are direct benefits from being in work in 
terms of increasing earnings, but there are also wider benefits in terms of health, children’s 
life opportunities and pride in communities. 

We have already been working with employers, especially within the tourism industry, to 
ensure that more Gwynedd residents benefit from the employment opportunities available, 
and support the residents of Gwynedd to foster the digital skills required to access work.
  
In future, we will continue with the above-mentioned plans and develop further plans such 
as close collaboration with our partners across north Wales and with the UK Government’s 
Department for Work and Pensions, to improve the coordination of our services.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

2020/21 was a very challenging time for Gwynedd residents in terms of work.  
Historically, unemployment rates in Gwynedd have been lower than average - although 
underemployment and exclusion from employment remain as challenges.

With the emergence of Covid-19 a high percentage of the Gwynedd workforce was placed 
on the furlough scheme; 16,700 in July 2020, namely 36% of all workers in the county. A 
significant increase was also seen in the number of unemployed in the county, especially 
within communities that are very dependent on the visitor economy. Over 3,200 were looking 
for work in Gwynedd in July 2020 - double the number in 2019.

Nevertheless by changing its way of working the scheme has continued to support local 
people to join the labour market and has helped 320 individuals during 2020/21. 68 have 
succeeded to obtain work as a direct consequence of the support.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2133

Improvement Priority 3    

Reduce inequality within the county

Page 66



One example is an individual who was eager to return to work and move to the construction 
field.  The individual received assistance with their CV, to complete a health and safety 
course, to develop interview skills and to gain a forklift truck driving licence. During a 
mentoring session with a local employer they made a good impression and now work for a 
construction business in Bala.

In order to respond to the new challenge of unemployment in the county, the scheme 
has secured funding to employ more workers in the field, and to move to hold a series of 
new activities such as training on on-line job searches and working more closely with local 
employers. The scheme also works with partners in Gwynedd to ensure that local businesses 
and residents make the best of the UK Government’s Kickstart scheme that guarantees six 
months’ work for young people at no cost to the employer.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 34Page 67

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Supporting People’s Well-being Improvement Priority 3     
What did we promise to do?

Some residents need more support to deal with life’s challenges, and the Council invests 
in, provides and plans many services and interventions to support people to face up to 
their problems and attempt to overcome them. These can vary from parenting difficulties to 
substance misuse to the impact of loneliness.  

We have drawn together services from across the Council to shape the Supporting People 
Programme and to date, we have focused our efforts on mapping, identifying obstacles and 
improving our understanding of how our services are provided at present. 

In future, we will continue to carry out mapping work to understand needs in specific 
communities and areas, look at whether grant schemes are used for the most effective 
purpose, and continue to build on the Children First Programme in the Maesgeirchen area.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

It became apparent in March 2020 that we as a Council needed to respond quickly to the 
daily changes that were occurring as the Covid-19 pandemic developed. Therefore, we 
amended our 2020/21 Work Programme to divert our attention and resources to supporting 
people’s well-being to cope with the crisis.

We set up the Covid Support Team to support the residents of Gwynedd to access the help 
they needed to cope with the challenges of the crisis. Among the Team’s main responsibilities 
were:

• Taking calls and e-mail messages from the public, relating to Covid-19 matters, and 
providing them with information.

• Identifying the most appropriate assistance and support for the residents who contacted 
them.

• Contacting everyone who was shielding and offering support, and raising their awareness 
of the support available in the form of Welsh Government food parcels. Between April and 
August 2020, 5,080 residents contacted the Team, and 4,781 of those were shielding.

• Escalating any concerns to the relevant teams within the Council.

• Identifying what mattered to the residents who came into contact, and identifying a 
solution.

• Contacting external organisations and bodies on behalf of the residents, and act as a point 
of contact between the organisation/body and the resident, where appropriate.

Arrangements were established across our departments and with our partners to support 
communities to maintain well-being and to help residents. We have been supporting

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2135 Page 68



befriending groups and community groups that provide practical help in relation to shopping, 
food and keeping in contact with vulnerable residents. Our support has been involved with 
helping to recruit volunteers, funding the groups, getting supplies to the groups and building 
links between the groups and other services.

We have supported the food banks with food supplies, equipment and premises and grants.
We have established the “Cynllun NEGES” food parcel scheme jointly with Menter Môn and 
Dylan’s Restaurant to provide food parcels to vulnerable homes, beyond the food parcel 
programme that was provided for vulnerable individuals who were shielding.

We have established a new information section on the Council’s website to provide 
information and advice to residents on the help that is available for them to cope with the 
crisis - matters such as practical help with self-isolating, information on being healthy, and 
the services and activities that are available.

We have established and prepared information packages and activity packages for families 
and residents, e.g. art and craft packs, digital tablets, gardening packs, digital activities to 
keep in touch. 

We coordinate specific awareness raising campaigns with partners, e.g. domestic violence, 
scams and on-line safety, financial advice and benefit payments.

As we evaluate this work we are also amending the work programme for the future to 
meet our residents’ latest needs in light of the crisis. The Supporting People Board has 
commissioned specific work streams namely supporting homelessness prevention, welfare 
of children and young people, supporting unpaid carers, tackling food poverty, digital poverty 
and maintaining community resilience. These priorities will continue in 2021/22.

The work on reviewing our use of and arrangements relating to the preventative grants has 
not progressed during 2020/21. Instead, we adapted the activity of a number of them to 
realise the above and we received a higher number of short-term preventative grants to be 
administered during the year.

The work of setting up the Integrated Centre as part of the Kids’ Zone was delayed but has 
now recommenced and the impact of the crisis is evident in the reshaping of the importance 
and the need for hubs in communities of deprivation to secure access to the help that people 
need locally.

We are confident that re-prioritising the original plans has allowed us to respond successfully 
to the needs of vulnerable people in unusual times.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 36Page 69

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Women in Leadership Improvement Priority 3  
What did we promise to do?

We will review the conditions and the working environment to ensure that we take the lead in 
encouraging Women in Leadership and identify and seek to remove any barriers that could 
prevent women from reaching leadership and management posts within the Council. 

An internal Project Group has carried out a consultation with staff during 2019/20 and in 
future, we will implement a work programme that will include a programme to develop 
potential for women, carrying out an audit of our recruitment and appointment methods for 
managerial posts and creating a forum for female leaders and prospective leaders within the 
Council.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

A series of discussion forums was arranged for council staff and Elected Members who are 
women facilitated by some of the Council’s senior female officers. Topics such as experiences 
of leading and managing during the crisis were discussed and the facilitators gave a 
presentation on preparing for senior jobs. They were attended by a total of 40 women. The 
sessions received positive feedback and it was expressed that it would be beneficial to hold 
more sessions. 

The main messages deriving from these conversations have been recorded and 
consequently further activities were held - namely sessions on “imposter syndrome” which 
were attended by a total of 79 staff, and 18 Elected Members. There are further arrangements 
in the pipeline to introduce a mentoring programme for the Council’s female leaders and 
prospective leaders as part of a programme of developing potential for women while the 
“conversation sessions” have been established as a continuous arrangement. 

The work of reviewing recruitment and appointment arrangements for managerial posts has 
slipped during the year but the Project Group has received a presentation on matters to be 
considered further by the Human Resources Manager. 

Well-being Objectives:

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2137 Page 70



Ensuring Fairness for Everyone Improvement Priority 3  
What did we promise to do?

In order to put the people of Gwynedd at the centre of everything we do, we must first 
identify any barriers that some people face when looking for, or receiving services from the 
Council. Therefore, our intention is to undertake a thorough investigation of the opinion of 
Gwynedd residents who have protected characteristics (as noted in the Equality Act 2010) 
about the services offered by the Council. 

This engagement will happen in 2020/21 as part of the 2020-24 Strategic Equality Plan. We 
will create a further Action Plan based on the evidence we receive.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

During 2020/21 we have begun a public survey along with a survey of Council staff to 
improve the information we have about people with protected characteristics. As part of this 
work we carried out a comprehensive campaign to encourage individuals to take advantage 
of the opportunity to have their say and to identify and contact other stakeholders and groups 
and initiatives and produce materials such as video clips, BSL clips, press statements, articles 
and web pages to promote the survey. 

There was some slippage to the original timetable for holding the survey because of the re-
prioritisation of resources and working methods due to the Covid-19 crisis and consequently, 
it will remain open until the end of May 2021 rather than the end of February 2021.  The 
outcome of the survey will give us information about the current situation but the intention 
is to continue with the engagement work in order to improve the information that we have 
about people with protected characteristics including “in-person” work later on in 2021.

In order to improve the understanding of Elected Members and staff of equality there is a 
need to ensure that they receive the correct training. During 2020/21 we have developed 
and trialled a range of remote learning methods and researched suitable learning materials. 
During next year we will develop a training and awareness raising programme to ensure a 
better understanding of the needs of the people of Gwynedd and the Equality Act.

The feedback on the engagement work will be fed into the training programme in future. In 
the meantime, we will look at ways of attracting staff to complete the training on equality and 
how to encourage them to reflect and realise the need over the coming months. 

We have been encouraging staff to complete the equality characteristics monitoring 
questionnaire in order to obtain reliable evidence to help to improve the diversity of our 
workforce and with work to reduce any pay gaps. To date, only around half of the Council’s 
workforce has completed the requirement and therefore we will continue to encourage staff 
to complete the questionnaire by targeting specific departments. 

It was intended to hold an audit on the gender pay gap and audit on gender based pay 
during 2020/21. Unfortunately this work has slipped somewhat as we need to develop the 
Council computer systems’ capacity to generate the information more easily and therefore 
the work will be completed during the summer of 2021.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 38Page 71

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Housing Strategy for the People of 
Gwynedd 2019-24

Improvement Priority 4  

What did we promise to do?

The demand for social and affordable housing to house the residents of Gwynedd is currently 
higher than the supply available. In response to this challenge, we have already drawn up a 
Housing Strategy which aims to optimize our supply of housing in Gwynedd, to improve their 
standard and also improve access to housing by strengthening the support that is available 
to people to enable them to live independently in their communities. 

An interim plan was developed for 2020/21 in order to commence the work of delivering 
this Strategy, and for the future, we will develop a medium term Action Plan to maximise our 
ability as a Council to meet the challenge of providing suitable homes for our residents in 
Gwynedd.  

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

To reach the ambition in our Housing Strategy, to “Ensure that the people of Gwynedd have 
access to a suitable home of a high standard, that is affordable and improves their quality of 
life”, we have adopted a Housing Action Plan that includes over 30 specific plans that will lead 
to an investment of £77 million in the field of housing in Gwynedd over the next six years.
These schemes will aim to fulfil the following objectives:  

• No one is homeless in Gwynedd
• Social housing available to all who need one
• Everyone’s home in Gwynedd is affordable to them 
• Gwynedd Housing are environmentally friendly 
• Homes having a positive influence on the health and well-being of the people of 

Gwynedd  

During 2021/22, we will start to implement these plans in order to increase the opportunities 
for local people to have suitable homes within their communities.

The demand on our homelessness service has increased significantly (26%) over the past 
year as a result of the pandemic and we will therefore aim to prioritise a number of the 
schemes which will increase the supply of housing available to the homelessness service 
during the first year of the Housing Action Plan. We will also prioritise schemes to assist with 
bringing empty homes back into use, buying houses from the market to be let to the county’s 
residents, and commence the process of developing our own housing to be sold to local 
people.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2139

Improvement Priority 4

Ensure a greater supply of suitable housing available to our residents.

Page 72



Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 40Page 73

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Promote the use of the Welsh language 
within the Council’s services

Improvement Priority 5   

What did we promise to do?

Gwynedd Council has been prominent in terms of ensuring that services for residents 
are available through the medium of Welsh as we operate through the medium of Welsh 
internally. Promoting the use of the Welsh language within Council services is continuous 
work, and we are aware of the need to continue to maintain our staff’s language skills.

To date, we have been successful in reviewing the language requirements of all posts and in 
assessing the linguistic ability of 40% of our officers against those requirements. This has all 
been supported by a language improvement and learning programme. 

In future, we will focus on working with the rest of the Council’s services - especially front-line 
services - to complete the assessment and develop the skills of new and existing staff and to 
take up new opportunities to ensure that we offer a fully bilingual provision for all aspects of 
our services.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

A total of 2,401 staff members have been assessed against their post’s language designations 
with 91.8% (2,204) achieving or exceeding the requirements. This means that 197 (8.2%) 
staff members have been identified who do not meet the designations. Of the number that 
did not meet the requirements, 11 individuals do now reach their language designations 
after receiving support and two managers (one from the Adults, Health and Well-being 
Department and one from the Children and Supporting Families Department) receiving 1:1 
support with a tutor which has led to significant progress in a short space of time.

We have developed a self-study course (Access level) for central staff and school staff. Welsh 
Government is now using this course as a pilot to be offered to schools across Wales. 

Measures have been agreed to support the project’s long term objectives with arrangements 
in place for new staff to complete an assessment when they are appointed and to complete 
the self-evaluations as part of the process of inducting new staff in the care field. Further, the 
Language Designations Forum has been established with representatives/promoters from 
every Department who are mainly responsible in the departments for sharing information and 
good practice as well as identifying any future obstacles and risks.

Well-being Objectives:

• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2141

Improvement Priority 5

Ensure that we encourage and promote the ability of the people of 
Gwynedd to live their lives through the medium of Welsh.

Page 74



The Welsh Language in Public Services Improvement Priority 5   
What did we promise to do?

At present there is inconsistency in the provision of bilingual services by public bodies in 
Gwynedd which means that it is not always possible for residents to use the Welsh language 
naturally when communicating with public bodies. 

We will collaborate with other public services, through the Gwynedd and Anglesey Public 
Services Board, to ensure that we innovate in the provision of the Welsh language and public 
services in the county. 

In future, we will contribute to a work programme that will draw together the Council’s Adults, 
Health and Well-being Department, the Health Board and Anglesey Council to establish 
working arrangements in a bilingual situation for the Community Resources Teams, namely 
the teams that will provide care and support for the people who need it.  

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

Community Resources Team 

Some progress was achieved in accordance with the original plan by working with the 
Community Resources Team to identify the workforce’s language skills and develop 
principles by collaborating across the different partners (e.g. agree there is room to promote 
and encourage the offer of a chosen language). However, responding to the Covid-19 crisis 
affected the ability to move the project forward.  
It was decided to change direction as it was apparent there was an opportunity to work with 
companies tendering to provide care work on behalf of the Community Resources Team 
in order to ensure that they are aware of the need to provide each element of the service 
bilingually and that they receive the support to do this.  

The next steps will be

• to hold a session with the provider companies to assist them to implement the proactive 
offer, in other words, to make sure that the language offer is implemented from the 
beginning

• to review the tenders to ensure they contain clear requirements about language provision. 

Reception Areas Project

The purpose of the reception areas project undertaken by the Welsh Language Sub-group 
(Public Services Board) was to encourage the people of Gwynedd to speak Welsh when they 
come into reception areas (at the Council and other partners). The project was delayed as a 
result of many reception areas being closed at times during the lockdown periods. The Welsh 
Language Sub-group now has a new leader and the first priority is to reconsider the work 
programme to the future.

Well-being Objectives:

• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 42Page 75

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Businesses using the Welsh 
language

Improvement Priority 5   

What did we promise to do?

The Council has direct contact with Gwynedd businesses to encourage Gwynedd businesses 
to use the Welsh language. Hunaniaith officers as well as officers within the Economy and 
Community Department encourage businesses to increase the use of the language through 
their work in the communities. 

In future, we will continue with this work, and we will also work with external partners such as 
Welsh in Business and the Welsh Language Commissioner to ensure that everyone together 
plans the provision required by Gwynedd businesses.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

This work is now embedded in our day-to-day work and will not be recognised on a 
corporate improvement priority level in the Council Plan in 2021/22.

During the last year, officers from Hunaniaith and the Economy and Community Department 
have encouraged businesses to increase their use of the Welsh language through their 
community outreach work. We have also been collaborating to create a webpage for the 
Gwynedd Council website to encourage and promote the Welsh language to businesses and 
we’ve also collaborated with a “Helo Blod” officer (Promoting the Welsh language in business) 
to refer businesses for support.   

Well-being Objectives:

• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2143 Page 76



Promoting the Use of Welsh by Children 
and Young People

Improvement Priority 5   

What did we promise to do?

In order to promote and increase the use of the Welsh language among young people within 
the curriculum and socially, we have led on the Welsh Language Charter in order to influence 
children’s social use of the Welsh language in primary schools and there have been calls to 
ensure its progression in the secondary schools.   

We have been working in collaboration with secondary schools to produce an individual 
action plan in order to increase the opportunities for children and young people to use the 
Welsh language in formal and informal situations, and have given specific attention to the 
language medium of the provision across the curriculum in Key Stages 3, 4 and 5.
 
In future, we will continue to collaborate on these issues and will support the schools to 
complete and implement their plans. We will also support schools to act in accordance with 
the new national requirements of Welsh Government’s Welsh Language Charter Framework 
that is coming into force during 2020-21.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, Welsh Government has not published the new national Welsh 
Language Charter Framework, and it has not been possible to implement the Language 
Charter in its usual format throughout the schools following the numerous lockdowns during 
the last year.

However, because of the lockdown periods, there was concern that the confidence of a 
number of children and young people in speaking Welsh would be affected due to the lack of 
opportunities to use the language at home, and the lack of opportunities to speak Welsh with 
peers. Consequently, during Lockdown (March 2020), a number of resources were created for
Gwynedd schools by the Welsh Language Charter Co-ordinator and the Secondary Sector 
Language Strategy Co-ordinator, and schools were also encouraged to share resources in 
the field of the Welsh language on Hwb, and a library of county resources was created by the 
department along with contributing to regional and national resources at the request of GwE 
for every Key Stage.  Video clips were produced for the Foundation Phase and Key Stage 2 
as a resource to encourage learners to use the spoken language, and training that was held 
on immersion principles in the Foundation Phase was transferred to a digital medium for all 
schools to use.  

As the schools reopened in September 2020, the Secondary Welsh Language Strategy 
Coordinator provided additional support to some learner groups at the secondary schools 
who had lost confidence in their use of the Welsh language and their Welsh language skills 
during Lockdown. Similarly, the Welsh Language Charter Coordinator provided intensive 
support to some primary schools to reinforce the Welsh language. 

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 44Page 77

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


As Foundation Phase learners returned to school following the further Lockdown (January-
March 2021), a questionnaire was shared with every school to establish a baseline of the 
position of the Welsh language, to identify strategies used by the schools to reinforce the 
Welsh language and to identify any further support needs. We are in the process of analysing 
the messages from this questionnaire and intend to circulate a similar questionnaire in the 
context of Key Stage 2, 3 and 4 later during the summer term of 2021. This information as 
a baseline will refer to the work programmes of the Language Coordinators, cluster work 
and grants in the context of the Welsh language, along with the priorities of the Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan that we will be consulting on as a new ten year plan in the 2021 
autumn term.  

We have also given particular attention to supporting the workforce’s language skills in 
order to facilitate a Welsh medium future to the provision across the curriculum in Key 
Stage 3, 4 and 5 by trialling a Work Welsh pilot scheme for Teachers on behalf of the Welsh 
Government with the teaching staff of one secondary school in the county.

Well-being Objectives:

• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2145 Page 78



Re-designing Care Services Improvement Priority 6  
What did we promise to do?

The county’s care needs are changing, and we have been working together with the 
Health Board to secure easy and direct access to services that support what matters to 
adults in Gwynedd. A working method that places more emphasis on health and well-
being and prevention work will ensure better outcomes for individuals, enable them to live 
independently for as long as possible and reduce the need for intensive care.  

We have established 5 Local Area Teams that provide a seamless service and build on the 
strengths of the individual and the community. They also ensure that our arrangements for 
hospital discharge are effective and correspond to what matters to the individual.  In 2020/21, 
we will work to identify and remove further barriers to integrated working, such as improving 
and streamlining the process of referring to services and strengthening the arrangements for 
sharing information. We have extended a pilot for a new way of providing home care across 
the county and have also worked to develop and improve the provision in our residential 
homes, which included opening Dementia Units in Tywyn and Bangor.  

In future, we will prepare to implement the new method of providing home care by summer 
2020 and will work to develop the dementia provision, extra care housing, profound physical 
needs care and suitable accommodation for individuals with learning disabilities. We will also 
work on developing the mental health services available in the county with a focus on early 
intervention and support.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

In relation to the work to develop integrated services, we have held virtual workshops for the 
Community Resources Teams in order to agree local priorities and work programmes, with 
arrangements for each area to report monthly on progress, successes and barriers. These 
arrangements have been in operation since November 2020. We have also developed a 
specific work programme for reviewing the arrangements for collaboration with hospitals 
and have agreed on short-term working processes to support the vision we have of the Local 
Teams taking ownership for supporting the timely discharge of individuals from hospital. The 
workers of the Social Work Team in Ysbyty Gwynedd will be relocated within the Community 
Resources Teams to strengthen community capacity. Although it is early to say, there are 
signs of a change of culture and closer working between professions, which in turn reduces 
the need for people to repeat their stories to a number of different professionals.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 46

Improvement Priority 6

Ensure that we have care services which help people to live their lives as 
they wish.

Page 79

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Unfortunately, the Covid-19 crisis has meant that it was not appropriate to conduct tendering 
exercises during such a challenging time for care providers, and as such there has been a 
slippage in the timetable for proceeding with the new approach of providing home care. 
However, a short-term plan was put in place with our care providers in an attempt to stabilise 
the market and manage the capacity until we could go out to tender on the new contracts. 
During 2020/21, local workshops were held with the service and the providers to agree on 
how to gain better control of the local care provision capacity and waiting lists. The care 
providers are also part of local discussions within the Community Resources Teams in most 
areas. It is early days at present, but these arrangements do seem to be improving joint-
working thus far.

Our work to modernise our residential provision has continued, and during the year the 
construction of a new Dementia Unit was completed at our home in Llan Ffestiniog. This 
provision was retained as a back-up resource during the pandemic, but we are now looking 
forward to opening the unit. Alongside this, investment programmes worth £500k have 
continued on our home in Dolgellau, where we will maximise the quality of resources and 
create a new bariatric provision, and we are also creating a Dementia Unit in our home in 
Barmouth. We hope that these resources will assist to meet the various needs of the people 
of Gwynedd, and promote independence and dignity. Work on the development of an Extra 
Care Housing facility in Pwllheli is continuing, led by Adra housing association.

With regard to suitable accommodation for individuals with learning disabilities, the number 
of individuals who have been identified as needing a supported accommodation placement 
has increased, and the lack of suitable properties locally is a cause of concern and leads to 
fragile home situations and additional pressure on carers. We have been working with various 
stakeholders and housing associations to try and meet these accommodation needs, and 
we were involved in producing the Housing and Property Department’s Housing Action Plan, 
which has now been approved by the Cabinet. We are also in discussions with Grŵp Cynefin 
and Adra to see how we can work more closely together to make the most of any empty 
properties they have.

We are continuing to collaborate with the Health Board to develop the county’s mental 
health services, and the work on ICAN centres focuses on early intervention, working 
together with third sector organisations. This service provides a one-stop shop for individuals 
needing support, and it enables us to make the contact between them and any housing 
agencies, Citizens Advice Bureau etc. as required in order to help them with matters that are 
causing them stress and negatively affecting their mental health. During the Covid-19 crisis 
we have been providing this support virtually to a broad range of individuals. During the last 
year we have established a new hub in Caernarfon in partnership with Gisda in order to offer 
support to young people, and we intend to extend this to Blaenau Ffestiniog too.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2147 Page 80



Community Resilience Improvement Priority 6  
What did we promise to do?

In order to help people maintain connections, reduce loneliness and sustain mental and 
physical health, we need to go further than just providing support services in the home or 
residential care.  We have been motivating and supporting the communities of Gwynedd to 
be more resilient in order to find preventative solutions that increase local care options for 
people. 

We have mapped the services and groups that currently exist in communities in order to 
identify gaps, and connect individuals who need support to services, and have also promoted 
community initiatives. New resources have been created, such as the Dyffryn Nantlle 
Community Transport Scheme and Pwllheli Men’s Shed. 

Towards the future, we will continue to identify gaps in provision in our communities, with the 
aim of agreeing on local priorities with those communities.  By March 2021, we will be clear 
on the well-being priorities for each of the Council’s areas and will begin to consider how we 
will shape our services for the future.  We will also continue to develop the community hub 
model across the county in order to provide a broad range of well-being opportunities for 
adults with learning disabilities in our local communities.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

The pandemic has certainly highlighted the strengths of our communities as people came 
together to support each other. The time in question has also enabled us to understand 
much more about the gaps that exists as dozens of Council staff went about engaging with 
the most vulnerable members of our communities as part of the Covid-19 Support Team. But 
despite the learning that emerged from this during the past year, unfortunately we did not 
manage to agree on local priorities, as was originally intended. The reason for this was the 
need to prioritise officers’ time to be able to respond fully to the crisis we were facing.

The work of identifying well-being priorities for each of the Council’s areas was also 
suspended for a year, with the permission of the Future Generations Commissioner. This 
work will now be completed by March 2022. We will be updating the Population Needs 
Assessment soon, and the Council will also lead on a community regeneration programme 
over the next period. All this work will allow us to review our intentions, and will feed into our 
considerations of how we will shape our services towards the future.

In relation to the work on developing the community hub model across the county 
which provides well-being opportunities for adults with learning disabilities in their local 
communities, we were unable to make the progress intended during the year as the service 
had to give priority to maintaining services and support for adults with learning disabilities 
and their families, as best we could. However, we have opened a new community hub in 
Felinheli and the hubs have been hugely beneficial for us to be able to provide a service 
safely during the pandemic. The plan to rebuild the Dolgellau Hub (Dolfeurig) is also 
progressing, with the aim for the work to commence in January 2022.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 48Page 81

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Although our ability to deliver the project’s objectives has always relied on effective 
joint-working across services, partners and communities, our experience during the last 
year has highlighted the need to review how best to coordinate the work and achieve 
the aim in moving forwards. A slight change is that we will no longer be reporting 
on the progress of this work as a single project for the future, but instead we will be 
tying it in with the wider plan we have in place for Supporting People’s Well-being. 

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2149 Page 82



The Workforce and Recruitment within 
the Care Field 

Improvement Priority 6  

What did we promise to do?

Recruiting to the care field is challenging for various reasons. We have an effective and 
committed workforce, but we must ensure that we have enough workers with the necessary 
skills in order to cope with the increasing need that is likely to arise in future. 

We have been striving to try to better understand the challenge that exists across the field, 
and in response to this a work programme was developed in an attempt to address some of 
the concerns. The work of establishing a new home care provision system will have a positive 
impact on elements such as the salaries of front-line staff in the private sector, lengths of 
work contracts and the promotion of career pathways in the field. 

The themes that will be addressed over the coming year are Terms and Conditions of 
Work, Workforce Planning and Development, the Image and Profile of Care Posts, and 
Communication and Marketing.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

The Covid-19 crisis has highlighted our recruitment challenges more than ever, and has 
meant having to prioritise some aspects of this project with emphasis on recruiting staff in the 
short term. This has led to an inevitable slippage in some developing work programmes that 
would have had a positive impact on things such as the workforce’s terms and conditions of 
employment. 

It was extremely challenging to maintain front-line services during the pandemic, and the 
main challenge was responding to substantial staffing shortages. The Cabinet approved 
additional resources in October to respond to the staffing shortages that we anticipated we 
would face. This facilitated our ability to hold recruitment campaigns to attract more workers 
to the field. 

Arrangements were put in place to support and train individuals who were completely new 
to the field, whether they were individuals just beginning their careers, or those wishing 
to re-train after losing their job as a result of the pandemic. As part of the campaign SOS 
#DaretoCare that was held between November 2020 and January 2021, over 100 individuals 
were identified as potential candidates to be employed in the care sector.

We used different methods to those we had used in the past, and worked closely with the 
Council’s central communications team. An example of this was using different ways of 
targeting particular areas in the county through social platforms.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 50Page 83

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Jobs/SOSDare2Care.aspx
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Jobs/SOSDare2Care.aspx
http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


The campaign was successful as we managed to reach individuals who would not have 
considered working in this sector in the past, as well as individuals who would not have 
seen an advertisement on the Council’s website and responded to it. This work has enabled 
us to have better resources and materials and has enabled us to target particular areas 
and groups. As a result of the campaign, we have been receiving 2 or 3 applications for 
posts; prior to this we would often fail to attract any candidates. There are several examples 
within care field of appointing through new and alternative means, such as through the 
apprenticeship scheme, and the Government’s recent ‘Kickstart’ scheme that provides 
employment opportunities to young people.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2151 Page 84



Empowering Units to Implement Ffordd 
Gwynedd 

Improvement Priority 7  

What did we promise to do?

As a Council, it is our responsibility to ensure that it is the needs of the people of Gwynedd 
that steer how we offer the services that we provide. In doing so, we should avoid any 
unnecessary working arrangements. The purpose of this project will be to lead service teams 
to reflect on their current working arrangements, to challenge whether they are placing the 
people of Gwynedd centrally and whether there is room for improvement. 

The original Ffordd Gwynedd Strategy published in October 2015 has now ended. The Ffordd 
Gwynedd Plan in its new form was approved during 2019/20. 

In future, we will therefore implement the Ffordd Gwynedd Plan work programme, which 
includes workforce planning, customer contact, working conditions and performance 
challenging as some of its main priorities.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

An amended Code of Conduct has been adopted for Council staff, which reflects the 
expected behaviours that belong to our working culture. Each of the working conditions 
is reviewed in turn to ensure that they coincide with the Ffordd Gwynedd culture and the 
content of the Code is considered to provide a foundation for this.  

We succeeded to continue with the training programme to support the development of 
“the working method” across the Council. This work was facilitated after establishing remote 
learning arrangements during the second half of the year. The six day training for managers 
and leaders was adapted to be presented in shorter sessions and a number of workshops 
were held with specific teams to support service reviews and develop the mind-set within 
those services. It will be possible to build and extend this support based on the work 
achieved this year with the intention of concentrating on implementing the reviews and 
making a difference.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 52

Improvement Priority 7

Ensure that the whole Council places the people of Gwynedd at the 
centre of everything we do.

Page 85

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Performance challenging arrangements were reviewed with a view to produce monthly 
reports for Cabinet Members from now on. We will continue to hold regular performance 
challenging meetings while focusing on the main risks identified within the Risk Register, 
which are reflected in turn in the improvement priorities that have been agreed in the Council 
Plan.

The specific work in relation to workforce planning is identified as a new improvement priority 
in the Council Plan for 2021/22 and it incorporates the work that has already taken place with 
apprentices and professional trainees along with the developing potential programme for the 
Council’s existing staff.

Wales Audit Office has carried out an independent assessment of the development of Ffordd 
Gwynedd within the Council. The assessment acknowledged that vast progress had been 
made but drew attention to some matters that would enable the Council to embed this 
working culture on a broader and deeper level across our services. 

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2153 Page 86



Improvement Priority 8

Respond to the climate change emergency

Climate Change Action Plan Improvement Priority 8  
What did we promise to do?

Since March 2019, the Council has been measuring all the steps we have already taken 
to reduce our carbon footprint and to prepare our communities for responding to climate 
changes in the future.  We also researched new and innovative methods we can adopt for the 
future, not only as a Council but across the communities of Gwynedd, and have commenced 
the process of consulting on those ideas and any other ideas that we might have missed.  

In 2020/21, we will publish and implement a Climate Change Response Plan that will build 
on the steps that we are already taking to reduce our carbon footprint to ensure that we 
maximise the contribution of the Council and the county in responding to the crisis. Realising 
the Climate Change Action Plan will be a responsibility for all Council departments and 
we will need to ensure that our own internal arrangements are robustly in place before we 
proceed to see how we can collaborate with other partners.

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

Unfortunately, the Covid-19 crisis interrupted the work that was underway to compile a 
Climate Change Action Plan, but officers have been working on a draft version. The aim of 
the draft paper is to highlight what the departments intend to achieve so that this becomes a 
basis for a members’ workshop early in 2021-22. This will lead to adopting an Action Plan for 
the future. 

We have also been preparing to appoint a Project Officer to lead on this work, who will be in 
post during 2021-22.

Well-being Objectives:

• Take advantage of the beauty of the county’s natural environment.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 54Page 87

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2155

Part 2 
Departmental Reports

Page 88



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 56

Education Department

Together with the work this department 
undertakes to realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the remainder of its ‘day-
to-day’ work also contributes to the Council’s 
ambition. 

One of the Council’s main priorities is to 
ensure that the children and young people of 
Gwynedd are all given the same opportunities 
and have the best possible education and 
experiences.

In a normal year, this report would be a 
medium to provide a brief analysis of the 
standards of Gwynedd schools in the context 
of the Foundation Phase and Key Stage 2 
in the primary sector, and Key Stages 3 and 
4 in the secondary sector. We would have 
reported on the new indicator, namely the 
Capped 9 point score accounted for the best 
nine GCSEs (or equivalent qualifications) for 
every learner. However, as a result of Covid-19 
and the lockdown, when schools were closed 
on 20 March 2020, and re-purposed from 
23 March onwards to provide childcare for 
vulnerable children and the children of key 
workers with the curriculum suspended, there 
is no analysis available of standards across 
the Key Stages, including Key Stage 4, as the 
external GCSE and A Level examinations were 
not held as usual. 

In addition, ESTYN did not inspect our schools 
during this period, therefore the Gwynedd 
schools inspections profile has not changed 
from what was reported upon in 2019/20. 
However, though ESTYN did not inspect 
schools during 2020/21, at the request of 
Welsh Government, they held a review of 
the work of local authorities to support their 
learning communities in schools and pupil 
referral units (PRUs) during the period from 
March to October 2020, and presented an 
individual report to each local authority on 

their findings. An extract from this report is 
provided below.

2019-20 was a year of consistent and 
continued change for the Education 
Department, for schools and for children 
and young people, with the school being 
re-purposed to provide care for vulnerable 
children and children of key workers from 
23 March 2020 onwards, with the curriculum 
suspended. Several lockdowns were seen 
during the year, and during these periods, 
our schools were responsible for providing 
distance learning, together with live learning 
sessions in order to ensure the best possible 
education for our children and young people, 
with a clear emphasis also on ensuring the 
well-being and happiness of the children and 
young people under the circumstances.

The Education Department recognises the 
significant impact that this pandemic has had 
on children and young people and provides 
support for them. As the learners returned 
to the schools, there was concern that some 
children and young people may be left behind 
in terms of their educational attainment, and 
that some would need additional support to 
close that gap, as well as the need for support 
with their well-being. In response to this 
concern, since September 2020, all schools in 
Gwynedd have implemented an ‘Accelerated 
Learning Programme’ with funding from the 
Welsh Government to respond to the impact 
of the lockdown period on the well-being 
and attainment of certain groups of learners 
aged 5-16. The Education Department 
in conjunction with GwE (the School 
Improvement Service) is supporting the 
schools to implement this programme. The 
Education Department is also giving specific 
attention to the impact of the pandemic on 
the well-being and attainment of children in 
the early years, together with its impact on 

Page 89

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2157

well-being, attainment and the projections for 
young people post-16. The department will be 
able to say more about these work streams in 
next year’s report.

Following the reopening of schools, the 
Education Department also supported 
individual schools when cases of Covid-19 
arose, providing appropriate guidance and 
advice, following the guidance of the test, 
trace and protect service, whilst also ensuring 
the continuation of education via a remote 
provision for bubbles of learners who would 
have had to stay home to self-isolate for a 
while.

During the year of consistent and continuous 
change, therefore, the Education Department 
attached great importance to communicating 
with stakeholders, seeking to ensure 
timely guidance, guidelines and decisions 
to enable schools to operate in the most 
appropriate way under the circumstances. The 
significance of this timely communication is 
conveyed in ESTYN’s Thematic Report:

‘Leadership and Collaboration

The Head of Education has maintained 
direct and consistent communication with 
officers, school leaders and with elected 
members throughout the pandemic. There 
was strong collaboration within both the 
primary strategic forum and the secondary 
head teacher strategic forum during the 
lockdown period.  All decisions, plans and 
policies were agreed through these forums 
and this consistent approach to 
communication.  This was valued by school 
leaders, who felt it reflected the collective 
and shared responsibility that exists 
between the local authority and its schools.’

The Education Department worked in close 
partnership with the heads, GwE, Council 
departments and Welsh Government in order 
to be able to provide the best guidance and 

support to the schools under difficult and very 
challenging circumstances for them.

Information and Communications 
Technology (ICT)

In order to facilitate remote learning during 
the year, but more specifically in response to 
the first lockdown, the Education Department 
was very proactive and prominent in the field 
of ICT, providing 1,200 Chromebook devices 
and 175 MiFi devices for families who did not 
have access to technology and/or internet 
connection during the first lockdown. This 
made a great difference in improving access 
to education and educational experiences 
for children during this time, however, some 
challenges remained in terms of a shortage 
of devices for large families, meaning that 
some children had to share devices and 
miss out on live lessons if families were 
required to prioritise the lessons of one child 
at the expense of the other. The Education 
Department also led on drawing up policies 
and procedures to allow Gwynedd schools 
to provide distance learning through live 
learning technology. Gwynedd’s progressive 
policy was eventually adopted by a number 
of other authorities, and the department was 
innovative in promoting and encouraging live 
learning sessions with our schools, and saw 
the clear advantages of that for the learners. 

‘Here is a cameo from the ESTYN Thematic 
Report (January 2021) on the department’s 
work to support schools and PRUs:

‘Digital learning as a legacy of the pandemic.
The authority has accelerated its strategic 
plan to provide a laptop for every pupil 
in years 5-11, with the first tranche of 
deliveries due in the spring for those in 
key stage 4. This strategy also includes 
providing all teachers with a new work 
laptop for facilitating digital learning. As a 
result, schools are able to plan for a future 
where learners have greater access to ICT, 

Page 90



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 58

thus ensuring that new digital skills learnt 
during lockdown periods are embedded in 
teaching and learning going forward.’

The work of providing devices for all learners 
and teachers continues, with 900 iPads, 5,500 
Chromebooks and 3,500 laptops bought in 
accordance with the vision highlighted in our 
Digital Education Strategy. 

The department will be able to say more 
about ICT development in next year’s report.

The Welsh Language

During the lockdown period, Language Centre 
staff had to adapt and transform the way they 
provided support for latecomers to acquire 
the Welsh language. Language Centre staff 
were in fact the first to pilot live learning 
sessions during the Summer Term 2020, in 
order to maintain the spoken language of 
latecomers who attended Language Centres 
during the 2019-20 academic year. Language 
Centre and school staff recognised that most 
of the latecomer learners only had access to 
the Welsh language and the opportunity to 
practise speaking and listening skills through 
these live learning sessions. To complement 
the live learning sessions, Language Centre 
staff also set up Google Classrooms for the 
learners on Hwb to provide latecomers with 
further opportunities to practise and acquire 
the Welsh language. Here is a cameo from 
the ESTYN Thematic Report on the Local 
Authority’s work in supporting latecomers: 

‘Supporting learners who are new to the 
Welsh language

One example of the close alignment of the 
local authority and GwE is their approach 
to supporting schools to develop pupils’ 
Welsh language skills. Some coastal areas 
of Gwynedd saw a significant influx of non-
Welsh speakers during the lockdown period.  
The challenge of catering for their linguistic 

needs when schools reopened in September 
was compounded by the difficulties in 
running Welsh language units in their 
traditional form. To counter this, to support 
primary schools, the local authority arranged 
for the specialist teachers to provide an 
outreach service on a cluster basis, whilst the 
cluster’s Supporting Improvement Advisor 
worked with the schools to create and adapt 
Welsh schemes of work.’

As a result of the pandemic, Language Centre 
staff have continued to provide support for 
latecomers via blended learning, namely 
face-to-face sessions in the schools, live 
teaching sessions on TEAMS along with 
work on Google Classrooms, however, 
consideration will be given to re-opening the 
Language Centre for learners for the first time 
since the pandemic during the Summer Term 
2021.

Additional Learning Needs and Inclusion 
(ALN & I)

The ALN&I Service reviewed the provision 
model in a very short space of time to 
respond to the lockdown over the past 
year in order to allow learners to continue 
to have access to the service. This was 
challenging of course, due to the restrictions 
in a period which was extremely different and 
challenging for children and young people 
and their families. Throughout this period, 
the statutory duty to provide in accordance 
with the SEN Act (2002) has continued, and 
transformation work for the new legislation 
in the field of Additional Learning Needs has 
also continued. The service operated on three 
tiers in order to respond to the different levels 
of needs: 

Page 91

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2159

There was a need to place a definite emphasis 
on supporting well-being on these tiers with 
elements of that stemming from contact at an 
individual level, targeted training and general 
training and resources. For example:

• Resources for dealing with transformation, 
five ways to well-being on the website 
(www.adyach.cymru). Great use was made 
of the website.

• Seasons for Growth Programme 
(for dealing with loss and grief) and 
Mindfulness

• Supervision for ELSA assistants (Emotional 
Literacy Support Assistant) which 
supported vulnerable pupils during this 
period

• Well-being sessions for Head Teachers 

• And as a new addition, resources to 
respond to the period of uncertainty for 
years 11-13.

The welfare service supports schools 
to promote attendance. Difficulties with 

attendance can arise for a range of reasons 
e.g. behavioural, emotional and/or social 
difficulties. During the period, elements of 
the role of the Welfare Officers have changed 
unavoidably with the usual arrangements 
for prosecuting parents on hold. Throughout 
the Covid-19 period, they have supported 
the schools by giving assistance to learners 
and their families if they had difficulties 
attending school for many reasons as a 
result of Covid-19. These difficulties have 
included anxiety about the virus and the new 
arrangements, lack of incentive because of 
the situation, as well as historical difficulties 
continuing and intensifying.

During lockdown, 152 individuals in years 
7-10 were identified as requiring support in 
terms of their well-being, with 80% having 
weekly engagement and 20% on an ad-hoc 
basis by undertaking activity packs sent to the 
home, support with fitness and diet, support 
with emotional well-being, support on the 
school site, together with ADTRAC provision 
for year 11 learners who were at a high risk of 
becoming NEET. 

In addition, ESTYN identified that the 

Page 92



This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the Gwynedd 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring that 
Gwynedd residents can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest 

quality which will enable us to do 
what we want to do.

• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Live with dignity and 

independently for as long as 
possible.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 60

Education Department had given purposeful 
support for heads and school staff, striking 
an effective balance between supporting 
heads, staff and learners with well-being and 
promoting learning.  Here is a cameo from the 
ESTYN Thematic Report (January 2021):

‘Balancing support for wellbeing and 
promoting learning

The education officers for primary and 
secondary schools held regular meetings 
with every head teacher. In these meetings, 
there was a particular focus on schools’ 
success in engaging with vulnerable 
learners.  She has ensured that secondary 
school staff have all received extra training 
in how to provide well for pupils with special 
educational needs. In addition, all head 
teachers have received beneficial training 
on mental and emotional wellbeing. This 
is to ensure that head teachers feel well 
supported in managing their own wellbeing 
as well as feeling empowered to support 
that of their staff.  Head teachers have noted 
that this training and support has been highly 
valuable.’

Catering and Cleaning

Catering and cleaning staff responded 
positively to the various demands on them 
during the year. At the beginning of lockdown, 
the catering service provided packed 
lunches for learners who were eligible for 
free school meals, however, only 224 eligible 
children came to collect the packed lunches. 
Consequently, from 20 April until September 
2020, direct payments were arranged for 
learners who were eligible for free school 
meals, with 2,249 children receiving a free 
meal direct payment on 14 August 2020. 
These direct payments continued throughout 
the school holiday period until Easter 
2021. After schools were re-opened, direct 
payments were arranged for eligible children 
who were a part of a bubble in a school and 
who were required to self-isolate, with the 

remaining eligible children receiving free 
lunches at the schools. 

In addition, 230 catering staff assisted with 
cleaning schools during the day from 29 June 
2020 until 17 July 2020.  Since September 
2020, staff clean schools during the day and 
after school, and despite staffing challenges 
within the service, the catering service has 
managed to provide the usual school meals 
every day to all Gwynedd pupils. 

Period Poverty

A grant was received from Welsh Government 
to address period poverty in the community 
and at our schools in order to allow girls to 
access hygiene products free of charge. As a 
result of the grant, period products are now 
available to all school learners from years 
5-13 who need them, and during lockdown, 
learners were able to contact their school for 
products. In addition, the TRAC 11-24 scheme 
distributed packs of eco-friendly reusable 
period products for vulnerable people, 
deprived people or people who were not 
in contact with the main-stream education 
system. Over 160 packs were distributed 
to all parts of the county.  Work has been 
undertaken to distribute packs directly within 
communities also, with 420 packs shared with 
community groups which have been set up 
to support vulnerable individuals and families 
during this period. 

Page 93

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2161

Adults, Health and Well-being 

Together with the work this department 
undertakes to realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the remainder of its ‘day-
to-day’ work also contributes to the Council’s 
ambition by providing the timely support 
necessary to allow the people of Gwynedd to 
live their lives as they wish. 

Covid-19

The Covid-19 crisis that struck in March 
2020 has posed significant challenges to 
the department throughout 2020/21. Taking 
account of the unprecedented year we have 
had, the department’s performance has 
been good. This department’s work carries 
on regardless during the pandemic, and the 
focus had to be on adapting and changing 
the support given to residents. We saw during 
the year that many required support in the 
same way as usual, if not more support, and 
some decisions to suspend some services 
were very difficult to make. Some of our day 
centre services were closed for a period of 
time, and some centres remain closed due 
to the risks involved, however our staff did 
their best to provide support outside in the 
community wherever possible. Nevertheless, 
the department has managed to continue 
to provide most of its services (through 
alternative means in some situations) and has 
made a great effort to enable and support our 
independent care providers to be able to do 
the same.

One major challenge for many of the 
individuals and their families whom we 
support was the need to prevent visitors 
from visiting care homes. This of course had 
a negative effect on residents and families.  
Despite the restrictions, every effort was 
made to facilitate visits in situations of serious 
illness. 

At the beginning of the crisis, there were 
periods of uncertainty and lack of guidance 
on aspects such as discharging patients from 
hospitals. In response to this, guidelines were 
put in place to ensure clarity for front-line 
workers and to safeguard our residents. Also 
at the beginning of the crisis, there was a very 
worrying shortage of PPE equipment, and 
constant changes in the guidance caused 
uncertainty for our care staff. Furthermore, 
the need for some staff to self-isolate for 
various reasons highlighted the recruitment 
challenges we have been facing for many 
years. There is more information about PPE 
issues in the Covid-19 chapter of the report, 
and about recruitment in the information on 
Improvement Priorities. 

Something else the service had to adapt 
to and cope with was the need to regularly 
test front-line staff and residents who were 
being supported. Although this was key 
to preventing transmission, the constant 
changes to the arrangements have been 
challenging, and contributed at times to 
uncertainty arising from having to wait for 
the results, or because the guidelines at the 
time did not allow testing some cohorts of 
staff. Alongside having to deal with these new 
requirements, we should acknowledge the 
heroic effort seen across the field to vaccinate 
key staff and our vulnerable residents. 

Flexibility within the department’s services 
and staff to take on new responsibilities and 
duties overnight was essential to our success 
in responding to the crisis. An excellent 
example of this was the establishment of the 
Covid-19 Support Team and the arrangements 
that were put in place at the start of the 
pandemic, and which continue, to support 
care providers across the county. There is 
more information about these aspects in the 
Covid-19 chapter at the start of the report.

Page 94



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 62

A further challenge for us now of course is to 
weigh up our options as we aim to re-build 
better, address lessons learned, and in doing 
so consider the shape of our services for the 
future. As part of this we must assess the 
longer-term effect of the pandemic on our 
communities and the demand there will be on 
our services. We will begin that journey during 
the year ahead by revisiting our ‘population 
needs assessment’. 

One positive by-product of the Covid-19 
crisis is the fact that it highlighted the 
key importance of the role of care staff in 
maintaining and supporting health services, 
and it is pleasing to see this being recognised. 
It will be vital that we ensure that this 
recognition continues in future, to ensure 
better collaboration and services of the 
highest quality for our residents. 

Older People, Physical and Sensory 
Disabilities

The work on the Community Health and Care 
Transformation Programme is ongoing, with 
emphasis on integrating the essential culture 
within our five Local Teams and equipping 
leaders and staff to ensure that they keep 
what matters to the individual at the heart of 
their care. These teams, which include health 
and care staff, and staff from the third sector 
and independent sector, have regular contact 
on a patch-level; they share information and 
resources, work together to understand the 
situation locally and address any barriers. 
Other elements of the programme include 
projects that facilitate hospital discharges, 
a project for sharing information across 
agencies, and the project on redesigning 
domiciliary care across the county.

Although the timetable has slipped slightly 
because of Covid-19, the plans are going 
ahead, and our vision continues to focus on 
moving the domiciliary care services towards 

a patch-based model, and commissioning 
based on outcomes for individuals and social 
value. We intend to conduct a tendering 
process for specific areas during the coming 
year. 

Our main indicator as a service now is whether 
we have achieved what is important to the 
individual whom we are supporting.  The 
data during the past year shows that we have 
achieved this in 71% of those cases. We then 
managed to partly achieve what is important 
in 23% of the cases, which unfortunately 
leaves 6% (24 individuals) where we were 
unsuccessful in achieving what matters to 
them.

Many had decided to stop their care for a 
period of time at the beginning of the first 
lockdown as they were in the shielding 
category, and had family supporting them 
at home. Reinstating the care for these 
individuals as families returned to work has 
proved challenging, which has contributed to 
the lack of increase in the number of people 
stating that we are achieving what is important 
to them. As expected, loneliness and lack 
of companionship has also had an effect 
on individuals’ well-being. This is reflected 
in those cases where it was not possible to 
achieve what matters to the individual, with 

Page 95

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2163

the reasons including examples such as 
being unable to see members of the family, or 
having been unable to socialise with friends in 
a day centre.

We continue to face challenges in providing 
care services within some communities in the 
county, specifically some rural areas where 
there is a shortage of carers and an ageing 
population which leads to increasing pressure 
on our services. Unfortunately, this has been 
highlighted during the Covid-19 crisis, with 
the waiting lists for domiciliary care provision 
having increased, and providers returning 
care packages to the Council due to staffing 
problems. However, more recently during 
February and March 2021, we have seen some 
encouraging improvement in the situation, 
with a reduction in the numbers waiting for a 
domiciliary care provision. 

Mental Health

The Mental Health Service is a joint integrated 
service with the Betsi Cadwladr University 
Health Board. The Health Board leads this 
service, and our social workers and Board 
colleagues are based in multi-disciplinary 
teams in the Hergest Unit and Ysbyty Alltwen.

During the pandemic, our Mental Health 
Teams have continued to support individuals, 
whether in the community or through our 
ICAN centres. This support was mainly in 
virtual form, but face-to-face visits continued 
for individuals who were deteriorating or were 
in a crisis. There is more information on the 
developments of the ICAN work available 
under the Re-design of Care Services project 
in the Improvement Priorities section.

The challenge remains to have a suitable 
practitioner to carry out work under Section 12 
of the Mental Health Act 1983. The Corporate 
Director has escalated these concerns to the 
Health Board and has requested an action 
plan to address the problem. This lack of 

provision causes delay in trying to secure 
timely admission to hospital, and there is 
a risk of the individual’s mental condition 
deteriorating further.

Learning Disabilities

The offer of preventative intervention is driving 
the improvements in the field of Learning 
Disabilities, with the focus on developing 
community-based services that address 
what matters to individuals. The service’s 
performance measure shows a positive 
performance, noting that 85% of our cases 
have reported that we achieved what matters 
to them, and a further 15% noting that we had 
partial success in achieving what matters. 
In considering the data for the past year, 
we should recognise more than ever that 
what matters to the individual can change 
depending on the situation at the time. It 
was vital that we were able to be creative 
and flexible in adapting the support for those 
individuals, in order to address what mattered 
to them through alternative approaches. 

We know that the issues that prevent us 
from fully achieving what matters mainly 
involve accommodation and employment 
opportunities. We have a project board in 
these two priority areas at present, with 
the aim of addressing the deficit, which 
corresponds with the priorities of the North 
Wales Learning Disability Transformation 
Programme. We have started working with 
Housing Associations and the Council’s 
Housing and Property Department in 
order to address the shortage of suitable 
accommodation for individuals with 
disabilities across the county. Providing 
training opportunities and work experiences 
for individuals with learning disabilities is 
also a priority, which will enable individuals 
to learn and participate in society. As well as 
working alongside private sector employers, 
it is important that we as a service and as a 
Council lead the way. A Community Hub is 

Page 96



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 64

being developed in Dolfeurig, Dolgellau and 
a ‘Meals on Wheels’ Service is being operated 
in the area of Ffôr, Pwllheli, in cooperation 
with Agoriad. These two provisions will 
offer opportunities for training and paid 
employment.

During the lockdown, we managed to 
continue with sessions to promote individuals’ 
well-being - physical, emotional and social. 
We have provided virtual sessions such as 
yoga, dance, art with a local artist, a quiz, a 
disco as well as a Makaton Choir and much 
more. Other activities were also held, such 
as walking groups in the community and 
confidential ‘Blwch Siarad’ discussion sessions 
in collaboration with Mind. During the year, 
134 individuals received support or joined the 
sessions. 

The service also managed to continue 
to provide one-to-one day and respite 
opportunities in some priority situations and 
has provided bespoke services by using our 
community hubs flexibly in order to adhere 
to Covid-19 regulations. In addition, since 
September, the Learning Disabilities Service 
has started using a new respite unit in Pwllheli 
to provide an overnight respite service for 
individuals with disabilities, which helps carers 
with the substantial pressure they are under, 
and ensures that we meet the need before a 
more intensive intervention is required.

Well-being

We are working to improve quality of life by 
connecting people, but we also focus on 
supporting family/unpaid carers.  
A Facebook page was set up during the 
pandemic to support people’s well-being by 
promoting Public Health Wales’ Five Ways to 
Well-being. On the page we shared a broad 
range of information and health and well-
being events in Gwynedd. A creative fortnight 
was also held on-line under the title Well-
being for Me between 18-31 January this 

year, with the aim of supporting the mental 
well-being of the individuals who took part. 
The event was free of charge to anyone over 
18, and all the activities were based on the 
‘Five Ways to Well-being’. These included 
creative activities, videos, conversations, 
ideas, inspiration, a sense of supporting each 
other and a booklet to guide each individual 
through the period.

The Covid-19 crisis has certainly highlighted 
the pressures on unpaid carers and during 
2020/21 we worked with other organisations 
to establish the Gwynedd Carers Network, 
where work took place during the year to 
support unpaid carers during the pandemic. 
The ‘Looking After Someone’ booklet was also 
prepared to support carers. In August 2020, 
an Online Carers Festival was held for three 
weeks, with the aim of providing information, 
supporting the well-being of carers and 
having fun. Alongside this, a Carers’ Rights 
Day was held, which was an online campaign 
to raise awareness of carers’ rights. We have 
also been part of a partnership to produce 
an ID card and App for Young Carers. The 
app makes it easier for young carers and 
their families to get support and notify their 
schools of any situations that arise, and we 
will be running a pilot of the app soon.

Our Internal Provision

As a Council we have 13 residential homes 
(11 for older adults, and two for people with 
learning disabilities) and we are very proud 
of the way the service has managed to 
maintain the quality of the care throughout 
the pandemic.

During the year homes have faced several 
challenges, and residents and staff have 
adapted incredibly well.  We are extremely 
proud of the efforts and the commitment to 
put people’s well-being at the heart of the 
provision, encouraging them to keep in touch 
with their families through technology, to 

Page 97

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2165

participate in religious services online and 
to run activities to entertain them. We have 
committed to upgrading Wi-Fi connections in 
all homes, and new equipment has now been 
installed in almost every home.

We have continued with the programme 
of investment and modernisation of our 
homes in order to improve quality and secure 
bespoke resources to meet service users’ 
needs. Renovation work has been completed 
at our home in Llan Ffestiniog, and work is 
being undertaken in our homes in Dolgellau 
and Barmouth.

In relation to the department’s Local 
Priorities, work has commenced on an Extra 
Care Housing development in Pwllheli. In line 
with this, we will also be looking at improving 
the care provision in rural Llŷn in future. The 
work of identifying sites for a development 
in the Dolgellau area and other areas in 
Meirionnydd is also continuing. We aim to 
have a definite plan in place on at least one of 
the sites by spring 2022.

This work is being further addressed as part of 
the ‘Redesigning Care Services’ project in the 
Improvement Priorities section. 

Safeguarding and Community Safety

In a 12 month period, 598 safeguarding 
enquiries have been made, 93% of which 
were completed within 7 days. This 
percentage is lower than last year (95%) as 
a result of the significant increase this year 
in the number of safeguarding reports (437 
enquiries in 2019/20).  However, although 
7% of enquiries were not completed within 
7 days, it should be noted that they were 
addressed and the risks were managed in all 
cases.  

It should be noted that the figure above 
includes those cases where the individuals 
refused intervention (the risk was managed 
98% of the time with the exception of those 
cases).

Our Community Safety work happens in 
partnership across Gwynedd and Anglesey in 
order to tackle and reduce crime and disorder 
to improve the safety and well-being of the 
residents of both counties. The Partnership’s 
2020-21 plan has been completed, and the 
2021-22 plan has been prepared.

The workload in this field has increased 
during the year. The most obvious example of 
this is the work relating to Domestic Homicide 
Reviews (DHRs). We are currently working on 
four reviews, which is undoubtedly limiting our 
ability to be able to give attention to other key 
matters.  

Quality Assurance

We have redirected resources temporarily in 
order to increase our capacity to complete the 
quality assurance work in a more proactive 
way. We have continued to improve our work 
by gathering information early on; however, 

Page 98

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Residents/Documents-Residents/Community-Safety/Local-Community-Safety-Plan-21.pdf


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 66

we continue to see a shortage in permanent 
capacity to complete the preventative work in 
full. This shortage was highlighted during the 
Covid-19 crisis where the full team capacity 
(three full-time workers and one part-time 
worker), as well as additional capacity from 
other teams in the department, focused on 
supporting our care partners. There is more 
information about this work in the Covid-19 
chapter at the start of the report.

During January 2021 the department was 
inspected by Care Inspectorate Wales. We are 
pleased to report that they provided positive 
feedback, and we should also acknowledge 
how challenging the timing of the visit was, 
considering our efforts and the prioritisation 
that had to happen at the time in response to 
the second wave of the pandemic. 

Business Service 

A high proportion of the Business Service’s 
work over the past year was driven by the 
pandemic. Whether this was by redirecting 
staff, supporting providers with the testing 
arrangements or administrating extra financial 
assistance to the field. Despite having to 
prioritise work, the core work of supporting 
the front-line teams in the care field could 
continue, and there are also examples of 
where we could capitalise on the opportunity 
to improve and streamline some of our 
work processes such as our method of 
paying independent residential and nursing 
providers.

Commissioned provision 

In respect of provision that is commissioned, 
we acknowledge and are grateful for all the 
work that has happened to respond to the 
pandemic and to look after our vulnerable 
residents across the county. Specifically 
in the Older People field, for example, we 
have faced several challenging situations 
during the year where we had to work 

closely with providers and relevant agencies. 
Unfortunately we saw Penrhos Home near 
Pwllheli closing in the autumn, and individuals 
and their families were supported during 
this difficult time, and individuals were 
facilitated to move to other care homes of 
their choosing. We supported a number of 
other homes that faced challenges during the 
year, on matters such as management and 
leadership. 

The need to look at improving the salaries of 
front-line staff has become more apparent 
than ever, and we will need to ensure full 
input into the wider discussions that will be 
taking place in respect of this. This aspect 
is a key part of what has been identified as 
an improvement priority to ensure a secure 
workforce for the future. This has contributed 
partially to the challenge faced by Local 
Authorities across Wales in terms of the 
standard fees that are paid to care providers 
to care for our residents. Over the coming 
year, we will work together with providers to 
gain a better understanding of the actual cost 
of providing care, and offer options on the 
way forward which would contribute to the 
sustainability and stability of the market.

Summary 

During a difficult year, the department’s 
performance has been good. The main 
matters that will need addressing further 
during 2021/22 and beyond are:  

• Continuing with the re-design of our 
care services, further promoting the 
work of strengthening resilience in our 
communities

• Securing a suitable and sustainable care 
provision across the county

• Ensuring a secure workforce in the care 
field for the future

Page 99

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the following 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring that 
Gwynedd residents can: 

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live in quality homes within their 

communities.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Live with dignity and independently 

for as long as possible.

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2167

• Building and adapting our services, taking 
account of lessons learned from the 
pandemic

Page 100



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 68

Children and Supporting Families 

Together with the work this department 
undertakes to realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the remainder of its ‘day-
to-day’ work also contributes to the Council’s 
ambition. 

Clearly, this year has been a very different year 
for us all. We have had to change our way of 
working in order to ensure the health, safety 
and well-being of children and their families 
throughout this challenging time. At the end 
of a year such as this, it is good to be able 
to look back and state that our practice and 
performance generally across the Children 
field have remained strong. It was good to 
receive positive feedback once more from 
Care Inspectorate Wales after their visit to our 
services in January 2021. The department was 
praised for succeeding to keep in touch with 
children and families through visits, keeping in 
touch via calls and virtually. The department 
was praised for its professionalism and for 
our workers’ efforts to support the stability of 
families and placements, and provide every 
possible support to keep families together 
during this challenging time.

The department managed to continue to 
support and safeguard children and keep 
children and their families together in a 
context of restrictions on the usual ways of 
working; adopted PPE, testing and vaccination 
procedures; diverted staff to lead the work of 
the Covid-19 Support Team and to the Test, 
Trace and Protect Team. We developed new 
interventions and services to safeguard and 
address the needs of families as they coped 
with the pandemic such as weekly food boxes 
for three months to every household where 
there was a child on the protection register; 
provided baby goods boxes for new mums 
in deprived areas; provided food packs to 
support the placements of post-care young 
people; supported schemes to create and 

provide Arts and Gardening Activity Packs and 
Play Sacks to homes throughout the county. 
The county’s young people have benefited 
from on-line chat and support forums, social 
activities such as making music, quizzes, 
fitness and cookery - all online - in an effort 
to build resilience and promote well-being in 
difficult times.

Play and fun sessions were provided for 
families supported by our Social Work Teams 
over the summer holidays.

Partners in the third sector were 
commissioned to provide new support to 
target young parents who were at a higher 
risk of reaching the care threshold with their 
parenting skills, and additional support for 
families to deal with conflict, with mental 
health and well-being challenges and specific 
support for fathers. We will continue to 
commission these services beyond the crisis 
period due to the successful results for our 
families.

We welcomed the new opportunities that 
came about as a result of having to work 
virtually and some families will continue to 
choose to engage with our services in this 
way in the future. We have also seen the 
lockdown period beneficial for a number of 
our families as they left behind the pressures 
of life and had the time to focus on their 
relationships.

The crisis has meant that a number of external 
agencies have re-located staff or made 
decisions to protect the well-being of staff 
and avoid face-to-face contact with children 
and families. This has led to a reduction 
in children and families being identified 
and referred to us for support; less contact 
between other agencies with children and 
families and has meant that, at times, the 

Page 101

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2169

department’s workers were the only workers 
in touch with vulnerable families providing 
support and assistance. 

While accepting that partners have, like us, 
been through a period of change and new 
challenges, some agencies’ willingness to 
step back has made us concerned about 
everyone’s ownership of ensuring that 
children are safeguarded. Care Inspectorate 
Wales noted that we had acted as the sole 
agency in the field of safeguarding at times 
during the year. Nevertheless, we have 
continued to maintain high standards when 
responding to referrals, which could be 
safeguarding referrals, or referrals for care and 
support.

We have continued to offer early support for 
families when needs are highlighted. From 
providing advice and information via our 
Families Hub, to providing direct support for 
matters such as parenting skills, challenging 
behaviours of children, conflict in families and 
development delay in children. When a family 
needs support to deal with several matters, 
our Team Around the Family co-ordinates 
support for them, and 61 families received 
support from a co-ordinator during 2020/21. 

We have escalated and adapted our existing 
programmes such as Flying Start, Families 
First and the Play and Childcare Offer and 
established new programmes such as the 
Child Development Programme to maintain 
our preventative services.  

As part of their day-to-day work, the Social 
Work Teams offer timely support and 
intervention for children and their families 
and draw on more specialised interventions if 
appropriate.

The Trobwynt Team works intensively with 
vulnerable children and families, and children 
who are on the verge of going into care.  They 
are able to support families with matters 

such as parenting, counselling, substance 
misuse, meetings to bring in members of the 
extended family, mediation, family therapy, 
and support to cope with adverse childhood 
experiences (ACE’s). We are continuing to 
develop this specialist support, depending on 
the needs and feedback of families.

One such specialist project is Reflection, 
which offers specialist support to parents 
who have children in the care system on a 
permanent basis. During 2020/21, support 
was provided to nine parents. On average, 
women report progress in 7 out of 10 of 
their personal results. This includes better 
incentive, taking responsibility and life skills.

We have also established the Emrallt Teams, 
with the aim of reducing the number of 
harmful sexual behaviour cases being referred 
to statutory services following an incident 
of abuse, by means of a number of timely 
and appropriate interventions. In order to 
meet our aim, we have invested substantially 
in awareness raising events and access to 
preventative and specialist training packages 
by Brook, the NSPCC and AIM. 

The success of collaboration between 
families and the team means that a number of 
children have been able to stay at home with 
their families, some have been able to return 
home from foster and residential care, as well 
as ensuring that vulnerable foster placements 
have been substantially stabilised. 

At the end of March 2021, 281 children were in 
the Council’s care, and 71% of these received 
care in a foster placement, with 35% of those 
foster carers either friends or family members, 
and 18% of looked-after children were placed 
with their parents, and therefore remained at 
home. 

Compared with the number of looked-after 
children over recent years, there has been a 
gradual increase from 194 (in 2015/16) to 291 

Page 102



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 70

(in 2019/20); this year (2020/21) we have seen 
a slight decrease for the first time to 281. This 
decrease could be starting to show that our 
strategy to keep families together is having 
an impact, therefore, this strategy is a priority 
for the department for 2021/22, in order to 
continue with the aim of reducing the number 
of looked-after children.

Children and young people come into our 
care under highly challenging circumstances, 
but we are as ambitious for these children as 
we would be for our own children. We have 
Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO) who 
monitor the care plans of each child and 
young person we look after, and they assure 
us as a Council that the interests of the child 
are safeguarded throughout their time in 
care. In 2020/21, care plan reviews and child 
protection conferences were held virtually. 
This has brought challenges but has also 
led to new opportunities to contact children 
and their families. Despite the restrictions 
of the pandemic in maintaining reviews and 
day-to-day work, our officers have continued 
to succeed to sustain and develop our 
relationship with children and their families. 
Care Inspectorate Wales praised our work in 
this field following their inspection.

Our ability as a Council to place children with 
foster parents is a key part of the service 
for children. We as a Council are extremely 
proud of our foster parents, and the Fostering 
Team continues to ensure that we have 
enough foster parents to meet the needs 
of children who cannot reside at home. Our 
virtual campaign this year managed to recruit 
more carers and attracted 16 enquiries. 
Also this year, we established a helpline for 
foster carers to support them through this 
challenging year.

The Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Unit 
provides assurances to the Council that our 
safeguarding arrangements are robust. In 
2020/21, 389 child protection ‘conferences’ 

were held. The percentage of the case 
conferences where it was considered that 
the risk assessments were high quality was 
97% and was consistent with the recent years. 
This consistently high performance shows the 
impact of our investment in practice to ensure 
good decisions that protect the rights of 
children and their families. This work remains 
a priority through the innovative Effective 
Child Protection work.

Hearing and listening to the voice of the child 
has remained a priority for us over the past 
year. The Corporate Parent Panel has been 
working to strengthen this aspect of its work 
so that it maintains close links with what 
matters to the children in our care.

Unfortunately, during 2020/21, some of our 
previous priorities have slipped somewhat or 
have been put to one side for the time being 
in order to focus on maintaining and providing 
our essential services.  

Several aspects of the North Wales Child 
Transformation Programme, which was 
intended to trial new methods of working 
and new interventions in order to improve 
and change services, were delayed. It was 
not possible for us to proceed with a joint 
scheme with the Adults Social Services to 
identify different ways of working with children 
and parents within families who come into 
contact with our department. We also failed 
to establish a Multi-disciplinary Sub-Regional 
Team which would provide intensive, short-
term support for families with profound and 

Page 103

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2171

complex needs. The aim of the pilot was to 
respond to the change in the looked-after 
children population profile, the increase in the 
average cost of residential placements, and 
the lack of availability of specialist placements 
to address profound and complex needs. As 
addressing profound and complex needs in 
families remains a priority and a risk for us, we 
will resume this priority for 2021/22.

We are also in a better position by now to be 
able to move on with realising the findings 
of the review of services for children with 
autism. In 2021/22, we will establish an Autism 
Scheme in Gwynedd jointly with our partners.

We are extremely fortunate of our workforce 
yet again this year. During this challenging 
year, we have been required to divert staff to 
respond to staffing gaps in teams in order to 
maintain and adapt services safely in order 
to safeguard and support children and their 
families. The willingness and flexibility of our 
workers to respond to these staffing needs 
shows their continued commitment to the 
service and to the vulnerable families of 
Gwynedd. However, recruiting, developing 
the workforce and maintaining and supporting 
workers will be a priority for us in the next 
year to respond to the staffing challenges and 
needs of our workers.

This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the Gwynedd 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring 
that Gwynedd residents can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe 
lives.

• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Live with dignity and 

independently for as long as 
possible.

Page 104



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 72

Economy and Community 

Together with the work this Department 
undertakes to realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the remainder of its ‘day-
to-day’ work also contributes to the Council’s 
ambition. 

Covid-19 has created an economic crisis in 
2020 which continues to date. At the same 
time, leaving the European Union has created 
challenges for a great number of businesses 
and the service has tried to advise Gwynedd 
businesses with trading arrangements 
and new markets. Prior to this, Gwynedd’s 
economy had been performing fairly well at a 
Wales level but not in comparison with other 
regions of Britain and Europe.  Salary levels 
in Gwynedd are much lower than in other 
parts of Wales and the productivity value of 
Gwynedd businesses is low compared to 
other areas.  Gwynedd Council took proactive 
measures in 2020/21 to try to save and sustain 
local businesses, support local residents who 
have lost their employment and create the 
conditions which would enable businesses to 
recover and grow in the future. 

We have changed our priorities and re-
directed our efforts to respond to the crisis 
and formed new teams from across the 
department to work closely with other parts of 
the Council.   

In 2020/21, 1,550  businesses received 
support from the department, an 520% 
increase compared with 2019/20. 

At its peak, the department was responding 
to up to 500 enquiries per week from local 
businesses as a result of Covid-19.

As well as distributing financial support, the 
department has worked hard over the past 
year to ensure that local businesses have the 
best information about the trading guidelines 
and advice as a result of Brexit and Covid-19, 
to enable them to stay ahead and keep their 
staff and customers safe.  A special page on 
the Council’s website was set up, together 
with a newsletter which is now being sent to 
over 4,370 local businesses at least twice a 
week. The feedback from businesses to these 
bulletins has been very positive.

Despite the pandemic, the demand from 
businesses for more suitable land and 
property has continued. The Council has 
committed a budget of £2 million in order to 
respond to this demand and work to prepare 
schemes has started. 

The work of preparing the Gwynedd 
Regeneration Framework has also started 
in 2020 and 13 area plans will be prepared 
in 2021/22 to identify local priorities for the 
future. Welsh Government’s town centre 
regeneration programmes have continued 
over the past year and the importance 
of regenerating the high street has been 
heightened. A range of schemes have been 

Developing Gwynedd’s Economy

Page 105

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Supporting Strong and Healthy 
Communities

Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2173

developed in Bangor city centre which 
contribute to improving the viability of the 
high street, including schemes to renovate 
nine empty properties.

As a result of Covid-19, the department has 
reviewed its regeneration arrangements 
and has established contact points for 20 
towns or destinations within the county in 
order to share information effectively with 
Local Members and the business sector. 
These arrangements have been crucial in 
order to share information about support 
and measures for re-opening safely. The 
department was successful with bids for 
financial support to create improvements to 
these towns, together with supporting 59 
businesses to adapt their ways of working in 
response to the restrictions. 

The tourism industry is a key employer in 
Gwynedd. With an economic value of over 
£1.3 billion, over 18,000 people work in this 
field.  This is one of the sectors that has been 
hit hardest as a result of Covid-19 due to 
restrictions on businesses to recover safely. 
During 2020/21, emphasis was placed on 
providing information for the visitor sector 
to enable them to respond to the crisis. 
Responsible destination and visiting safely 
messages were shared on the Snowdonia 
Mountains and Coast website with over 
576,000 hits to the website. As the visitor 
economy has been closed for a substantial 
part of the year, the figure is lower than 
the previous year (944,000). 67,900 people 
engaged with us via our social media 
accounts. A review of tourism priorities in the 
area was completed, which will be the basis 
for sustainable visitor economy principles for 
the period until 2030. 

During 2020/21, we saw new visitors coming 
to Gwynedd, a vast number of whom were not 
used to rural or coastal areas in Britain and 
problems arose as a result of that. Though 
the department responded e.g. by employing 

safety officers for specific locations, it was not 
possible to respond in every case because 
of a lack of resources and the size of the 
demand.

The Department manages 301km of the 
Gwynedd coastline, concentrating on eight 
Blue Flag beaches, several other urban 
and rural beaches, four harbours and two 
marinas. During the year, attention was given 
to reviewing the management arrangements 
for the Pwllheli marina and harbour for the 
future and to programme detailed dredging 
work at Pwllheli Harbour while also looking at 
sustainable options for the future. 

The Community Support Service has 
continued to support voluntary groups during 
2020/21, as well as supporting new groups 
which have formed in order to offer support 
to vulnerable individuals in the communities. 
It has been a challenging time for community 
groups and the service has been assisting 
them to overcome some of the challenges 
they face. The service has been involved with 
the work of co-ordinating town centre groups 
in order to identify and consult on Covid-19 
measures. 

A Community Support Fund has funded 21 
projects this year, attracting £206,000 in funds 
to the county. The service has also allocated 
£25,000 in funds to support the voluntary 
Covid-19 campaign on behalf of Magnox. 

While following the Government’s safety 
guidelines, the county’s libraries were 
closed at the beginning of the financial year. 
During this time, Welsh Government made 
a substantial investment in the national 
digital offer, and we have seen a significant 

Page 106



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 74

increase in loans of e-books, e-audio books 
and e-magazines and access was provided 
from home to the ancestry website for 
users. Gwynedd Libraries have also invested 
in digital services where users can have 
access to on-line national and international 
newspapers free of charge. Figures for the 
use of e-resources are not currently available.

With restrictions being lifted, some of the 
county’s principal libraries were opened 
during July 2020, with all libraries open by 
September for click and collect and delivery 
services only. Also, the Home Library 
service (House-bound) was restored and 
a completely new system was established 
where library users could contact to order 
books either by phone, e-mail or on-line, 
with an option to collect the packs from their 
library or get their packs delivered to their 
homes.  Many chose this option for various 
reasons, and it was an essential option for 
those people who were shielding or were 
vulnerable for health reasons.

During 2020/21, 77,641 items were loaned 
(which is 18% of the usual annual figure) 
with approximately 2,000 people using the 
service on a monthly basis (compared with 
7,000 per month in a normal year).  During the 
nine months between July and March, 2,385 
packs were distributed to homes, which was 
265 packs per month on average, and we 
also managed to offer period products free 
of charge through the Tackling Poverty grant 
scheme, and we received over 500 orders, 
with the stock running out within days. 

We started to provide on-line story times for 
families at the beginning of January 2021. 
During this period, 24 live on-line sessions 
were held with 179 children and adults 
attending.

We worked with the Fusion Network on a 
commission to provide packs of books for 
the Family Reading Scheme. 135 packs were 

created and distributed with the families of 
Foundation Phase children in the target areas.

We also worked with Arloesi Gwynedd Wledig 
and the Circular Economy schemes in Wales 
to secure funding to establish a ‘Library of 
Things’ in three locations in Gwynedd.
Some Library Service staff supported the 
Covid-19 Community Calls Teams as well 
during the initial period.

Neuadd Dwyfor has been closed during 
2020/21, due to the Covid-19 restrictions. 
However, construction work on the 
improvement project commenced in 
November following a successful bid for 
capital investment to the Council and work 
to plan a new working model was started, 
in discussions with the Library team and the 
Theatre/Cinema team which would see both 
teams providing one service for Neuadd 
Dwyfor customers.  A Service User Team 
was set up also to support this project. We 
managed to attract £125,000 from Welsh 
Government to the re-development project.

The Council continues to maintain galleries, 
museums and archives in Gwynedd.  In 
2020/21, the museums and galleries arranged 
community and educational activities. 10 new 
learning packs were provided on-line. 120 
arts packs were sent out to the community. 
Six schools and 55 families were supported 
by the Family Learning Signature from Home. 
It was ensured that the collections were safe 
during Lockdown, and when Storiel opened 
during October/November 73% of the visitors 
were from Gwynedd. 

Gwynedd children and people were 
supported by 27 Community Arts projects. 
One example was “Well-being for Me” where 
83% saw an improvement in their well-being. 
23 organisations/artists received a grant and 
a Keep Going conference was arranged for 
the sector. 5,000 watched live concerts by 
musicians from Gwynedd on Facebook. Over 

Page 107

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2175

1,000 busy packs were distributed to children 
and families in the county through food banks 
and other partners.

A scrapbook of all the Community Arts 
activities is available here. A successful 
conference was held on Zoom to highlight 
how the arts had changed, experimented 
and succeeded to hold activities and support 
communities, individuals and well-being of 
the people of Gwynedd during Lockdown.

The Archives were closed for most of the 
year, but it was possible to open for a limited 
number for a period of 13 weeks. During 
those weeks, 191 visited and viewed 2,558 
documents. During the year, the service 
responded to 2,174 enquiries, 23,339 used our 
on-line catalogues, and during Lockdown we 
provided 143 collections to be added to our 
on-line catalogues. It was not possible for the 
Education Officer to visit the schools, but 42 
unique packs of resources were created for 
various schools.

The department is responsible for a network 
of 12 Byw’n Iach centres across Gwynedd. 
Since 2019, these centres have been 
managed through an agreement with Byw’n 
Iach Cyf. company. The centres have been 
closed for extensive periods in 2020/21 due to 
the Covid-19 restrictions. When we managed 
to open the doors in September 2020, 91% 
of users reported that they were happy or 
very happy with the Byw’n Iach service. In 
response to Covid-19, Byw’n Iach company 
started a virtual exercise service and held 818 
virtual fitness sessions during that time.

Despite the fact that several officers from the 
Sports Teams were working on the Test, Trace 
and Protect (TTP) scheme for the majority of 
the year, we managed to continue to offer 
inclusive participation opportunities in sports 
and physical activities. The majority of these 
sessions were virtual, but when possible, the 
team continued to visit schools and offered 

fitness improvement sessions - outdoors - 
together with many different courses and 
competitions. The team also promoted and 
offered support to Gwynedd sports clubs to 
complete bids for various grants from Sport 
Wales which offered financial support as a 
result of Covid-19. 

The Department is responsible for two Rural 
Parks - Parc Glynllifon and Parc Padarn. 
During 2020/21, both parks had to close to 
visitors during the lockdown periods due to 
Covid-19 restrictions. The Quarry Hospital has 
been closed to the public throughout the year 
due to adaptations within the building which 
include measures to ensure the safety of the 
wardens.

During 2020/21, Glynllifon was successful in 
its bid for Welsh Government’s Sustainable 
Management Scheme funds and work 
to restore some historical structures and 
improving safety in the Park has started. The 
priority in Parc Padarn was also ensuring 
the safety of the public, and conservation 
architects were appointed to inspect the site’s 
structure and put new safety measures in 
place.

Local Priorities - The Council’s Plan
 
One of the local priorities noted in the 
Council’s Plan is the desire to attract more 
long-term, highly-paid jobs. Members in the 
Porthmadog, Ffestiniog and Penllyn areas 
noted this as a high priority for their areas. The 
Create High Value Jobs project has been set 
up in order to respond to the problem and 
it focuses on opportunities which will bring 
benefits to these communities (see Part 1 of 
this report).

Improving the poor connectivity of mobile 
phones and broadband in the Dolgellau area 
is another local priority. We are pressing on 
Welsh Government to prioritise the County 

Page 108

https://www.gwyneddgreadigol.com/newyddion.php?s=llyfr-lloffion-celfyddydau-cymunedol-gwynedd-2020-2021-blwyddyn-cofnodau-clo-covid&lang=eng


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 76

for plans in the field, thus adhering to the 
principles of Digital Gwynedd together with 
working enthusiastically with the North 
Wales Economic Ambition Board and Arloesi 
Gwynedd Wledig to meet the need. 

Because of concerns around the future 
of the Ffestiniog Community Centre, the 
regeneration team recently conducted 
a review of public buildings throughout 
Gwynedd. This review showed that public 
buildings in Blaenau Ffestiniog, including the 
Community Centre, were used ineffectively 
and this identified an opportunity to improve 
resource sharing in future. 

This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the Gwynedd 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring that 
Gwynedd residents can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to 

support ourselves and our families.
• Live in quality homes within our 

communities.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Make the most of the beauty of the 

county’s natural environment.

Page 109

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2177

Highways and Municipal 

The past year has been immensely different 
for us all, and has tested us to the extreme.  
However we can be proud of what has 
been achieved in new and challenging 
circumstances, and the department has 
succeeded to ensure the continuity of our 
services while responding to the needs of the 
crisis. 

Waste and Recycling

It is very important to the 
people of Gwynedd that 
their waste is collected 
when we say we will 
collect it.  During 2020/21 
approximately 4,556,708 waste collections 
were made. Of these, 10,417 complaints 
were received for a failure to collect (which 
corresponds to 0.002%). Some of these 
failures were due to matters that arose in 
relation to the crisis, but a high percentage 
related to the continuation of more 
commonplace reasons such as the impact of 
severe weather or shortcomings on our part.  
Although we are improving the experience of 
the service for the residents of Gwynedd, by 
reducing the number of missed collections, 
we have now reviewed our working 
arrangements and we are in the process 
of changing the waste collection route 
arrangements.  We have already completed 
the changes in Arfon and Dwyfor. Due to 
Covid-19 restrictions it was not possible to 
complete the work in the Meirionnydd area 
as intended in 2020/21, but the arrangements 
have now been introduced and the initial 
signs are positive. 

In response to complaints about mess and 
rubbish falling from/being left by refuse and 
recycling collection vehicles, the changes in 
the working patterns are a step forward.  We 
have seen a great improvement since the 
introduction of our new collection vehicles, 

with a reduction in the materials that are 
missed. During 2021/2022 we will continue 
to respond to our residents’ concerns by 
building and improving our arrangements for 
responding to complaints. 

It is vital to deal with waste correctly in order 
to protect our environment and avoid creating 
problems for our children and our children’s 
children. An economy that promotes reuse 
and recycling to reduce waste (known as 
the Circular Economy) is vital as we travel 
towards this aim. We are working to promote 
the circular economy in Gwynedd and are 
ensuring that schemes to reuse and repair 
play an increasing role in our day-to-day 
work. We will also arrange campaigns to 
address this important work and the county’s 
aspiration to promote reuse.   By doing this 
we can ensure that materials continue to be 
used, in order to avoid creating waste – that 
will contribute to our zero waste agenda in 
Wales.  

During the year, we have succeeded to 
attract £1.4m in grant funding in the field of 
the Circular Economy, that has enabled us to 
deliver a number of exciting projects, such as:

• Llandygai Bangor Recycling Centre 
Adaptation Project, which includes 
establishing a reuse shop

• Project to adapt equipment to treat 
recycled materials in Caergylchu, 
Caernarfon

• Community food provision project
• Warws Werdd and Antur Waunfawr joint 

project 
• Repair cafe project
• Reuse/bulk items project 
• Finish distributing the Cartgylchu

We are happy to report that we recycled, 
reused or composted 67% of Gwynedd’s 
household waste in 2020/21. This is an 

Page 110



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 78

increase of 2.26% since 2019/20. We needed 
to reach the statutory target of recycling 
64% of the county’s waste by 2019/2020 and 
our next statutory target is a performance of 
recycling 70% of the county’s waste by the 
end of March 2025.

Burying waste in the ground causes pollution 
to the land, water and the air. We hoped to 
achieve the aim of sending zero waste to 
landfill by the end of 2020/21, and with the 
Parc Adfer residual waste incineration site now 
fully operational, we are pleased to confirm 
that no waste from the county is directly 
disposed of in landfill. 

We will work on a new waste strategy for the 
county.  The strategy will consider innovative 
ways to encourage reuse and increase 
recycling in order to ensure we can achieve 
the new statutory target of 70% of all waste 
being recycled by 2025. It will also be in 
accordance with Welsh Government’s latest 
strategy. 

GwyriAD

GwyriAD is our in-county food waste 
treatment facility, which processes all the 
food waste collected on a weekly basis from 
residents and businesses.

The graph below shows that there has been 
an increase in the tonnes of domestic food 
waste that reach the site during 2020/21, 
while the tonnes of commercial food 
waste have significantly decreased. This 
demonstrates the side-effect of the pandemic 

on our collections, but having said this, we are 
pleased to note that the total tonnes of food 
waste that reaches the site is stable despite 
the crisis. 

Due to the nature of the face-to-face work 
that is involved with the efforts to increase 
food collections, the opportunities to deliver 
this work have been very scarce during 
the period of the crisis.  However, this work 
remains a priority for the department over the 
coming period.

Commercial Waste Services

We provide commercial waste and recycling 
collections to more than 2,000 business in 
the county, and over past years we have 
witnessed an improvement in the levels 
of commercial waste that is recycled or 
composted. In 2020/21 49% of commercial 
waste continued to be recycled/composted. 
Over the past year a number of businesses 
have closed due to the crisis, and one of 
our priorities for the coming period is to 
encourage our commercial businesses to take 
advantage of the recycling and food recycling 
service. 

The Appearance of Streets and the Public 
Realm 

The local environment is extremely important, 
and a central part of this is to see our streets 
and areas being clean, tidy and safe. We 
apply a measure called the ‘Cleanliness 

Page 111

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2179

Index’ (a combination of external and internal 
assessment) in order to assess the cleanliness 
and appearance of streets. In 2019/20 our 
cleanliness standard was 73% but we were 
unable to gather this data this year due to the 
crisis restrictions. Keep Wales Tidy normally 
carries out a survey to assess how many 
‘defects’ (such as rubbish, weeds, dog fouling, 
chewing gum and cigarette stumps) can be 
found on our streets, but unfortunately this 
work was not carried out during 2020/21.

There was significant pressure on the cleaning 
service and bins servicing during the re-
opening in summer 2020, with street bins 
under pressure due to the higher than usual 
number of visitors.  The department will revisit 
our cleaning arrangements and bin services 
in preparation for reopening the season in 
2021.  It is important for us to learn from last 
year’s experiences as we reopen this year.  
We will also be installing additional recycling 
bins on the streets as part of the opportunities 
for residents to recycle when visiting town 
centres.

We have also been collaborating on the 
Bangor Image project, which aims to enhance 
the city’s appearance and environment.  Some 
of the projects include getting rid of ‘to let’ 
house signs, supporting a plastic free Bangor, 
improving the appearance of the High Street 
and trialling advertising on roundabouts. As 
we consider similar partnerships throughout 
the county we realised that we needed 
to consider our vision for clean and tidy 
communities more widely, and this matter has 
now been included as a priority project in the 
Council’s Plan for 2021/22.

Grounds Maintenance

The department is responsible for maintaining 
roadside verges and open spaces in order 
to improve the environmental quality of our 
towns and villages and to make them safer 
places for residents.

Parcels of land can make a positive 
contribution to our local environment, not only 
in terms of appearance, but also due to their 
potential as habitats.  Promoting biodiversity 
within our parcels of land is now a priority and 
we have adjusted our grass-cutting patterns 
along county roads in order to promote this 
aim. We have also committed to reducing our 
use of damaging weedkillers. 

We have attracted grants for our work to 
promote natural habitats, wild flowers and 
biodiversity, as seen in the following table:

Project Description

Resilient Green 
Spaces: Greener 
Corridors and 
Spaces  

Funding source: 
Enabling Natural 
Resources and Well-
being (ENRaW) in 
Wales 

Engaging and 
supporting 
community groups 
and councils to adopt 
local verges as part 
of an enterprise to 
help protect, manage 
and increase pollen 
friendly habitats 
to ensure that 
wildlife corridors are 
increased and better 
connected.

Ffridd Rasys and 
Llwyn Isaf: Project 
to establish wild-
flowers and 
woodland on landfill 
sites

Funding source: 
Places for Nature 
Partnership 
Challenge Fund / 
Local Places for 
Nature

Establish wild-
flower meadows 
and native trees / 
hedges. Improve 
biodiversity by better 
management of 
grasslands. Better 
managements of 
rights of way, and 
more open access to 
land and water.

Page 112



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 80

Project Description

Local Places for 
Nature

Funding source: 
WCVA - Local Nature 
Partnership

A suite of projects 
that includes the 
management of 
invasive species, 
planting native trees, 
creating wild-flower 
meadows, planting 
street trees and 
pollinating plants. 
Many of the projects 
will be delivered 
in partnership with 
community groups.

Urban Green 
Infrastructure - 
Bangor

Increase the green 
infrastructure by 
replacing existing 
hard surfaces in car 
parks with green 
areas, native trees 
and sustainable 
drainage options.

Children’s Playing Fields

We know that playing fields are important 
for children, parents and childminders, but 
as play equipment is expensive and funding 
is scarce, maintaining them so that they are 
safe for children and young people to enjoy is 
challenging.

We have corresponded with community 
councils regarding their initial observations 
regarding forming partnerships and we 
will continue with these discussions during 
2021/22.  We will also contact other groups 
and partners within the community that would 
be interested in forming a partnership with the 
service.

Bereavement Service

Although the Covid-19 crisis gave rise to many 

additional challenges, we are very proud to 
report that we have succeeded in maintaining 
our bereavement service across the county 
throughout 2020/21. 

Public Toilets

There are a total of 73 public toilets in the 
county, together with 35 community toilets in 
places such as cafés, pubs etc., and 17 public 
toilets owned by Snowdonia National Park 
Authority.  Our scheme to form partnerships 
with community and town councils is now 
firmly established, and the service was 
extremely busy as the county re-opened 
over the summer 2020.  Changes had to 
be introduced to address the needs that 
arose due to the crisis, including ensuring 
that appropriate signage was in place, and 
additional cleaning arrangements.

CCTV

Technological developments in relation to 
CCTV have been introduced, and during 
2020/21 we have succeeded to expand 
the network of CCTV in the Caernarfon and 
Bangor areas.

The service has also collaborated with 
Gwynedd and Anglesey Community Safety 
Partnership to submit a bid to the Police to 
extend the network to other areas in Bangor.

Fleet Service

This service leads, manages and assists 
Council departments in order to ensure the 
appropriate, safe and lawful use of our fleet 
vehicles. 

We have also been collaborating with Welsh 
Government on the fleet de-carbonisation 
project and we are awaiting the outcome of 
the review.  One element of the work on the 
ground is to trial various vehicles during the 
summer 2020.  An electric waste collection 

Page 113

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2181

vehicle was successfully trialled in one area, 
it performed well, and was able to carry a 
similar tonnage without any problems when 
travelling in a rural area. We will trial further 
vehicles in 2021/22 with the intention of taking 
advantage of grants to change our fleet.  We 
are also part of a group that is discussing 
hydrogen, and the potential of establishing 
hubs in north Wales.

Highway Maintenance 

It is important that residents, businesses 
and visitors in Gwynedd can move with ease 
within the county.  To ensure this, we maintain 
2,697km of County Roads along with 199km 
of Trunk Roads (namely highways of national 
importance, on behalf of Welsh Government).  

While the condition remains fairly static, 
historically the condition of class C roads 
highlights the highest percentage that require 
attention.  There is significant pressure on 
our budgets to maintain our roads in good 
condition. The ‘tar and chip’ (road surfacing) 
programme was not finished during 2020/21 
due to a lack of clarity regarding the 
regulations on close proximity working during 
the first lockdown period. This could lead 
to a further deterioration by winter 2021, so 
recovering this situation will be one of the 
department’s priorities in moving forward. 

The impacts of climate change is increasingly 
a matter for us to consider as more rainfall, 
flooding and harsher winters affect our road 
surfaces. The department will continue to 
monitor and consider the situation when 
prioritising the county road maintenance 
programme.  

We are also in the process of reviewing our 
Highways Assets Maintenance Plan in order 
to reflect the new requirement to prioritise 
based on risk. 

Maintenance of Bridges and Structures

We maintain bridges and structures across 
the county. This includes undertaking 
regular statutory investigations, dealing with 
incidences of severe floods and general 
maintenance work. 

We maintain 629 bridges throughout the 
county. There are 338 arched bridges, and 
96 bridges are listed as having additional 
requirements. In addition we have 1,618 
retaining walls throughout the county that are 
also maintained by the department. 

A number of our bridges were severely 
damaged in the storms and floods during 
winter 2020 and emergency repair works had 
to be arranged to safeguard and repair them.  

It is exciting that a planning application 
has now been submitted for building Pont 
Newydd Bodfel near Pwllheli.  This will be the 
longest arched bridge to be entirely built from 
new, and we hope to begin the work during 
summer 2021.

Street Lighting

We continue to fix street lights promptly and 
it takes two and a half days on average - a 
figure that has remained broadly constant 
over recent years. 

As part of the Council’s “invest to save” 
programme, our substantial programme 
to change street lights to LED has been 
implemented over recent years.  During 
2020/2021 1,700 street lighting units and 
signs were replaced with LED, which is a 
slightly lower number than anticipated. Since 
2015/16, we have replaced more than 14,300 
street lights and signs with LED technology. 
The following table shows the reduction 
in our carbon emissions as a result of this 
programme. We are very proud to see the 
obvious benefit from these changes. 

Page 114



This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the Gwynedd 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring that 
Gwynedd residents can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Make the most of the beauty of the 

County’s natural environment.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 82

Ash Dieback Disease

Over the year we have started gathering 
data about the number of trees that have 
contracted the disease across the county.  
This work was undertaken between June and 
October while the trees were in leaf.  The data 
conveyed the scale of the problem across 
some of the council’s assets and the risks 
posed by infected trees to road users, schools 
and other council lands.  A summary of the 
results can be seen here: 

• 14,968 trees were examined
• 8,867 were on council lands or on the 

verges of highways
• 5,276 were identified as being in the red, 

high risk category

We must remember that only the first step in 
a far larger programme has been completed, 
and it is likely that it will take up to five 
years to gain control of the situation.   We 
will continue with the examinations, and 
will operate a programme of tree felling/
treatment for those in the high risk category. 
Consideration should also be given to 
recovery and re-planting work with suitable 
species as part of the climate change 
challenge. 

Page 115

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2183

Housing and Property Department

Together with the work this Department 
undertakes to realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the remainder of its ‘day-
to-day’ work also contributes to the Council’s 
ambition. 

This new department was established in 
September 2019 and the work of merging the 
Property Service and the Housing Service 
has proceeded smoothly. A new structure has 
been introduced in the Housing Service in 
order to allow us to give due attention to the 
increasing challenges in the field of affordable 
housing for the people of Gwynedd and 
responding to the homelessness crisis that 
now faces all parts of the country.

The Impact of Covid-19 on the Department’s 
work

During 2020/21, the majority of the staff have 
adapted to working from home, and where 
this is not possible we have changed working 
arrangements and methods.

Some of the Units have been significantly 
impacted due to Covid-19, mainly the 
Homelessness Unit, which has witnessed 
a significant increase in the number of 
individuals and families who present 
themselves as homeless, and the new 
statutory requirement to offer accommodation 
to anyone who is homeless, regardless of 
their circumstances. Additionally, the Housing 
Options Team has seen a significant increase 
in enquiries and applications for the social 
housing register.

The Department contributed towards work to 
respond to the pandemic, with the Office and 
Cleaning Units ensuring that our offices were 
safe, in order to enable some of our staff to 
continue to work if they were unable to work 
from home. The Department led the effort 

to distribute PPE to front-line services in the 
early days, and responded swiftly to a crisis 
situation. 

Staff resources were redeployed to assist 
the Environment Department with licensing, 
in order to accommodate key workers and 
facilitate the effort to establish vaccination 
centres, Ysbyty Enfys, and the Health Board 
clinics in temporary alternative locations. The 
Department also led the establishment of a 
partnership with the Housing Associations, to 
assist with the distribution of food packages 
to Gwynedd’s most vulnerable residents.

Property Service 

In order to respond to the challenges that 
arise from climate change, and ensure that 
Gwynedd communities are prepared for 
the future, the Council adopted a carbon 
management plan in May 2010. The plan 
has been a substantial investment in order to 
reduce the carbon emissions of the Council’s 
activities, in addition to contributing towards 
the wider aim of a low carbon Gwynedd. 

Page 116



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 84

The nature of such plans is integrally 
measured over a long period of time, with 
small differences between monitoring periods 
having a cumulative impact over a more 
extensive period. This has all led to annual 
financial savings of over £1.1m for the Council. 

The fact of the majority of staff have worked 
from home over the past year due to Covid-19 
has probably contributed significantly to 
the reduction in carbon emissions from our 
buildings and from travelling. The Energy 
Conservation Unit acknowledges that the 
emissions are likely to increase this year if 
more use is made of our buildings, and the 
Covid restrictions are relaxed. 

The responsibility of ensuring that all our 
schools, care homes, leisure centres etc. are 
safe to be used by the county’s residents lies 
with the Property Safety Unit. Despite the 
obstacles of the past year, they managed to 
continue to undertake security inspections 
in our buildings, such as asbestos condition 
surveys and fire risk inspections.  They have 
also succeeded to invest in improving the 
condition of our buildings, with projects to 
the value of £4.3 million having been realised 
during the year.

Prior to the first lockdown period, the 
Maintenance Unit succeeded to consistently 
reduce the number of days taken to complete 
each piece of work, but due to the restrictions 
on sites and the fact that some of our staff 
have been redeployed to work on other 
projects, as anticipated, there has been an 
increase in this average during 2020/21 to 8.3 
days, compared to 6.8 days during 2019/20. 
However, the feedback received through our 
customer satisfaction surveys show that 84% 
of our customers who were questioned were 
completely satisfied with the service, with 
consistent praise for the internal maintenance 
workforce. This team has been expanded 
during the past year, and we now have 
electricians and water quality testing officers 

in addition to the carpenters, plumbers and 
telecare installation and repair officers.

The customer satisfaction of the Pest Control 
Team has been very high throughout 2020/21 
also, with great praise for prompt and 
effective work. They succeeded in continuing 
to offer this key service even throughout 
the lockdown periods. We gather customer 
feedback on a monthly basis and over the 
past year, 94% of the customers who were 
questioned were completely satisfied with 
the service that they received from the unit. 
In general, matters relating to bills and paying 
for services were the reason that customers 
have not being completely satisfied with the 
service. 

Our Cleaning and Offices Unit has been busy 
ensuring that our offices are safe for key staff 
to continue to attend. They have introduced a 
host of new Health and Safety arrangements 
overnight in order to ensure that everyone 
who has had to continue to attend their 
workplace is safe.

We have also introduced a customer 
satisfaction measure for our office users, 
with positive initial results from our cleaning 
customers. 

Our Estates Unit has seen a significant 
improvement in its customer satisfaction 
score over the year, with 95% completely 
satisfied with the service that they receive 
on average, a substantial improvement on 
the 83% that were completely satisfied the 
previous year.  The unit has also now taken 
over the responsibility for the Council’s 
industrial units and enterprise centres. They 
examine the efficiency of the provision, 
and have already achieved savings without 
affecting the quality of the service offered to 
tenants.

During 2020/21 the Property Development 
Team has succeeded to continue to drive 

Page 117

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2185

our capital projects, despite the pandemic. 
In October 2020 the new Ysgol y Garnedd 
was opened - a new building for 420 
primary pupils in Bangor, and the work of 
constructing and renovating Ysgol y Faenol is 
also underway.  The Team is busy working on 
more than 30 construction projects, ranging 
from schools to homes for older people, to 
housing developments, with 94% of those 
currently progressing in line with the expected 
timetables.

The new Ysgol y Garnedd

Housing Service

The main challenge facing the Housing 
Service is trying to contribute to increase the 
supply of housing for local people and the 
housing options available to the people of 
Gwynedd. 

In 2019, the Council adopted its Housing 
Strategy that notes the vision to

“Ensure that the people of Gwynedd have 
access to a suitable home of a high standard, 
that is affordable and improves their quality of 
life” 

During the past year, the Council’s Housing 
Action plan was adopted by the Council. The 
plan confirms how we will ensure that: 

• No one is homeless in Gwynedd

• Social housing available to all who need 
one

• Everyone’s home in Gwynedd is affordable 
to them 

• Gwynedd Housing are environmentally 
friendly 

• Homes having a positive influence on the 
health and well-being of the people of 
Gwynedd 

It identifies 33 specific projects that will lead 
to a capital investment of £77M in the field of 
housing in Gwynedd over the next six years.

The Council uses the Social Housing Fund 
from the Welsh Government to facilitate the 
Housing Associations’ ability to build more 
houses for local people. Our Housing Action 
Plan aims to provide 500 new social houses, 
and we will see a significant increase over the 
coming years.

The Homelessness Unit is the unit that has 
been affected most severely by the pandemic. 
The Unit has been operating in order to 
prevent homelessness but also to provide 
support for families or individuals who find 
themselves homeless. At the beginning of 
the lockdown in March 2020, the Government 
asked each Local Authority in Wales to ensure 
that nobody slept outside on the street. 
National regulations were amended overnight 
to ensure that everyone, regardless of their 
circumstances, had the ability to obtain 

Page 118



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 86

support from their Local Authority if they were 
faced with homelessness. There has been a 
71% increase in the number of people who 
present themselves as homeless or under 
threat of becoming homeless over the past 
six years, and an increase of 26% solely in the 
past year.

This has placed great pressure on our 
temporary housing options and at present 
we are far from being able to cope with the 
demand. The result of this is having to over-
use bed and breakfast accommodation, 
with those costs being met from the Welsh 
Government phase 1 crisis fund. This fund has 
been extended until September 2021.  

The Council does not have sufficient 
temporary accommodation to meet the 
demand, and continuing to use bed and 
breakfast accommodation is not a long-
term solution. Our Housing Action Plan has 
identified the need for approximately 50 
supported accommodation units, and we 
have succeeded in attracting grant funding 
for the majority of the development costs of 
such units. 

To this end, the service has started our first 
housing development by developing flexible 
units or ‘pods’ in Caernarfon, which are 
nearing completion. There are other schemes 
currently being designed in Bangor, Pwllheli, 
Dolgellau, Corris and Deiniolen, and they will 
all be completed within the next two years.

In parallel with the increase in 
accommodation, we will also expand the 
internal support team and external specialist 
agencies to move people forward more 
swiftly, in order to reduce the number of 
homeless people. The combination of an 
increase in accommodation and the increase 
in support means that we have now produced 
a plan, which has been adopted by the 
Cabinet, in order to address the county’s 
homelessness situation.

The Housing Support Grant (£6.7m per 
annum) provides support for vulnerable 
people to manage or retain their tenancy 
and live independently. During 2020/21, 
the programme in Gwynedd has supported 
over 2,000 people to access and maintain 
permanent or temporary tenancies and 
prevent homelessness. 

Another unit that has been affected severely 
by the pandemic is the Housing Options 
Team. We also adopted a new local allocation 
policy during the first lockdown, which 
prioritises people who have a connection 
with Gwynedd. This has led to a significant 
increase in the number of enquiries and 
applications received by the Team. During 
March 2021, four times as many e-mail 
enquiries were received compared to the 
beginning of the year.  This is mainly due to 
the impact of the pandemic on the situation 
of individuals, which has led to an increase in 
applications for social housing, and people 
wishing to know how the new allocation 
policy will affect them.

During 2020/21, the average number of days 
on the waiting list for a house was 41 days, 
which reflects the lack of social housing in 
the county. Over the past year, on average it 
took 26.3 days to process an application for 
the short list for a social housing tenancy, 
and arrangements have been put in place 
to significantly reduce this as a matter of 
urgency in 2021/22.

Page 119

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2187

The Housing Grants and Projects team’s 
work has been affected by the pandemic, 
which has led to a decrease in the ‘Grants for 
first-time buyers’ and ‘Empty Housing Grants’ 
projects, and the ‘Empty House Renovation’ 
loans that have been realised this year. With 
the Housing Action Plan now in place, we will 
be able to increase our delivery in this field.

The Team has also continued to work on 
delivering adaptations to the homes of 
disabled children and young people, with 141 
adaptations completed during 2020/21.

The average number of days taken to 
complete adaptations to the homes of 
individuals with disabilities has reduced, 
compared to previous years.

During the lockdown period, when the 
Enforcement team’s officers were unable to 
access sites, they were redeployed to assist 
the Environment Team to licence over 1000 
rental properties to house key workers during 
the pandemic. Since December 2020, the 
team has also been undertaking customer 
satisfaction surveys, with positive feedback 
received to date.

This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the Gwynedd 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring that 
Gwynedd residents can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live in quality homes within their 

communities.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Live with dignity and independently 

for as long as possible.
• Take advantage of the beauty of the 

county’s natural environment.

Page 120



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 88

The Environment Department 

The main areas of responsibility of the 
Environment Department are Planning, 
Public Protection, Transportation and the 
Countryside, and the Building Control Service.

Covid-19

As is true across the rest of the Council, many 
of the department’s services have had to 
adapt how we provide our services to the 
people of Gwynedd, and have had to prioritise 
work to help prevent transmission. This has 
naturally affected the department’s usual day-
to-day work.

The department’s officers have been 
undertaking alternative duties by offering 
guidance and advice on Covid-19 measures 
to businesses, establishments and the 
public. The department also contributed 
to producing and establishing regional and 
national Covid-19 prevention policies, as well 
as carrying out inspections, monitoring and 
taking enforcement action to deal with non-
compliance with statutory requirements for 
preventing the spread of the virus and to 
protect their workforce and their customers. 
The department’s role in this respect has 
been essential in ensuring that we as a council 
safeguard the residents of Gwynedd to the 
best of our abilities, in extremely challenging 
circumstances.

Although the crisis placed rather different 
demands on the service over the past year, 
the department has coped incredibly well, 
by prioritising the response to the pandemic 
while continuing to try to provide day-to-day 
services where this was possible or essential 
in order to respond to high-risk issues. Work 
that had been scheduled for 2020-21 has 
slipped, but this was inevitable in the current 
climate, and we will work to recover the 
situation. However, we do have concerns 

about staff well-being in some services 
where the workload has been unreasonably 
high, and where it has been more difficult 
than ever to take annual leave. One of our 
priorities moving forward is to reinstate a 
healthy situation for all our staff across the 
department.

Public Protection

The services most affected in this department 
as a result of the Covid-19 crisis are our Public 
Protection services. Since March 2020 they 
have been leading the efforts to respond 
to the Covid-19 crisis and have therefore 
changed their way of working significantly. 
This has meant having to prioritise particular 
work in order to contribute to the effort of 
controlling the spread of the disease. 

As was noted at the beginning of the report 
in the chapter relating to the Covid-19 crisis, 
the department led on establishing the Test, 
Trace and Protect Service – which has been in 
operation since June 2020 and employing 120 
workers who have traced over 11,000 cases of 
Covid-19. This service experienced its busiest 
time during the second wave of Covid-19, 
as the number of cases that needed tracing 
increased daily. The role of this service was 
crucial in managing the spread of Covid-19, 
and there is further information about these 
arrangements in the chapter on Covid-19. 

When Covid-19 case numbers were not 
so high, the department continued with an 
essential role in the arrangements for the re-
opening of our businesses, establishments 
and wider communities. This has happened 
through:

• Providing specialist advice to businesses, 
other council departments, local agencies, 
care providers, schools and members of 

Page 121

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2189

the public in regards to hygiene measures 
and self-isolation guidelines. 

• Carrying out inspections and support, 
advisory and monitoring campaigns in 
various business premises and sectors, 
e.g. supermarkets, garden centres, 
hairdressers etc. 

• Conducting proactive visits with the Police 
to give advice to licensed businesses such 
as restaurants and public houses over the 
busy summer period 

• Responding to complaints about non-
compliance with Covid-19 regulations 
in licensed businesses such as public 
houses, restaurants and caravan parks; 
and taking enforcement action where 
required in order to keep people safe

• Responding to an increase in complaints 
of domestic noise and complaints about 
burning garden waste, which is likely to 
be associated with the fact that many are 
working from home

• Producing information on Covid-19 
precautions for the taxi industry

• Putting arrangements in place to manage 
the busy destinations across the county, 
including parking control and enforcement

To give an idea of the scale of the increase in 
the work of these services, in relation to the 
number of service requests in the Contagious 
Diseases field, the department received 1,536 
requests during 2020 compared with almost 
no requests in the previous year. This work has 
taken up all the officers’ time in these services 
during 2020/21 and has meant that they were 
unable to carry out their usual role in the 
same way.  Indeed, 55 high-risk businesses 
and 25 Air Pollution Processes businesses 
that required an inspection during 2020-21 are 
late, with their timetables slipping to 2021-

22. This is as a result of the efforts to lead 
on our response to the pandemic, coupled 
with the fact that many of these businesses 
have been closed, and Covid-19 regulations 
made it difficult to conduct meetings. 62% of 
the animal feed establishments that require 
an inspection will also slip to the 2021-22 
programme. Consequently, the 2021-22 
inspection programme for these services 
will be very heavy, and there are concerns 
about staff capacity and well-being in these 
services as they cope with recovering these 
inspections whilst continuing to discharge 
their duties according to the crisis. In addition 
to this, there is a significant backlog of food 
establishments (over 1,000) that require 
an inspection in accordance with the Food 
Hygiene inspection programme, and we are in 
discussions with the Food Standards Agency 
as to the best way to respond to this. 

The experiences of the past year have 
highlighted the importance of the role these 
services play in protecting our communities’ 
health and, unfortunately, they have 
highlighted the services’ lack of resilience 
due to years of cuts. Responding to the 
seriousness of this shortfall is therefore one 
of the challenges for the year ahead, and 
a new Improvement Priority project has 
been included in the 2021/22 Review of the 
Gwynedd Council Plan in order to address 
the matter. One element of the work was to 
recruit Covid-19 community engagement 
officers to work with our communities to 
safeguard them, in the short term, but with 
a view to improving the resilience of these 
services in the long term. There is more 
information about this engagement work in 
the Covid-19 chapter of the report.

Planning

The Planning Service facilitates and manages 
sustainable developments within the 
Gwynedd planning authority area (which does 
not include the National Park area). 

Page 122



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 90

Over recent years, we have been measuring 
our customers’ level of satisfaction. We 
have work on-going to respond to the 
observations received, specifically around the 
arrangements for contacting the service and 
communication difficulties. We are working 
on developing alternative methods for 
undertaking this work through a new back-
office system.

Between March and July 2020 no planning 
committees were held due to Covid-19 
restrictions. Therefore it was not possible to 
determine those applications that required 
submitting to the committee. Furthermore, 
lack of capacity as a result of long-term 
sickness and working arrangements during 
the pandemic has meant that processes 
are taking longer than usual. It has also 
taken longer for us to receive responses 
from statutory consultees. Consequently, 
in 2020/21 planning applications took 
an average of 89 days to be determined 
compared to 62 days in 2019/20.

70% of the housing approved through the 
planning system during 2020/21 contribute 
to the county’s affordable housing. This 
figure reaches the target set by the Joint 
Local Development Plan. Further information 
about the provision of homes in Gwynedd 
is included in the Housing and Property 
Department chapter. 

The service also has a role to take 
enforcement action on developments that 
have not been granted planning permission, 
and during 2021/21, 133 inspections were 
completed, but there are 263 cases that are 
still being inspected. The work has included 
many complex cases this year, where the 
demand on officers’ time has been higher. This 
was also at a time where there was reduced 
staff capacity available to carry out planning 
enforcement work. 

Joint Planning Policy

We worked on a Draft Monitoring Policy for 
the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020, but 
because of the pandemic, it was not possible 
to gather all the usual information. Following 
an announcement by the Minister Julie James 
MS, we will be required to report on a two-
year period in October 2021. The draft report’s 
conclusion was that the plan delivered the 
strategy and that the plan’s policies worked. 
There was no evidence of a need to review 
the plan early, but this will be considered 
further as we compile the final report. 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPGs) 
reinforce the plan’s ability to give a sound 
basis on which to make decisions on future 
planning applications. Two SPGs have been 
adopted during the 2020/21 period, namely 
Change of use of community facilities and 
services, employment sites and retail units 
and Tourism development – attractions and 
accommodation.

In February 2021, the Welsh Government 
published a new National Development 
Framework (NDF) titled ‘Future Wales’. 
Its purpose is to set the direction for 
development in Wales up until 2040. The 
service provided input to the relevant 
consultation back in August 2019. 

Building Control

The Building Control Unit works with the 
public and partners so that our communities 
have safe buildings that meet the appropriate 
building standards. The Unit continues to 
provide a good service for residents and the 
satisfaction score has remained high and 
fairly stable over recent years. In a customer 
satisfaction survey in 2020/21, an average 
score of 9.6 out of 10 was given compared to 
9.7 in 2019/20. Following a Ffordd Gwynedd 
review of the service, the following indicators 
were agreed, with the aim of improving the 

Page 123

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2191

Building Control service for customers:

• The time between receiving full planning 
applications and their approval

• Customer Satisfaction Score

• Time from receiving notification of a 
dangerous structure to securing it

• Average time taken to process an 
application for ‘Naming and numbering 
houses/streets’

• Percentage of decisions made to the 
statutory timescale

We intend to simplify the questionnaire that 
we ask customers to complete, focusing on 
only two questions, namely how many marks 
given out of 10 for the service received, and if 
not 10, how can we improve.

One of the Building Control Unit’s duties is to 
process applications for Full Plans. The Unit 
conducts an assessment of the plans, and 
issues decision notices within its statutory 
target of between 5 and 8 weeks. The Unit 
aims to inspect the plans within 15 days, and 
release decisions on the applications as soon 
as possible.

A 21% decrease in Building Control 
applications was seen during the pandemic, 
and there was consequently a considerable 
income loss.  A reduction in medium to large-
scale project applications also contributed to 
this deficit. 

Transportation and the Countryside

The public transport sector 
in Gwynedd has faced a 
turbulent time over recent 
years, with the service having 
to respond swiftly to major 

changes in terms of the providers who were 
available. The Transportation and Countryside 
Service has now commenced the work of 
undertaking a comprehensive survey of the 
public transport network. The service will 
collaborate with Bangor University in order 
to design a network that will be based on 
social value rather than cost and passenger 
numbers. It will also consider innovative 
methods of offering a public transport 
network. Unfortunately, the timetable for the 
review to become operational has slipped due 
to Covid-19 demands on the department’s 
capacity. However, we intend to resume this 
work during 2021/22.

As a result of officers being redirected to 
alternative duties during the Covid-19 crisis, 
it has not been possible for us to gather the 
usual data that relates to the punctuality of 
bus services. However, we are continuing to 
collaborate with the transport sector in order 
to maintain services that meet the needs of 
the people of Gwynedd.

Within Parking, a Parking Task Group was 
formed towards the end of 2019 in order to 
address various parking issues and present 
potential solutions to address the financial 
deficit facing the Council and to improve the 
current parking arrangements as well. The 
last year has exacerbated problems such as 
a shortage of parking spaces throughout the 
county as a result of people staying in the UK 
for holidays rather than venturing abroad, and 
this has highlighted the need for additional 
powers to deal with vehicles that create 
obstructions and better control of motor 
homes. 

During 2020/21 the Countryside Service has 
concentrated on installing signs to encourage 
people to maintain social distancing on our 
busiest paths, has dealt with applications 
to close paths due to concerns about the 
spread of Covid-19, and has responded to 
cases of unauthorised path closures and 

Page 124



The Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the Gwynedd 
well-being objectives, ensuring 
that Gwynedd residents can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live in quality homes within their 

communities.
• Take advantage of the natural beauty 

of the County.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 92

cases of felling trees that have a preservation 
order. Despite this, the lockdowns have given 
people the opportunity to rediscover their 
neighbourhood and appreciate their local 
environment. We saw an increased desire by 
communities and individuals to contribute 
towards protecting and enhancing the quality 
of the countryside. We also managed to 
proceed with some of the operational areas 
identified in the Ffordd Gwynedd Review of 
the Service back in 2019.

Over the last year, the scale of the spread of 
ash dieback has highlighted itself, together 
with the risks to the safety of people and 
properties and the implications to biodiversity 
and the landscape. We worked with the 
Highways and Municipal Department to 
respond to the disease and led on the work 
of preparing for recovering and reducing its 
long-term effect on the countryside.

Corporate Category Management

The purpose of this service is to work with and 
support the Council’s services to spend public 
funds in a strategic and accurate manner, 
ensuring value for money and encouraging 
keeping the benefits local.

During 2020/21 the whole team was 
responsible for procuring PPE and quality 
cleaning goods for the first six months of 
the year. Despite this, we managed to save 
£72,000 and identify £276,000 for the future.
The team attempts to keep the expenditure 
local, where possible, and where legal rules 
allow. Through early engagement with the 
local market and working jointly with Business 
Wales who provide advice and support 
to prepare bids for tenders, there was an 
increase in local expenditure of 2% compared 
with 2019/20.    

The year ahead 

Of course, we will be faced with the challenge 
of restoring and stabilising following the 
crisis during 2021/22, and we will use the 
lessons that have arisen from the crisis when 
considering the shape of our future services. 
Our main priorities over the coming year are 
to:

• Strengthen Public Protection capacity
• Adopt a Climate Change Action Plan
• Provide input to and seek to influence the 

process of establishing the Corporate Joint 
Committee for North Wales which will 
directly impact the field of planning and 
transport

• Continue with the public transport review
• Consider / implement the possible 

solutions arising from the parking review
• Commence the Review of the Joint Local 

Development Plan

Page 125

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2193

Gwynedd Consultancy Department 
(YGC)

Ymgynghoriaeth Gwynedd Consultancy 
(YGC) operates commercially in the 
engineering and construction fields to secure 
high quality employment in the County and 
to try and generate profit to help the Council’s 
financial position. 

For 2020/21, we managed to generate a profit 
that was £52,479 higher than our set target.  

During lockdown the financial performance 
of YGC has been excellent, and we have 
managed to generate a profit that has 
exceeded our target.  This was made possible 
by completing the design and construction 
work over the pandemic period, and to 
continue to work on plans throughout north 
and mid Wales and Pembrokeshire. 

Key to all of this was the willingness of staff 
to work flexibly, coping and adapting to the 
situation. We have made some adaptations 
that have been a great success for the 
department and we will continue with some 
of these arrangements to the future.

Performance of the Water and Flooding Unit 
 
This service protects the people of Gwynedd 
from floods and coastal erosion. This is done 

by developing plans which attract grant 
funding.  

All these are communities that have either 
suffered historically, or where there is strong 
evidence that climate change is likely to 
increase the risk in future.  In the year 2020/21, 
the service has worked on over 20 projects 
to reduce the risk of flooding for hundreds of 
people. 

• The flooding prevention projects include 
(please note the number of buildings that 
benefit from a reduction in flooding risks): 

• Viaduct Gardens, Barmouth (33) - develop 
options to mitigate coastal flooding risk. 

• North Promenade, Barmouth (712) - 
develop options to mitigate the risk level 
of flood and coastal erosion.   

• Hirael Bay, Bangor (82) investigate the 
options to reduce the risk level of coastal 
flooding together with flooding that 
derives from surface water.  

• Afon Gwyrfai (54) - investigate the nature 
and options to reduce the risk level of 
flooding in the afon Gwyrfai catchment 
area jointly with Welsh Water and Natural 
Resources Wales.

• Ogwen Catchment Area (95) - preparing 
a detailed business case to carry out 
improvements along the catchment area, 
to manage and reduce flooding risk.

• Wnion Catchment Area – a joint scheme 
with the National Park and local farmers 
to develop flood alleviation schemes by 

Page 126



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 94

using softer and natural methods such 
as tree planting and changes in land use 
cultivation.  

• Completion of construction work on 
schemes in Felinheli and Rhostryfan 
(46+41).

• There have been several minor 
improvements across the county, for 
example at Tan Lôn, Aberdaron, Cricieth, 
Barmouth, Llanfaglan.  

• Greening Bangor Scheme (16) - Identify 
locations in the city centre with the 
potential to be transformed into 
landscaping that is less hard and then has 
the potential to contribute to managing 
water flow and mitigate local flooding 
risks. This includes work such as creating 
areas for planting flowers and trees.

Monitoring Assets 

The Service has completed coastal assets 
investigations and land drainage in the county.  
The service has 264 assets that are scored 
from 1 to 5, where 1 is the best score. The 
target is a score of 3. There are 219 assets with 
a score of between 1 and 3. Of the 45 that are 
not on target, the department has plans to 
raise the condition of these assets. 

The department also seeks to make all 
coastal assets safer for the public.

Flooding Investigations 

We continue to gather information about the 
level of flood risk within the county, and have 
developed specific maps and databases 
for this purpose. During 2020/21 it was 
recorded that 101 residential properties 
and 21 commercial premises have suffered 
from internal flooding. In addition, the unit 
has noted and responded to over 50 cases 
of flooding near misses due to surface water 

issues. This information will be fed back 
to develop future schemes to reduce the 
flooding risk in the county. 

We continue to collaborate with the public 
sector, and other bodies, by raising awareness 
of flood risks and coastal erosion.

Regulatory

During 2020/21 we have processed 27 
applications for ordinary watercourse consent 
across the county. The consultancy service 
offered means that each request received 
during this period have been acceptable, with 
an average response time of 24 days within 
a permitted response period of up to two 
months. 

The purpose of the ordinary watercourse 
consent process is to manage specific 
activities that may have a detrimental impact 
on flooding.  During the last year, we have 
also been discussing the requirements of 
the new land drainage byelaws with various 
developers.  This is in order to ensure that 
they are aware of the implications on future 
developments.  This process of raising 
awareness will continue. 

During 2021, we have provided observations 
on over 300 planning applications to ensure 
that the flooding threat and coastal erosion 
for new developments were highlighted and 
acceptable, and that the application details 
complied with national policies.

SuDS (Sustainable Drainage Systems).
Number of Applications 

As we expected, the number of applications 
have increased every quarter.  The table 
below, indicates the number of applications 
received and processed by the department.  
We have also processed 55 applications for 
the Isle of Anglesey and Wrexham Councils.
We continue to work with the planning 

Page 127

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2195

departments of the Council and Snowdonia 
National Park, to highlight the requirements to 
their applicants. 

It appears that the awareness of these 
requirements have increased.  In addition, 
the quality of the applications are improving 
because of the service and support we give.  

Pre-application Service: 

Although the received approval to charge a 
fee for this service, we have continued to offer 
the service free of charge over the lockdown 
periods. 

Work beyond Gwynedd. 

Gwynedd Council has been appointed by the 
Isle of Anglesey and Wrexham Councils to 
process and check all their SuDs (Sustainable 
Drainage Systems) applications.  

We also lead technically across North Wales, 
and collaborate with the County Councils of 
Anglesey, Conwy, Denbighshire, Flintshire 
and Wrexham.  This work comprises drafting 
policies and procedures that can be used 
regionally to share resources and have 
consistency in the way the requirements are 
implemented.   

This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the Gwynedd 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring that 
Gwynedd residents can:   

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives
• Live in quality homes within their 

communities
• Benefit from the beauty of the 

County’s natural environment. 

Page 128



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 96

Finance and Information Technology 
Department

The Finance Department ensures the 
appropriate support for the Council in 
managing, safeguarding and developing 
its financial position in addition to providing 
services, such as collecting revenue and 
paying benefits, in a fair manner. In 2020/21, 
staff salaries, suppliers’ invoices and grants 
to businesses in light of the Covid-19 
crisis were paid. The Council’s Information 
Technology services are also part of the 
Finance Department and they offer high 
quality technical guidance and support which 
promotes the Council’s basic values.

Financial Management and Savings

The Finance Department’s financial 
management work and accountants support 
is an asset to the Council’s departments 
when delivering for the people of Gwynedd 
at challenging times. Through conscientious 
financial management, the department has 
helped the Council manage to keep within its 
budget every year since 2015/16. 

In the financial climate of restrictions on public 
expenditure, reliable financial estimates and 
accurate and fair accounts were produced. 
The Finance Department is responsible for 
the Council’s robust arrangements, and for 
providing suitable resources to ensure that all 
departments realise what is expected of them.  

As noted in the introduction to this 
performance report, 90% of the savings 
schemes, with a total value of £31 million 
between 2015/16 and the end of 2020/21 
had been completed, but other schemes 
were more challenging to deliver. Therefore, 
the current savings schemes were reviewed 
during 2020/21, and prudential steps were 

taken to cancel some savings and slip others 
on to 2022/23. 

The Covid-19 crisis had a significant financial 
impact, with a combination of additional costs 
and loss of income worth over £20 million to 
the Council in 2020/21. Gwynedd Council 
accountants submitted claims to Welsh 
Government to compensate for loss of 
income to the tune of £7.3 million, additional 
expenditure of £11.6 million and bids worth 
£1.5 million for the Furlough scheme. 

In terms of the Council’s performance 
for 2020/21, the impact of the crisis has 
been very clear on the financial position, 
with significant grant receipts associated 
with Covid-19 later in the financial year 
transforming the financial position, including 
grants for schools’ budgets, for digital 
transformation, shortcomings in realising 
savings and Council Tax arrears.

Internal Audit

The Council’s Internal Audit service gives 
confidence to the citizen and the Council 
on the Council’s control environment 
and governance arrangements through 
independent and objective reporting to 
the Head of Finance and the Audit and 
Governance Committee.

During 2020/21, 23 audits were completed, 
and a ‘high’ or ‘adequate’ assurance level was 
confirmed for each one. It was not possible to 
complete some audits, therefore, the auditors 
assisted with other priorities, including 
distributing business grants.  

As well as auditing Gwynedd Council, internal 

Page 129

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2197

audits were held on behalf of Snowdonia 
National Park Authority, GwE, Byw’n Iach 
company and 70 town and community 
councils.

Pensions

The Pensions Service administrates the Local 
Government Pension Scheme on behalf 
of over 40 employers, including Gwynedd, 
Anglesey and Conwy councils.  The service 
focuses on operating accurately and promptly 
on behalf of its members. 

We have managed to pay pensioners and the 
time taken to process retirements and deal 
with cases of bereavement improved. There 
was an increase in the time taken to transfer 
pension benefits, because some of the staff 
had assisted with distributing business grants 
for a while, and it is expected that the situation 
will improve in 2021/22. 

Although we continue to send documents 
by post, the ‘My Pension Online’ website is 
going from strength to strength with 16,000 
members registered by now. The new option 
on the system to enable the upload of 
documents such as a retirement form speeds 
up the system of processing pension benefits.

By now, the i-Connect system is being used 
on a monthly basis by all Pension Fund 
employers to update the salary records. This 
means that the information in the pensions 
system is as current and accurate as possible. 

As a result of the Covid-19 crisis, on 31 March 

2020, the value of the Pension Fund had 
dropped to £1.94 billion, due to a slump in the 
global equity markets in the final quarter of 
2019/20. By 31 May 2021, markets had picked 
up, and the value of the Gwynedd Fund had 
returned to £2.51 billion. 

The Pensions Committee and Fund managers 
have continued to work on a scheme to 
ensure that the Gwynedd Pension Fund, our 
consultants and asset managers are looking 
at investing in sustainable assets. More details 
are available in this statement:
https://www.cronfabensiwngwynedd.cymru/
cy/Gwybodaeth/Newyddion/Cronfa-
Bensiwn-Gwynedd-Datganiad-Dadfuddsoddi.
pdf

Taxes

As a result of the restrictions which started 
in March 2020, a firm decision was made 
to suspend any work to pursue Council Tax 
debts for 3 months, and when we re-started 
collecting it, we did so gradually, and referred 
Gwynedd residents to the assistance available 
to them. Since then, 95.5% of the 2020/21 
Council Tax was collected within the year. In 
difficult circumstances, this was encouraging, 
compared with 96.8% in 2019/20. The 
collection rate during the year is the national 
performance indicator, but it should be noted 
that the vast majority of the money that is due 
is collected eventually.

The Tax Service, with the assistance of staff 
from other services within the department, 

Page 130

https://www.cronfabensiwngwynedd.cymru/cy/Gwybodaeth/Newyddion/Cronfa-Bensiwn-Gwynedd-Datganiad-Dadfuddsoddi.pdf
https://www.cronfabensiwngwynedd.cymru/cy/Gwybodaeth/Newyddion/Cronfa-Bensiwn-Gwynedd-Datganiad-Dadfuddsoddi.pdf
https://www.cronfabensiwngwynedd.cymru/cy/Gwybodaeth/Newyddion/Cronfa-Bensiwn-Gwynedd-Datganiad-Dadfuddsoddi.pdf
https://www.cronfabensiwngwynedd.cymru/cy/Gwybodaeth/Newyddion/Cronfa-Bensiwn-Gwynedd-Datganiad-Dadfuddsoddi.pdf


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 98

was given the responsibility of administrating 
the Welsh Government Covid-19 grants to 
businesses in Gwynedd. As a result of the 
various lockdowns of the crisis, there were 
five grant schemes during 2020/21 and over 
£106m of grant funding was distributed to 
assist the county’s businesses, with nearly 
20,000 payments processed.

Benefits 

The average time taken to process a new 
Housing Benefit application in 2020/21 was 
18.74 days, compared with 15.68 days in 
2019/20. The decline in performance reflects 
the substantial increase in contact from 
usual customers and new customers who 
were suffering from the financial impact of 
the pandemic. Despite this, we managed to 
improve the average time taken to process 
a Housing Benefit change of circumstances 
notification to 3.77 days this year, from 4.78 in 
2019/20.

In addition, the Benefits Service has assisted 
1,718 families through support from the 
Discretionary Housing Payments Fund (DHP), 
which is extra support towards paying rent. 
In doing so, we have been able to assist a 
significant number of Gwynedd tenants to 
remain in their existing homes or move to a 
new property.

Additionally, the Benefits Service has 
processed a school uniform grant / pupils 
development grant (access) worth £148,460 
for 1,423 children, and has assessed free 
meals claims for 3,049 children in Gwynedd 
during 2020/21 (2,534 in 2019/20). 

In addition to the usual work, the service 
has undertaken the Self-Isolation Payments 
Scheme for Welsh Government, and has dealt 
with 713 applications for payments since the 
beginning of the scheme on 16 November 

2020 until 31 March 2021.

Insurance and Risk

The service has been advising on insurance 
matters in relation to Covid-19, and arranged 
additional cover as and when necessary. 
Also this year, we tendered for insurers for 
property, computers, credit guarantee and 
terrorism cover. The policies with the new 
insurers started on 1 April 2021.

The new Corporate Risk Register was 
launched on 6 March 2021. The new system 
offers a convenient facility for users in all 
departments as they consider their priorities 
and note what needs to be done, and to assist 
members to challenge performance and 
ensure that the expected steps have been 
taken.

Income 

The Income Service aims to process cash 
receipts and collect the Council’s debts 
promptly and efficiently. 

The value of various debts over 6 months old 
on 31 March 2021 was £1,822,462, which is 
a significant increase on the corresponding 
figure of £1,280,823 on 31 March 2020. Much 
of the debt is due to cash-flow restrictions 
stemming from the pandemic, but we expect 
the situation to improve as the economy re-
opens.

Nevertheless, the service managed to collect 
94.59% of invoices raised by the Council in 
2020/21, compared to 94.98% in 2019/20. 
Owing to the economic circumstances during 
the year, such a reduction was expected. 
Despite this, the rate of prompt collections 
(i.e. payment received within the quarter) was 
approximately 92%, which is an improvement 
compared to previous year despite the impact 

Page 131

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/2199

of the pandemic on the economy.

Payments

The purpose of the service is to pay the 
Council’s creditors correctly and promptly. 
As a result of the impact of Covid-19, with 
Council staff working from home, we have 
adapted to electronic arrangements, which 
have proven to be successful. In order to 
deal with the crisis, there was a significant 
number of additional payments, including 
paying free school meals to parents of school 
pupils, freelance grants for the arts, self-
isolation payments and grants for Gwynedd 
businesses. Nevertheless, the Payments 
Unit managed to improve the performance 
of paying invoices within 30 days to 93% 
(compared with 92% in 2019/20), with local 
payments to Gwynedd at its highest level at 
96% this year.

Payroll

The purpose of the service is to pay staff 
correctly and promptly, and also to maintain 
appropriate accounts for external bodies such 
as HMRC. There were a few cases during 
the year where the crisis arrangements of 
working from home had led to a failure to 
send information to the Payroll Unit on time, 
resulting in having to make amendments to 
salaries. Despite this, this was a small number 
and over a period of 5 years, the number of 

monthly cases which lead to amendments to 
salaries continues to show a downward trend.

Information Technology  

The Information Technology (IT) Service 
provides and supports technology of all kinds 
to help staff and the people of Gwynedd to 
gain easy access to information and systems.  

It became clear at the beginning of the 
Covid-19 crisis that there was a need for 
a significant and speedy change to allow 
all Council office staff to work from home 
effectively from the first day. Despite the 
situation evolving at speed, many changes 
were made to the Council’s infrastructure by 
improving the internet connection, buying 
and distributing licences, increasing the 
capacity of the infrastructure and building a 
new firewall. These changes were made on 
firm footings which were already underway, 
with the changes giving a healthy and resilient 
platform to enable the continuation of 
services for the people of Gwynedd. The crisis 
means that the new digital strategy, which is 
being prepared for the Council, will look very 
different.  

Prior to the crisis, a total of 138 users worked 
from locations outside the offices, but this 
changed significantly in 2020/21 with 1,450 
working from home. 

Page 132



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 100

Number working from home 2020/21

Use of Teams 
(January - March 2021 quarter)

Also, over 900 new laptops were provided during the crisis period, increasing the number of 
laptops to 2,250. Despite all the changes, the high standards increased with 99% reporting that 
they were happy with the Helpdesk Service.

We upgraded from ‘Skype’ to enable holding virtual meetings on ‘Teams’, which is now an 
integral part of the Council’s services, and ‘Zoom’ for meetings with simultaneous translation.

Several IT infrastructure projects were completed successfully. We strengthened our disaster 
recovery arrangements by strengthening resilience, including a reserve generator in our 
headquarters. Also, our defences were strengthened as well as our ability to recover in the 
event of a cyber-attack.  

There has been a significant improvement to infrastructure in schools. The network in all 
schools has been upgraded, introducing 300 network suites and over 1,000 Wi-Fi connection 
points. With a Welsh Government grant, 2,506 laptops were provided to primary schools, with 
a further 1,947 and 893 iPads to be distributed. 1,062 laptops will be distributed to the teachers 
before we turn our attention to our secondary pupils. 

  Apr          May       June       July        Aug           Sept      Oct           Nov         Dec       Jan           Feb         March   

Page 133

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/21101

The IT Systems Development Unit developed 26 new systems in response to the crisis. Many 
of these were direct online facilities for the public, including requests for business grants and 
recycling centre appointments. Also, there were many internal developments, such as a fleet 
asset system which manages vehicle details.

The unit developed another 27 IT systems, bringing the total to 53. Feedback was received 
from 38 of the projects, with 37 stating that they were happy and had no improvements to offer. 
The customer of the other project was satisfied, and offered an improvement in relation to 
communication. 

We managed to retain our Public Service Network (PSN) accreditation which expresses the UK 
Government Cabinet Office’s satisfaction with the Council’s IT services and network in terms of 
security, and we continued with the national ‘Gold’ standard on the standard and cleanliness of 
data contained in the Gwynedd Land and Property register.  

Page 134



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 102

Corporate Support Department

Together with the work this Department 
undertakes to realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the remainder of its ‘day-
to-day’ work also contributes to the Council’s 
ambition. 

It has been an unexpected and unusual year 
for the whole department with many officers 
re-located to fulfil work which was crucial to 
enable front-line services to operate - from 
ensuring PPE supplies for staff to keeping 
direct contact with and supporting the most 
vulnerable people in our communities.

In addition, some of the services had a 
critical role advising and communicating 
the message regarding the rules and best 
practices during the crisis, and following that 
they were key in resurrecting the services that 
were required to be paused for a while.

It was a great effort to fulfil all of this while also 
maintaining key services and this summary of 
performance for the year reflects that.

Customer Contact

It is possible for Gwynedd residents to access 
a number of services on-line, at a convenient 
time for them, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. 
It also provides a more cost-effective way of 
contacting the Council.  

Gwynedd residents and businesses can now 
get in touch about 33 matters (27 in 2019/20) 
relating to highways, ordering and paying for 
a parking ticket, arranging a visit to a recycling 

centre, paying for school meals and more. 
Over 50% of service requests in 17 fields (4 in 
2019/20) are presented on-line, with 88% of 
the requests to book an appointment to visit a 
recycling centre presented in this way. During 
2020/21, 11,689 residents opened a new self-
service account, which was 2,000 more than 
did so in 2019/20.

We provide a telephone service through Galw 
Gwynedd. This year’s performance, in terms of 
the time taken to answer calls, has improved 
compared with the previous year, despite 
the fact that 12,000 more calls had been 
received i.e. from 49 seconds on average in 
2019/20 to 47 seconds. The performance 
would have seen more of an improvement if 
it was not for the number of calls dealt with at 
the beginning of summer regarding recycling 
centre appointments.  

We are continuing to address this and are 
making an effort to improve performance, 
mainly through a combination of further 
promotion on self-service and extending the 
on-line chat service. 

Communication and Engagement

Holding a two-way dialogue 
with the people of Gwynedd 
in order to share information 
about the Council’s services and 
to hear our residents’ opinion 
is a priority. Four exercises to 

Page 135

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/21103

gather the opinion of the people of Gwynedd 
about various services were held in 2020/21 
with 8,910 individuals taking advantage of 
these opportunities to give their opinion. The 
exercises which attracted the most response 
were the ones regarding the holiday home 
premium and the recycling centres.

By March 2021, 34,172 individuals were 
receiving video clips, digital images and 
messages daily through the Council’s Twitter, 
Facebook and Instagram accounts, which is 
an increase of 4,672 since the previous year.

We focused on enabling residents to gain 
easy access to services during the Covid-19 
pandemic and to convey key messages 
about public health matters. An electronic 
newsletter has been established for citizens 
(“Newyddion Gwynedd Bach”) and a system 
was developed to communicate messages to 
very local audiences via social media. 

Registering Births, Deaths and Marriages 

The service managed to improve 
performance with 94% of registrations of 
death being made within five days, which 
exceeds last year’s performance despite the 
fact that most registrations happened over 
the phone as a result of the pandemic. 
We only managed to register 51% of births 
within five days due to lockdown restrictions 
- compared to 98% in 2019/20. However, we 
managed to deal with the backlog of several 
hundred births to be registered before the 
end of the year.

The number of weddings that it was possible 
to hold was substantially reduced and this led 
to a loss of income for the service during the 
year. 

Council Business Support 

The work of preparing and publishing the 
Council’s performance report for 2019/20 and 

the review of the Council Plan for 2021/22 
was co-ordinated. A specific project has been 
set up in order to lead on the implementation 
of the Equality Plan with the work initially 
focusing on trying to obtain a better 
understanding of the obstacles facing the 
county’s residents in this context.

Support is provided to the Gwynedd and 
Anglesey Public Services Board which seeks 
to ensure that public services providers 
collaborate in order to improve the well-being 
of citizens. One of the main priorities of the 
Public Services Board is to update the Well-
being Assessments for both counties and 
this is being addressed at the beginning of 
2021/22.  

Research and Information

The pandemic highlighted the need for 
accurate and timely information about the 
nature of the crisis. Consequently, the service 
undertook substantial work on gathering, 
analysing and reporting on relevant data for 
the Council’s services.

One issue that concerns us is that 30 
information incidents have occurred across 
the Council in 2020/21 (i.e. where information 
has been lost or gone to the wrong person); 
this compares to 20 during 2019/20. An initial 
analysis suggests that approximately one third 
of the cases stemmed from circumstances 
of working-from-home during the pandemic. 

Page 136



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 104

We have already prepared guidelines and 
promotional material involving specific 
matters which need to be remembered when 
working from home, and we have updated our 
training programme and held virtual training 
sessions with teams in order to address the 
various issues which have been highlighted.

We started to move the Council’s services 
to a new version of iGwynedd (the Council’s 
electronic record management system) 
with the response to date from the services 
which have transferred reporting that the new 
system facilitates sharing information and 
documents. 

During the year, the number of requests from 
individuals wishing to see information about 
themselves (data protection requests) has 
reduced to 53 (66 in 2019/20). 85% of these 
requests were answered within the expected 
time of one calendar month. 

Additionally, 842 freedom of information 
requests were made during the year. The 
prompt response rate increased compared 
to the previous year to 83% and this is 
encouraging given the pressures on the 
Council’s services during the pandemic. 

Purchasing

In addition to the work on the ‘Keeping the 
Benefit Local’ Improvement Priority, the 
Procurement Service has been responding to 

the challenges of the pandemic and played 
a key part in the arrangements for ensuring 
PPE supplies for front-line staff. The three 
Category Teams have been a crucial part of 
these arrangements as well and continue to 
be involved with the purchasing, distribution 
and stock management aspects. The People 
Category Team also deals directly with older 
people’s homes and social services more 
broadly.

Democracy and Language
 
The purpose of the Democracy 
Service is to support 
Councillors in order that they 
can make decisions and act in 
the interests of the residents of 
Gwynedd. 

The project to allow remote access to Council 
meetings has progressed significantly 
during the year with all the Council’s formal 
meetings held virtually during the pandemic. 
Consideration is being given at the beginning 
of 2021/22 to adopt a protocol for holding 
meetings in the future, and it is forecast that 
many formal meetings will continue to be 
held virtually after the current restrictions are 
lifted.

For the 2020/21 period, the percentage of 
committee agendas published within the 
timetable (at least five working days before 
the meeting) stayed at 92%. Work with report 
authors is continuing in order to improve this 
performance.

The standard of the work produced by the 
Translation Unit continues to be appreciated, 
with 98.5% of the satisfaction questionnaires 
completed scoring the written translation 
service a 5 out of 5. The Translation Unit has 
played a key part in enabling simultaneous 
translation at virtual meetings, and also 
assisted other organisations to provide the 
same service. 

Page 137

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/21105

“Hunaniaith” (Gwynedd’s language initiative) 
also managed to change its ways of working 
with the community, using virtual methods to 
continue with its efforts to promote the Welsh 
language across the county. 

Human Resources

There has been a significant reduction in the 
number of sick days per staff member during 
the year to 6.3 days per head on average 
(down from 9.78 days per head in 2019/20) - 
this was mainly due to the Lockdown but also 
because the work of promoting physical and 
mental health as well as better management 
of absences has come to fruition. The Council 
remains among the councils with the lowest 
level of sickness absence.

Three employment appeals hearing were 
held over the course of the year with the 
Committee’s decisions supporting the 
original decision of the employer on the three 
occasions and a new code of conduct has 
been approved for staff within the Council.

Support Service 

The Support Service provides administrative 
assistance to the Council’s staff. The work of 
introducing the Self-service system to staff 
without an IT account is a priority. This means 
that managers have convenient access to 
the DBS status of staff in regulated jobs, that 
pay slips are received electronically as well 
as receiving information in a more convenient 
and quicker way than in the past. By now, 92% 

(71% in 2019/20) of Council staff are live on 
the Self-service system with further work to 
extend this figure during 2021/22.

Learning and 
Organisational 
Development 

The Learning and 
Organisational 
Development service 

provides a learning and development service 
for the Council’s staff and elected members. 
The service also leads on schemes for 
trainees and apprentices as well as being 
prominent in supporting the Council’s Ffordd 
Gwynedd culture. Virtual learning methods 
have been developed over the course of the 
year, focusing on creating a remote learning 
environment and holding on-line assessment 
centres. 

The service, together with the Education 
Department, received an award from Welsh 
Government’s Educational Leadership 
National Academy for the work accomplished 
in developing leadership through coaching 
within education.

The service is co-ordinating arrangements 
to respond to complaints and promoting the 
lessons learned from the complaints received. 
Over the course of the year, the Local 
Government Ombudsman stated that the 
Council was prominent in using complaints to 
improve services.

By now, 208 of the county’s businesses, 
namely an increase of 24 in the past year, 
have joined the Staff Benefits Scheme, 
administrated by the service. The Scheme 
contributes to promoting the Buying Local 
Project and use their contacts with the 
businesses to that end.

Page 138



This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the Gwynedd 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring 
that Gwynedd residents can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able 

to support themselves and their 
families

• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 106

Health, Safety and Well-being

Many of the service’s efforts were re-directed 
to deal with a range of aspects in terms of 
the Council’s response to the pandemic. Over 
600 vulnerable staff had a consultation with 
the Occupational Health Unit in order to offer 
guidance on the risk level to them and on 
any adaptations to protect them during the 
Lockdown. Also, the service responded and 
investigated cases of the virus and clusters in 
workplaces or among Council’s workforce.

146 incidents were reported to the Health 
and Safety Executive (HSE) over the course 
of the year. This compares with 51 incidents in 
the previous year, and this is mainly because 
“reasonable doubt that a member of staff 
could have caught COVID at work” had been 
added during the year to a list of incidents 
that needed to be reported to HSE.

We have also continued to support staff, 
whether front-line staff or staff who feel 
isolated when working from home, particularly 
in the context of mental well-being. This 
has been done through a combination of 
awareness-raising sessions and providing 
support as well as virtual consultations (and 
face-to-face) with the Occupational Health 
Team and Medra counsellors. 

In order to ensure that our health and safety 
procedures are as robust as they can be, the 
Council Plan for the coming year has identified 

this field as a corporate improvement priority. 

Page 139

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


Gwynedd Council Annual Performance Report 2020/21107

Legal Services

The Legal Service provides a full legal service 
for all the departments within the Council. 
This includes specialised fields such as 
employment, commercial property, child 
protection, litigation and planning. 

We receive consistently positive feedback, 
with the 2020/21 customer satisfaction survey 
showing that 87% of clients were fully satisfied 
(a score of 10 out of 10) with the service 
provided. It is difficult to draw a specific 
message from the feedback, but we monitor 
the performance level and the reasons for 
attributing a score lower than 10/10 closely, 
and respond to messages that derive from the 
data. Naturally, the information contributes to 
the procedure for managing and monitoring 
our performance. 

It is also appropriate to note that the Legal 
Team has moved to electronic work systems 
early this year and is operating fairly paper-
free. Our ability to do this reflects the 
investment already made in software but also 
work and commitment across the teams and 
their leaders. 

Considerable work has also been undertaken 
to advise and support on the legal and 

operational changes surrounding the 
Council’s democratic processes during the 
crisis. 

In relation to propriety arrangements, the 
Service has supported and advised on the 
Council’s main matters and several specific 
corporate matters including:

• Housing Strategy
• Penrhos Home Site
• Schools Organisation

As Gwynedd Council is host authority for 
the North Wales Economic Ambition Board, 
the Monitoring Officer led the regional legal 
work of establishing Governance Agreement 
2 (“GA2”) as well as supporting the Portfolio 
Office on the democracy aspects. The work 
continues. 

The Service is also responsible for 
supporting the Returning Officer 
and the Electoral Registration 
Officer by administrating all 
the county’s elections and 
the Electoral Roll. A grant was 

received from Welsh Government early in 
2020 to support the work of establishing the 
new franchise (16 year-olds) as well as other 
aspects on the theme of access to voting. 
Unfortunately, it must be accepted that the 
Covid-19 situation has had a substantial 
impact on this work which was to involve 
attending Schools, Colleges and Youth 
Groups to promote registration. By now, a 
member of staff has been appointed to work 
on the promotional and registration project 
with a cross-departmental Project Group. This 
will allow the project to move forward when 
preparing for the Council elections in 2022. 
As the 2020/21 year drew to a close, 
substantial work had already started in 
order to prepare for the Senedd and Police 

Page 140



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan 108

Commissioner elections in May. 

The Service carries out a statutory function 
supporting the North West Wales Coroner 
Service. Following the retirement of the 
Coroner during the year, Kate Sutherland 
was appointed to an operational role and 
discussions were commenced with the UK 
Government’s Department for Justice on the 
next steps in relation to the future of the area. 

Page 141

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/CouncilPlan


CYNGOR GWYNEDD 

 

 

 
Report to meeting of Gwynedd Council 

  

 
 

1.  DECISION SOUGHT 
 
It is recommended that the Full Council 

 

1. adopts the arrangements and protocol to continue with virtual meetings until 

arrangements are revised as noted in the report.   

 

2. Approve the Amendments to the Constitution in Appendix B 

 
2. BACKGROUND AND REASONS 

 
Foreword 

1. A report on the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 was presented to 

Full Council in March 2021. Section 47 of the Local Government and Elections 

(Wales) Act 2021 establishes arrangements which allows for remote attendance by 

members.  The Council is required to adopt and publish arrangements.  The relevant 

part of the work programme can be seen in Appendix A. 

 

Access to the public 

2. The access rights of the press and public to Cabinet meetings is a basic statutory 

principle in Local Government Legislation. Previously, this was based on ensuring 

access to the press and public to the room/chamber where the meeting was held 

Date of meeting: 8 July, 2021 

Title of Item: 

 

Purpose: 

 

 

Cabinet Member: 

Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 

 

Approve arrangements for Council committees and address the 

new requirements in Part 3 of the Act. 

 

Councillor Nia Jeffreys 

 

Contact Officers: 

 

Geraint Owen, Head of Democracy Services and Iwan Evans, 

Monitoring Officer 

Page 142

Agenda Item 9



(excluding Exempt matters). It must be noted, although the principles are almost 

identical, the Cabinet arrangements are in a specific, separate system 

 

3. Section 3 of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021, adapts this 

legislation by allowing the Authority to hold meetings virtually, i.e. that the access to 

the press and public is provided virtually. This could be via webcasting at the 

meeting, but it could be via other electronic methods, which allow them to speak to 

hear and see the meeting.    Therefore, where a meeting is held wholly through the 

virtual method, rather than stating the time and location of the meeting on the front of 

the agenda, it must be stated clearly how access can be gained to the meeting. 

 

Holding a meeting 

 

4. In accordance to Section 47 of the Act, the Council must adopt and publish 

arrangements with provision to enable meetings to be held with people who are not all 

at the same location.   Such a meeting could be held purely virtually or as a hybrid 

meeting which is held at a specific location with provision for remote attendance.  

Although a meeting can be held purely in a specific location, remote attendance for 

attendees must be provided for.  The term ‘hybrid’ is used for these types of meetings, 

and it is envisaged that they will be a normal occurrence in the future. 

 

5. This provision has been in place since 1 May this year. As part of the work, the 

Authority is requested to adopt and publish its arrangements for delivering these 

requirements, and re-publishing if changes arise. 

 

6. At present, we continue to hold virtual meetings only.  A specific project has been 

established to develop the necessary technology in order to offer hybrid meetings - 

meetings that allow for remote access and at a specific location.  These developments 

are progressing.  It will be necessary to ensure that the provision is technically easy to 

use and responds to the requirements of bilingualism, voting matters, webcasting, etc 

 

7. This is also subject to Coronavirus regulations that apply to our decisions regarding 

attending offices. 

 

Equality Act 2010 

 

8. The Council is subject to its duty under the 2010 Equality Act to give due attention to 

the need to remove unlawful discrimination, harassment and oppression, along with 

any other behaviours prohibited under the provisions of the Act.  In addition, there is 

a need to increase equal opportunities and foster good relationships between those 

with protected characteristics and those who do not have protected characteristics (the 

General Equality Duty). In accordance with the requirement in Wales, and in order to 

address this duty, an Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared.  It is included in 

appendix Ch, and has identified no impact which would change the recommendation.   

 

9. Therefore, in response to the above requirements, it is suggested that temporary 

arrangements should be established and published, whilst the above developmental 

Page 143



work is done.  The arrangements will need to be reviewed regularly.   A further report 

on developments will be presented to the Full Council meeting in October 2021. 

 

 

 

10. The policy includes two options to enable Access to the public in the short-term: 

 Live webcasting 

 Sharing a link for the meeting that will be held as a webinar. 

 

 

Constitution 

 

11. It is unavoidable that these legal changes lead to adaptions in the constitution to 

reflect and comply with the new legal rights which exist.    

 

12. This will include: 

 

 Changing the definition of Quorum in order to address remote attendance 

 Amending rights of access to the press and public in order to acknowledge the 

new electronic context and the alternative statutory arrangements 

 

13. The changes are reported in Appendix B.   

 

Interim Arrangements  

 

14. Gwynedd Council Cabinet meetings will continue to hold virtual meetings only 

during the period from May 2021 onwards, until noted otherwise.  Meanwhile, we 

will continue to develop our arrangements for holding hybrid meetings and ensure 

safety in returning to the chambers.  We will review the situation regularly. 

 

15. In order to ensure public access to view and hear the discussions we will web-cast the 

following meetings live: 

 Full Council 

 Cabinet 

 Planning Meetings 

 

16. For other committees  – a note on the front of the programme will explain that the 

meeting is a virtual meeting, with members of the public able to access to view the 

webinar through the relevant link or other means noted on the programme.   

 

17. A further report on the technical developments for hybrid meetings will be presented 

to the Full Council yn October 2021.  In the meantime, the Head of Democracy 

Services, in consultation with the Chair of individual committees, will be able to 

agree to hold a pilot of any prospective arrangements.     

 

18. Note that the protocol for virtual meetings has been included in Appendix C of the 

report and is an integral part of the arrangements.   

 

Page 144



 
 

3. ANY CONSULTATIONS HELD PRIOR TO RECOMMENDATION  
 

3.1 A report was presented on the interim arrangements to The Democracy Services 

Committee for consultation on 29/06/2021.  In addition, as their arrangements are 

separate, a report was presented to the Cabinet on  06/07/2021. 

  
3.1 VIEWS OF THE STATUTORY OFFICERS: 
 
The Monitoring Officer: 
 
Co-author of the report. 
 

 
Head of Finance: 
 
Nothing to add from the perspective of financial propriety. 

 
APPENDIX 
Appendix A  -   Work programme 
Appendix B –   Ammendments to the Constitution relevant to the Cabinet 
Appendix C –   Protocol for Virtual meetings  
Appendix Ch -   Equality Impact Assessment

Page 145



 
 

Page 146



 

Appendix A 
(Cncl = Full Council , Cab. = Cabinet , AGC = Audit and Governance Committee, DSC = Democratic Services Committee, SC = Standards Committee)  

Provisions Description Provision in 
Force  

Responsible 
Officer  

Preparation Steps / Resources 
 

Timetable  

Part 3 Promoting 
Access to Local 
Government,  

1. Right to hold formal meetings on a hybrid and 
virtual basis, but a Policy needs to be adopted 

2. Provide remote attendance for members on a 
statutory basis 

3. Incorporate changes in matters such as 
publishing meeting agendas and dealing with 
matters such as publishing decisions 

4  A duty to encourage public participation in 
matters such as decision-making 

6. The requirement to adopt a Participation 
Strategy 

7. The requirement to adopt a Petitions Scheme  
8  Statutory requirement to webcast a range of 

meetings 
 9. The requirement to publish Guidelines to the 

Constitution 
 
 

1, 2, 3 In Force        
1 May 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4- 9 In Force May 
2022 
 
 

Head of 
Corporate 
Support   

Democracy and Language 
Service to lead on matters 
involving remote attendance, 
participation and publishing 
agendas, etc. 
 
Legal Services to lead on 
reviewing the Constitution and 
preparing Guidelines. 

Reporting on 1,2,3 to 
DSC and Cab. June 
2021 with a report to 
Cncl. in July with a 
recommendation of a 
Virtual Meetings 
Policy. 
 
4-7 Report to Cab. 
October 2021.  
 
8 DSC Report October 
2021 with a request 
for resources to the 
2022 bidding round. 
 
9. Draft to the AGC 
Committee October 
2022. 
 
 

 

P
age 147



Atodiad 2 – Appedix 2 

Addasiadau i’r Cyfansoddiad – Amendments to the Constitution 

P
age 148



Rhan 4 Rheolau Sefydlog Cyngor  

4.16 Cworwm 

4.16.1 Cworwm cyfarfod fydd chwarter y nifer gyfan o Aelodau.  Yn 
ystod unrhyw gyfarfod, os bydd y Cadeirydd yn cyfrif nifer yr 
Aelodau sy’n bresennol ac yn datgan nad oes cworwm yn 
bresennol, yna bydd y cyfarfod yn cael ei ohirio yn syth.  Bydd 
busnes sy’n weddill yn cael ei ystyried ar amser a dyddiad a 
bennir gan y Cadeirydd.  Os nad yw ef/hi yn pennu dyddiad, 
bydd y busnes sy’n weddill yn cael ei ystyried yn y cyfarfod 
cyffredin nesaf. Bydd presenoldeb yn cynnwys 
presenoldeb drwy ddarpariaeth electroneg sydd yn 
caniatáu i’r aelod glywed a siarad y cyfarfod. 

4.16.2   Ni fydd unrhyw ddiffyg yn y ddarpariaeth electroneg  (pa 
un ai yw hynny’n arwain at golli cysylltiad yn llwyr neu’n 
rhannol) yn annilysu unrhyw ran o’r trafodaethau nac yn 
amharu ar unrhyw bleidlais a gymerir.  Caiff y Cadeirydd 
ohirio’r cyfarfod os yw o’r farn fod hynny’n briodol   

4.17 Presenoldeb o Bell 

4.17.1 Darperir cyfarpar fideo-gynadledda yn swyddfeydd y Cyngor 
yn Nolgellau a Phwllheli ac yn Siambr Dafydd Orwig a Siambr 
Hywel Dda yng Nghaernarfon i ganiatáu i aelodau ymuno â 
phwyllgorau heb fod yn bresennol yn ystafell y cyfarfod 
(“ymuno o bell”), ar yr amodau canlynol. 

4.17.2 Dim ond yn y pwyllgorau craffu, y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd a’r Pwyllgor Iaith y bydd modd i aelod ymuno o 
bell. 

4.17.3 Rhaid i aelod sy’n dymuno ymuno o bell mewn pwyllgor roi o 
leiaf 5 4 niwrnod o rybudd i’r Pennaeth Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd. O dderbyn rhybudd yn unol â’r rheol hon bydd 
y Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Democrataidd yn gwneud y 

Part 4 Council Standing Orders 
 
4.16 Quorum 
 
4.16.1 The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole 
number of Members.  During any meeting if the Chair counts the 
number of Members present and declares there is not a quorum 
present, then the meeting will adjourn immediately.  Remaining 
business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chair.  If 
he/she does not fix a date, the remaining business will be considered 
at the next ordinary meeting. Presence will include presence 
through electronic means which allow the member to hear and 
speak at the meeting. 
 
 
4.16.2 The failure of any technological provision whether that 
leads to a partial or complete loss of contact shall not invalidate 
any part of the deliberations or affect any vote taken. The 
Chairman may postpone the meeting if they deem that 
appropriate. 
 
4.17 Remote Attendance 
 
4.17.1 Video-conferencing facilities are provided at the Council 
Offices in Dolgellau and Pwllheli and in the Dafydd Orwig Chamber 
and Hywel Dda Chamber in Caernarfon to allow members to attend 
meetings without being present in the meeting room (“remote 
attendance”), under the following conditions. 
 
4.17.2 Members will only be able to attend remotely at meetings of 
the [scrutiny committees, the Democratic Services Committee and 
Language Committee. 
 
4.17.3 Members wishing to attend remotely must give at least 4 days 
notice of their wish to the Head of Democratic Services. On receiving 
such a notice, the Head of Democratic Services will make the 
necessary arrangements (including the provision of translation) to 
allow the member to attend remotely. 
 

P
age 149



trefniadau angenrheidiol (gan gynnwys unrhyw ddarpariaeth 
gyfieithu) i ganiatáu i’r aelod ymuno o bell. 

4.17.4 Ni fydd cworwm yn y cyfarfod ar unrhyw adeg pan fydd y nifer 
o aelodau sy’n mynychu yn yr ystafell lle cynhelir y cyfarfod yn 
llai na [30%]* o’r holl aelodau sy’n mynychu’r cyfarfod (boed yn 
yr ystafell gyfarfod neu’n ymuno o bell). 

4.17.5 Ni fydd unrhyw ddiffyg yn y ddarpariaeth dechnolegol (pa un 
ai yw hynny’n arwain at golli cysylltiad yn llwyr neu’n rhannol) 
yn annilysu unrhyw ran o’r trafodaethau nac yn amharu ar 
unrhyw bleidlais a gymerir.  Caiff y Cadeirydd ohirio’r cyfarfod 
os yw o’r farn fod hynny’n briodol. 

 
 
 
4.17.4 At any time, there will be no quorum at the meeting if the 
number of      members in the room where the meeting is held is less 
than [30%] of all the members attending the meeting (whether in the 
room or attending remotely). 
 
4.17.5 The failure of any technological provision whether that leads 
to a partial or complete loss of contact shall not invalidate any part of 
the deliberations or any vote taken. The Chairman may postpone the 
meeting if they deem that appropriate. 

4.18.6 Cofnod o Gwestiynau 
 
(a) Bydd y Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Democrataidd yn cofnodi 
pob cwestiwn mewn modd sydd ar gael i’r cyhoedd ei archwilio a 
bydd yn anfon copi o’r cwestiwn ar unwaith at y Cynghorydd y’i 
cyfeirir ato.  Bydd cwestiynau a wrthodwyd yn cynnwys y rhesymau 
dros eu gwrthod. 
(b) Bydd copïau o’r holl gwestiynau yn cael eu dosbarthu i bob 
Cynghorydd a byddant ar gael i’r cyhoedd sy’n mynychu’r cael 
mynediad  cyfarfod.   
 

4.18.6 Record of Questions 
 
(a) The Head of Democratic Services will enter each question in 
a format open to public inspection and will immediately send a copy 
of the question to the Councillor to whom it is to be put.  Rejected 
questions will include reasons for rejection. 
 
(b) Copies of all questions will be circulated to all Councillors and 
will be made available to the public attending  accessing the 
meeting.  
 

Part 5 Cabinet 
5.8.7 Cworwm 
(a) Y cworwm ar gyfer cyfarfod y Cabinet fydd chwarter yr 

aelodau gan gynnwys yr Arweinydd neu’r Dirprwy Arweinydd. 
 
(b) Y cworwm ar gyfer cyfarfod un o bwyllgorau’r Cabinet fydd 

dau.   
 

Bydd presenoldeb yn cynnwys presenoldeb drwy 
ddarpariaeth electroneg sydd yn caniatáu i’r aelod 
glywed a siarad yn y cyfarfod. 

 

Rhan 5 Cabinet 
5.8.7 Quorum 
(a) The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet shall be one quarter 

of the members including the Leader or Deputy Leader. 
 
(b) The quorum for a meeting of a committee of the Cabinet shall 

be 2. 
 

Presence shall include presence through electronic 
means which allow the member to hear and speak at the 
meeting. 

 

P
age 150



Ni fydd unrhyw ddiffyg yn y ddarpariaeth dechnolegol (pa 
un ai yw hynny’n arwain at golli cysylltiad yn llwyr neu’n 
rhannol) yn annilysu unrhyw ran o’r trafodaethau nac yn 
amharu ar unrhyw bleidlais a gymerir.  Caiff y sawl sydd 
yn llywyddu ohirio’r cyfarfod os yw o’r farn fod hynny’n 
briodol. 

 
 

The failure of any technological provision whether that 
leads to a partial or complete loss of contact shall not 
invalidate any part of the deliberations or affect any vote 
taken. Whoever is presiding may postpone the meeting if 
they deem that appropriate. 

Rhan 7 Craffu 
7.17 Cworwm 

Bydd y cworwm ar gyfer Pwyllgor Craffu yn chwarter 
aelodau’r pwyllgor.  

Bydd  presenoldeb yn cynnwys presenoldeb drwy 
ddarpariaeth electroneg sydd yn caniatáu i’r aelod 
glywed a siarad yn y cyfarfod. 

Ni fydd unrhyw ddiffyg yn y ddarpariaeth dechnolegol (pa 
un ai yw hynny’n arwain at golli cysylltiad yn llwyr neu’n 
rhannol) yn annilysu unrhyw ran o’r trafodaethau nac yn 
amharu ar unrhyw bleidlais a gymerir.  Caiff y Cadeirydd 
ohirio’r cyfarfod os yw o’r farn fod hynny’n briodol. 

 

Part 7 Scrutiny 
7.17 Quorum 
The quorum for Scrutiny Committees shall be one quarter of the 
Members of the committee. 
 
Presence will include presence through electronic means which 
allow the member to hear and speak at the meeting. 
 
 
The failure of any technological provision( whether that leads to 
a partial or complete loss of contact )shall not invalidate any 
part of the deliberations or affect any vote taken. The Chairman 
may postpone the meeting if they deem that appropriate. 
 
 
 

Ran 8 Pwyllgor Safonau 
 
8.3 Cworwm 

Bydd cyfarfod o’r Pwyllgor Safonau yn gwneud cworwm dim 
ond pan fydd: 
 
8.3.1 o leiaf 3 o Aelodau, gan gynnwys y Cadeirydd, yn 
bresennol; ac 
 
8.3.2 o leiaf hanner yr Aelodau sy’n bresennol (gan 
gynnwys y Cadeirydd) yn Aelodau Annibynnol. 
 

Rhan 8 Standards Committee  
 
8.3 Quorum 

A meeting of the Standards Committee shall only be quorate 
when: 

 
8.3.1 at least 3 Members, including the Chairperson, are present; 

and 
 
8.3.2 at least half the Members present (including the Chairperson) 

are Independent Members. 
 
 
 

P
age 151



Bydd presenoldeb yn cynnwys presenoldeb drwy 
ddarpariaeth electroneg sydd yn caniatáu i’r aelod 
glywed a siarad yn y  cyfarfod. 
 
Ni fydd unrhyw ddiffyg yn y ddarpariaeth dechnolegol (pa 
un ai yw hynny’n arwain at golli cysylltiad yn llwyr neu’n 
rhannol) yn annilysu unrhyw ran o’r trafodaethau nac yn 
amharu ar unrhyw bleidlais a gymerir.  Caiff y Cadeirydd 
ohirio’r cyfarfod os yw o’r farn fod hynny’n briodol. 
 

Presence will include presence through electronic means which 
allow the member to hear and speak at the meeting. 
 
 
The failure of any technological provision( whether that leads to 
a partial or complete loss of contact )shall not invalidate any 
part of the deliberations or affect any vote taken. The Chairman 
may postpone the meeting if they deem that appropriate. 
. 
 

Rhan 9  Pwyllgorau  
 
9.12.4 Cworwm 
 

(1) Yn ddarostyngedig i (2) isod ni chaniateir trin unrhyw 
fusnes mewn unrhyw gyfarfod o bwyllgor nac is-bwyllgor 
oni bai fod o leiaf chwarter cyfanrif aelodau pleidleisiol y 
pwyllgor neu'r is-bwyllgor, fel y bo'n briodol, yn bresennol 
ac ni chaniateir trin unrhyw fusnes mewn unrhyw achos 
onid oes o leiaf tri aelod pleidleisiol yn bresennol ac 
eithrio yn achos is-bwyllgor sydd yn cynnwys llai na 5 
aelod, pan fydd y cworwm yn ddau aelod â phleidlais. 

 
(2) Ni chaniatier trin busnes mewn unrhyw gyfarfod o’r 

Pwyllgor Cynllunio onibai fod o leiaf hanner cyfanrif nifer 
aelodau pleidleisiol  y Pwyllgor yn bresenol, wedi’i 
dalgrynnu i’r rhif cyfan agosaf. 

 
(3) Bydd presenoldeb yn cynnwys presenoldeb drwy 

ddarpariaeth electroneg sydd yn caniatáu i’r aelod 
glywed a siarad yn y  cyfarfod. 

 
(4) Ni fydd unrhyw ddiffyg yn y ddarpariaeth 

dechnolegol (pa un ai yw hynny’n arwain at golli 
cysylltiad yn llwyr neu’n rhannol) yn annilysu unrhyw 
ran o’r trafodaethau nac yn amharu ar unrhyw 
bleidlais a gymerir.  Caiff y Cadeirydd ohirio’r 
cyfarfod os yw o’r farn fod hynny’n briodol. 

 

Part 9 Committees  
 
9.12.4  Quorum 
 

(1) Subject to (2) below business shall be transacted at any 
meeting of a committee or sub-committee unless at least 
one quarter of the number of voting members of the 
committee or sub-committee, as the case may be, are 
present, provided that in no case shall any business be 
transacted unless at least three voting members are present 
except in the case of a sub-committee comprising less than 
five members, when the quorum shall be two voting 
members. 
 

(2) No business shall be transacted at any meeting of the 
Planning Committee unless at least half of the number of 
voting members of the Committee rounded to the nearest 
whole number are present. 
 

(3) Presence will include presence through electronic 
means which allow the member to hear and speak at the 
meeting. 
 

(4) The failure of any technological provision ( whether that 
leads to a partial or complete loss of contact )shall not 
invalidate any part of the deliberations or affect any 
vote taken. The Chairman may postpone the meeting if 
they deem that appropriate 

 

P
age 152



Rheolau Sefydlog Mynediad i Wybodaeth 
 
14.3 Hawliau i Fynychu Cyfarfodydd 
Caiff aelodau’r cyhoedd gael mynychu mynediad i bob cyfarfod yn 
amodol ar yr eithriadau i’r rheolau hyn yn unig . 
 

Access to Information Procedure Rules 
 
14.3 Rights to Attend Meetings 
Members of the public may attend access all meetings subject only 
to the exceptions in these rules. 
 

 

P
age 153



GWYNEDD COUNCIL 

PROTOCOL FOR VIRTUAL MEETINGS  

1. GENERAL  

 

1.1 This Protocol has been preapared in accordance with Section 47 of The Local 

Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (the Act).  That Act provides for attendance 

at local authority meetings, whilst Part 1 of Schedule 4 amends existing legislation in 

relation to arrangements for local authority meetings and documents, including acess 

by the press and public and requiring electronic publication of certain meeting 

documents.  

1.2 From 1 May 2021, local authorities will be required to make arrangements to ensure 

their meetings are capable of being held virtually, partially virtually or as physical 

meetings.  Section 47 does not prescribe how meetings are to be held, and this is a 

matter for each authority 

1.3  The Council's Constitution Standing Orders arrangements will be followed when holding 

meetings.  The Protocol is designed to advise and support the Constitution and in 

theevent of a conflict between provisions the Constitution will take precendence.  

1.4    Meeting "virtually" is different and requires an alternative way of working.  Neither the 

way the discussion works nor the environment in which contributions are made is the 

same as in an usual meeting.  The purpose of this Protocol is to guide contributors 

through meetings and give guidance on best practice.  

1.5  T his Protocol provides a procedure for virtual meetings in order to ensure that the 

meetings are held in an appropriate and fair manner and ensures the confidence of the 

public in Gwynedd Council's democratic arrangements over the period of the crisis.  

 

2. PRE-MEETING PERIOD 

NOTICE , AGEDNA AND REPORT 

 

2.1 The Agenda and reports will be published and circulated to members as usual. As 

usual, the date and time of the meeting will be noted on the agenda.  

 

2.2 An electronic invitation to the meeting will be sent which will contain a link to 

facilitate access to the meeting. 

 

2.3 The Notice of the meeting  will also include details of the time of the meetings and 

how members of the public can access the meeting. 

2.4 Members of the press and public will be able to access the meeting through one of 

the following means: 

(a) Live webcast, or 

(b) Webinar facilities, or 

(c) An alternative way in appropriate circumstances. 

Page 154



3. 3. THE DAY OF THE COMMITTEE 

 
3.1 TESTING THE SYSTEM AND PREPARING 

All members and officers will be expected to log-in to the system at least 20 minutes before 

the meeting in order to ensure that the connections are working.  As all 75 members are 

invited to the Full Council meeting, members will be expected to log-in to the system 30 

minutes before the meeting. Capacity to resolve technical problems during the meeting is 

limited. 

 

A Democratic Services Officer will test connections immediately in this period to ensure: 

1. That the provision is working 

2. That all members and officers who are taking part have access to the system 

3. If there is a technical problem, to identify a solution and implement it. 

4. That the translation is working for the non-Welsh-speaking members.  

 

A member of the Democratic Team will act as Host and will manage admittance to the 

meeting.   To facilitate arrangements also, technical support will be available in some 

meetings to act as "Technical Manager" in order to deal with any technical issues. 

The legal officer or other lead officer will confirm that a quorum is present and the meeting 

can start and inform the chair. 

 

A quorum is defined as members who are in attendance (logged into the meeting) by 

electronic means and can speak and be heard at the meeting. 

 

3.2 CHAIR TO OPEN THE MEETING 

The Chair will open the meeting by explaining the procedure and how everything will work in 

a virtual meeting (noting the procedure for allowing local members and third parties to 

speak, proposals, requests to speak from committee members and voting).  Specifically, the 

following must be explained: 

 That requests to speak will be made by "raising" the virtual hand and waiting to be 

invited to speak by the Chair. 

 That microphones must be on mute at all times unless a contributor has been 

invited to speak by the Chair.   The microphone should be muted immediately 

afterwards. 

 Explain the procedure in terms of loss of connection etc.  (explain below) and that 

the rules about being present to listen to the addresses apply.  

 The 'chat' function will not be available during a meeting  

 

3.3 DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST AND PROTOCOL MATTERS 

 

 Chair to ask if anyone is declaring an interest.  Members to note by using the 

Raise Hand icon, their intention to declare so that the Chair can ask them to 

address the Committee. 

Page 155



 Members to note the item and the reason for expressing an interest (members 

should contact the Legal Officer beforehand for advice in order to facilitate the 

process).  

 If the member declares a prejudicial interest in any item. When the item begins, 

they must "leave" the meeting.   A Democratic Services Officer will ensure that 

this happens by 'moving' the member to a 'waiting room'.  A Democratic 

Services Officer will ensure that the member re-joins at the end of the item by 

inviting them back to the main meeting from the 'waiting room'. 

 

3.4 DISCUSSION 

 

 Members will note their wish to make or second a proposal or amendment or 

otherwise  speak by using the Raise Hand icon.  Members should not unmute 

their microphone until the Chair has invited them to speak.  So as to maintain 

order and assist the Chair, after speaking, every member will need to lower their 

hand by clicking on the Lower Hand icon and remember to mute their 

microphone immediately. 

 The Chair will go through these in turn.  So as to maintain order, members 

should restrict their contribution to one address.  The Chair will maintain 

discretion to allow additional questions.  

 

3.5 PROPRIETY OFFICERS 

 

The Chair must be aware of any requests by a Statutory Officer to draw the Chair's 

attention to either a matter of order or propriety which needs to be drawn to the 

meeting's attention. Therefore, if the Propriety Officer makes a request to speak they 

should confirm whether the officer wishes to speak immediately in relation to a 

point of order or whether they would be willing to wait their turn. If the Chair does 

not see the Statutory Officer's request to speak, the officer will need to interrupt the 

meeting to sort the matter out. 

 

3.6 VOTE 

 Votes can be undertaken in the following manner: 

o Where there is an available electronic voting system with the use of that 

system, 

o By asking every member with the right to vote to express orally how 

they are voting, i.e. in favour of the proposal, against the proposal or 

abstaining their vote. 

o At a meeting of 12 or fewer voting members, the electronic hand 

method may be used for voting if it is available to members and that it is 

possible to see their vote. 

 

o If the vote is tied, the Chair will use his/her casting vote by expressing 

this orally at the Committee and formally announcing the result.  

 

Page 156



3.7 TECHNICAL ISSUES 

 If, at any time during the Committee, that technical issues mean that an audio 

and/or video connection is lost with members or officers, the Chair will adjourn 

the meeting in an attempt to rectify the problem and allow the member to 

continue to take part whether with video and audio or on an audio only basis.    

 Members are required to contact the Technical Manager or Democratic Services 

Officer if they are  having difficulties. As far as is possible, members and officers 

must have an alternative method for contacting them e.g. phone, e-mail or 

other means. 

 If technical issues remain to the extent that members who wish to participate 

are unable to do so, and that this has a significant effect on an item or items or 

the propriety of continuing, the Chair will consider whether an item or the rest 

of the meeting should be deferred until a later date and/or time.  

 

Page 157



                     

 

 

 

 

                     

For help to complete this form see the How to Undertake an Equality Impact Assessment leaflet.  

You are also welcome to contact Delyth Gadlys Williams, Policy and Equality Officer on ext. 

32708 or DelythGadlysWilliams@gwynedd.llyw.cymru for further assistance. 

 

The Council’s is required (under the Equality Act 2010) to consider the effect any change in 

policy or procedure (or the creation of a new policy or procedure), has on people with 

protected equality characteristics.  The Council also has a general duty to ensure fairness and 

foster good relations.  A timely Equality Impact Assessment must be undertaken before 

making any decision on any relevant change (i.e. which has an effect on people with protected 
characteristics. 

 

1 Details  
 

1.1 What is the name of the policy / service in question? 

 

 

Remote attendance and Access to the Public Project.     

 

Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 requires the Council to provide remote 

attendance for elected members and Access to the public to see and hear proceedings at 

public meetings. 

 

       

  

1.2  What is the purpose of the policy/ Service that is being created or 

amended?  What chances are being considered?  

 

Originally, the project aimed to ensure that we were able to   

a) hold virtual meetings (without any physical presence in a meeting room)   

b) ensure that elected members could take part in committee meetings by remote attendance 

should they wish to do so.   

 

By September 2020 the project moved towards ensuring that the public were able to Access 
virtual meetings by seeing and/or hearing proceedings in our main committee meetings as it 

was a Council priority.   

 

Presently, as it is a requirement of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 we 

are working towards  

 Ensuring that elected members are able to take part remotely when a meeting is held 

in a specific location (subject to covid-19 restrictions). 

 Access to the public to see and hear proceedings at public meetings 
 

           

 

Equality Impact Assessment 

Page 158

mailto:DelythGadlysWilliams@gwynedd.llyw.cymru


1.3 Who is responsible for this assessment? 

 

 

Vera Jones, Democracy Services and Language Manager -  on behalf of the Remote Attendance 

Project Board 

 

 

 

1.4  When did you commence the assessment?  Which version is this? 

 

 

The first assessment was started in June 2020 in preparation for our first virtual meetings due 

to the covid pandemic.   

This is the second version, which includes further developments within the project.  It was 

reviewed June 2021. 

 

      

 2)  Action 
 

 

2.1 Who are the partners you need to work with to undertake this assessment? 

 

 

Councillors 

IT Service 

Property Department 

Staff 

 

 

 

2.2  What measures have you taken to engage with people with equality 

characteristics? 

 

 

 

1. Informal discussions were undertaken with Gwynedd Councillors prior to the 

commencement of our first virtual meetings using Teams and prior to using Zoom – in 

particular non Welsh speakers.   

2. Arrangements for committee meetings (and others) in the future were discussed with 

the Democracy Services Committee on 18/02/2021 and in addition all members were 

asked for comments as part of the satisfaction survey in June 2021.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 159



2.3 What was the result of the engagement? 

 

 

1. The original provision was adapted from Teams to Zoom following comments by 

elected members that the translation provision offered via zoom offered a fairer and 

simpler Service for Welsh speakers and non-Welsh speakers, with all involved 

attending the same meeting and directions much simpler to follow.  The changes were 

made following assurance of the Security issues regarding the technology.   

 

2. A number of members have noted the benefits of virtual meetings, especially with 

regards to   

 Contributing to the carbon reduction agenda by reducing travelling  

 Promoting diversity in Democracy by encouraging the flexibility of remote 

access to virtual meetings and thereby attracting more people who work and 

young parents  

 Using Councillors' time more sensibly by reducing travelling requirements  

 And reducing travelling costs 

 

3. In addition, numerous comments have been made by Councillors in various meetings 

about meeting arrangements in the future, with most noting the need for a 

combination of virtual meetings and hybrid meetings.   

 

 

 

 

2.4 On the basis of what other evidence are you operating? 

 

  

The project was started primarily in response to the covid-19 pandemic and the requirement 

to continue with democratic arrangements whilst adhering to restrictions to stay at home and 

not attend the Office (including the Council chamber). 

 

The restrictions with regards to “work from home where possible” remain in place.  In 

addition, we must respond to the requirements of the Local government and Elections 

(Wales) 2021 Act to  

 Ensure that elected members are able to take part remotely when a meeting is held in 

a specific location (subject to covid-19 restrictions). 

 Access to the public to see and hear proceedings at public meetings 

 

 

 

2.5  Are there any gaps in the evidence that needs to be collected? 

 

 

Consultations with people with additional needs eg sight and hearing impairments to ensure 

that the provision is suitable for their needs.   

 

 

 

Page 160



 3) Identifying the Impact  
 

 

3.1  The Council has to give due regard to the effect any changes will have on 

people with the equality characteristics noted below.  What impact will the 

new policy/service or the proposed changes in the policy or service have 
on people with these characteristics?  You are welcome to any other 
characteristics if you wish 

   
 

Characteristics What type 

of impact?*  

 

In what way?  What is the evidence? 

 

Race (including 

nationality) 

Positive / 

negative / 

none  

No impact has been identified 

The Welsh 

language 

 

Positive a) Virtual meetings 

Positive effect on the Welsh and English language by 

using zoom as the provision for virtual meetings  as 

meetings continue to be held through the medium 

of Welsh with the simultaneous translation Service 

easily available to those who require it.     

 

b) Remote Attendance 

We will need to ensure that simultaneous 

translation service is available to anyone who 

attends a meeting (be it in the location or remote 

attendance).  We are currently working on a hybrid 

solution.   

 

c) Public Access 

Public access is available to the public through 

webcasting, which is available in Welsh and English.   

 

Disability  

 

 

Positive / 

negative / 

none 

Autism – Some may experience a positive effect due to 

lessening anxiety compared with being in a Chamber.  On 

the other hand, it can be a negative experience if the time 

on screen is too long, however individuals are able to 

choose to leave.    

 

Mental Health conditions – it can be a positive experience 

for some who experience conditions such as anxiety by 

making it easier to take part in meetings without the 

camera on and not feeling additional pressure.  It may effect 
negatively without the human contact leading to raised 

anxiety. 

   

Visual impairment – too much screen time could lead to a 

negative effect.   

Page 161



 

Hearing impairment – a positive impact as remote 

attendance allows for the individual to adjust sound levels 

or use earphones to eliminate background noise.  .   

 

Physical impairment – positive effect as the need for a 

specific location and the need to travel are eliminated.   

Sex 

 

Positive / 

negative / 

none  

No impact has been identified 

Age Positive / 

negative / 

none 

It is probable that some may feel a positive effect of remote 

attendance without having to leave their homes.   

 

Sexual 

orientation 

 

Positive / 

negative / 

none  

No impact has been identified 

Religion or 

belief (or non-

belief) 

Positive / 

negative / 

none  

No impact has been identified 

Gender 

reassignment 

 

Positive / 

negative / 

none  

No impact has been identified 

Pregnancy and 

maternity 

 

Positive / 

negative / 

none 

Positive effect for pregnant women and breast feeding 

mothers with remote attendance should they wish, without 

having to travel to a specific location.   

 

Positive effect on parents by reducing the time taken to 

travel to meetings by ensuring parents are able to access 

remotely.   

Marriage and 

civil 

partnership  

Positive / 

negative / 

none  

No impact has been identified 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 162



3.2  The Council has a duty under the 2010 Equality Act to contribute 

positively to a fairer society by promoting equality and good relations in 
its activities regarding the following characteristics – age, gender, sexual 
orientation, religion, race, gender reassignment, disability and pregnancy 
and maternity.   The Council must give due attention to the way any 
change affects these duties. 

  
 

General Duties 

of the Equality 

Act 

 

Does it have 

an impact?*    

In what way?  What is the evidence? 

Abolishing 

illegal 

discrimination, 

harassment 

and 

victimisation 

 

No   

Promoting 

equal 

opportunities 

 

Yes  Virtual Meetings.  Positive effect as there is more 

discipline in virtual meetings with equal opportunity for 

all to speak.  Individuals can also choose to take part 

with their cameras off.   

 

Remote attendance.  Yes, positive effect as above.  

However, until hybrid solution is in place we will not 

know if there are equal opportunities for all or will 

those attending remotely feel ignored.   

 

Access to the public – the new arrangements will lead 
to improved and simpler access to the public to hear 

and view committee meetings ensuring transparency in 

our democratic arrangements.  Individuals will not be 

required to travel to specific locations at a specific time.   

 

On the other hand, there may be a negative effect as the 

provision available is dependent on access to a 

computer and the web.  Individuals without the 

provisions are able to use the computers at their local 

library (subject to covid restrictions).    

 

Encouraging 

good 

relationships 

 

Yes and no Virtual meetings and remote attendance could be 

positive in encouraging good relationships as it enables 

some to participate in meetings who would not be able 

to do so otherwise.   

 

On the other hand, there is a conception that forming 

good and new relations through virtual means could be 

more challenging due to the lack of informal networking.  

Page 163



4)  Analysing the results  

 

4.1 Is the policy therefore likely to have a significant, positive impact on any of 

the equality characteristics or the General Duty and what is the reason for 

this? 

 

 

As noted above, the changes outlined above have enabled the Council’s democratic 

arrangements, including holding committees who make key decisions, to continue during the 

pandemic.   

 

The changes to enable meetings to be held virtually or hybrid, ensuring elected members are 

able to Access remotely is likely to have a positive impact on a number of the equality 

characteristics  as noted in 3.1 – mainly for pregnant females, breastfeeding mothers and 

individuals with a physical impairment of mental health condition.   

 

In addition, arrangements for ensuring Access to the public through webcasting or other 

means enable more of Gwynedd residence to Access democratic proceedings leading to 

improved transparency.   

 
 

 

4.2 Is the policy therefore likely to have a significant, negative impact on any of 

the equality characteristics or the General Duty and what is the reason for 

this? 
 

 

 

We acknowledge that there are two sides to every story, with the possible negative effects 

outlined in 3.1 above.   
 

However, the Equality Impact Assessment has not identified impacts which would lead to a 

change in the recommendation.   

 

4.3    What should be done?  

 

Choose one of the following: 

 
 

Continue with the policy / service as it is robust 

 
 
 

Adapt the policy to delete any barriers  

 

 

 

Suspend and delete the policy as the detrimental impacts are too big  

 

 

 

Page 164



Continue with the policy as any detrimental impact can be justified  

 

 

 

 

 

4.4 What steps will you take to reduce or mitigate any negative impacts? 

 

 

 

Possible negative effects have been outlined in 3.1 above and will receive due consideration as 

the developments proceed.    

 

The work will be reviewed often with updates reported to the Full Council.   

 

 

 

 

4.5 If you are not taking any further action to delete or reduce the negative 

impacts, explain why here. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5)  Monitoring  

 

5.1 What steps will you take to monitor the impact and effectiveness of the 

policy or service (action plan)? 

 

 

The Local Government and Elections (Wales) 2021Act clearly states the requirement for the 

Council to publish our arrangements for committee meetings and access to the public.  

Interim arrangements will be presented to the Full Council in July 2021, with a review of the 

arrangements to be presented in October 2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Version 2 – Reviewed June 2021 

Page 165



 

Meeting: THE COUNCIL 

Date: 8th July 2021 

Title Electoral Registration Officer/Returning Officer 

Purpose of the  

Report 

Appoint the Above Officer. 

Cabinet Member Councillor Nia Jeffreys 

Officer: Iwan Evans , Monitoring Officer. 

 

1. Under Section 8 of the Representation of the People Act 1983 the 

Council is required to appoint an Electoral Registration Officer for each 

constituency, or part of the constituency within the County. 

2. Under the same Act the Electoral Registration Officer shall be the 

Acting Returning Officer for parliamentary elections. 

3. Under Section 35 of the same Act the Council is required to appoint 

one of its officers to act as Returning Officer for local elections (County 

and Community). 

4. The role of the Returning Officer (and that of the Electoral Registration 

Officer) is entirely separate to the role of a Council officer and the 

responsibility for discharging the duties of electoral registration and 

running elections is a personal one on the individual post-holder. 

5. As the present Electoral Registration Officer/Returning Officer has 

retired  the post is  vacant and the Council is required to appoint a 

successor from that date 

6. Usually (but not always), the Council's Chief Executive is appointed 

as Electoral Registration Officer and Returning Officer. It is 

recommended therefore that this role be given to the Chief Executive, 

Mr Dafydd Gibbard. 

7. The day to day work of maintaining the electoral register is the 

responsibility of the Monitoring Officer who is already the Deputy 

Electoral Registration Officer. 

Page 166

Agenda Item 10



9. It is recommended that the Council resolves as follows: 

(a) To appoint the Chief Executive as Electoral Registration Officer 

for every constituency and part of a constituency within the 

County in accordance with Section 8(2A) Representation of the 

People Act 1983. 

(b) To appoint the Chief Executive as Returning Officer for the 

election of councillors to the Council and the election of 

community councillors within the county in accordance with 

Section 35(1A) Representation of the People Act 1983. 

 
STATUTORY OFFICERS COMMENTS: 
 
Monitoring Officer 
 
Report Author 
 
Statutory Finance Officer: 

Elections costs and the electoral registration officer / returning officer are 
funded by a Government grant / Cabinet Office separately from the Council’s 
accounts. 
The decision sought does not create a financial commitment for the Council, 
therefore I have nothing to add from a financial propriety perspective. 
 

Page 167



 

GWYNEDD COUNCIL 

 

 

Report to a meeting of Gwynedd Council 
 

Date of meeting:  8 July 2021 

Title of Item: Scrutiny Annual Report 2020-21 

Member: Councillor Beth Lawton, Chair of the Scrutiny Forum 

Contact Officer: Geraint Owen, Head of Democratic Services (Head of 
Corporate Support Department) 

  

 
 

THE DECISION SOUGHT 
 
To accept the report. 
 
 
BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE 
 
1. In accordance with the constitution, a report is submitted to a meeting of the Full 

Council elaborating on the scrutiny work carried out during the year.  
 

2. This is the first full year of implementing our current scrutiny arrangements 
following the scrutiny review. Inevitably, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, we had to 
adapt with scrutiny activities being held on a virtual basis. 

 
3. The report, which provides an overview of the scrutiny work undertaken during 

2020-21, is shared under these headings: 

 Scrutiny Forum 

 Scrutiny Items 

 Call-in 

 Scrutiny Investigations 

 Parking Task Group 

 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015  

 Cabinet Members Sessions 

 Facts about Scrutiny in Gwynedd in 2020/21 
 
4. With an increasing emphasis placed on assessing the impact of scrutiny work, 

focus was placed on scrutiny items that added value through the scrutiny work.  
 

5. At the Full Council meeting on 3 December 2020, the Council adopted a notice of 
motion submitted by Councillor Paul Rowlinson in relation to the control of 
firework displays. One clause of the adopted notice was to request the 
Communities Scrutiny Committee give consideration within its work programme 
to review what steps the Council could take to promote or encourage: 

Page 168

Agenda Item 11



 
 That all public firework displays within the local authority boundaries should 

be advertised in advance of the event, allowing residents to take precautions 
for their animals and vulnerable people. 

 A public awareness campaign about the impact of fireworks on animal 
welfare and vulnerable people – including precautions that can be taken to 
mitigate risks. 

 Local suppliers of fireworks to stock ‘low-noise’ fireworks for public displays. 

 People to limit the use of fireworks to a period close to specific dates. 
 
Consideration was given to the matter at the meeting of the Communities 
Scrutiny Committee Meeting on 22 April 2021, the relevant information can be 
viewed on page 10 of the annual report. 
 

6. A list of all items scrutinised at formal meetings during the year has been 
included as an appendix to the annual report.  

 
7. A concise version of the report has been produced with the intention to present 

2020-21 scrutiny work in a succinct and easy to read format. 
 
 
APPENDICES: 

  
Appendix 1 - Scrutiny Annual Report 2020-21 
Appendix 2 - Concise Version 
 
 
ANY CONSULTATIONS UNDERTAKEN PRIOR TO RECOMMENDING THE 
DECISION 
 
THE STATUTORY OFFICERS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
 
Monitoring Officer: 
 
The report underlines the wide ranging work carried out by the scrutiny committees. 
 
Statutory Finance Officer: 
 
I appreciate the intelligent scrutiny input from Gwynedd Council’s conscientious 
members, especially the constructive forward scrutiny aspects such as the Audit and 
Governance Committee's activity with a focus on risk in the 2021/22 Budget cycle. 
Otherwise, I note that this summary report is presented for information, so I have 
nothing to add from a financial propriety perspective. 
 

Page 169



ANNUAL SCRUTINY REPORT  

2020-21 

Page 170



1 

Foreword 

2020-21 was an extraordinary year with the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic seen on a 
global scale. This period has taught us the need to appreciate the little things, the 
importance of community and the need to support vulnerable individuals and families. 

This is the first full year of implementing our current scrutinising arrangements following 
the scrutiny review. The scrutiny work was delayed for a while due to the huge work 
pressures on Council services, which stemmed from the response to the Covid-19 
pandemic. During this difficult time, an effort was made to continue with the scrutiny work, 
adapting to hold our activities on a virtual basis. The journey to restart the work is 
elaborated upon in the report.

This report provides a summary of the scrutiny work achieved during the year, focusing 
on the main scrutiny work and expanding on items scrutinised in formal meetings. When 
identifying items to scrutinise, members consider how the scrutiny work could add value 
and contribute towards driving improvement in services for the people of Gwynedd. 

A list of all items scrutinised in formal meetings during the year can be seen in an 
appendix to this report.  

I wish to record my appreciation of the contribution and work of the chairs and vice-
chairs, and all scrutiny members that have been part of undertaking important scrutiny 
work during the year.  Members have responded positively to the change in the way of 
completing the scrutiny work with valuable contributions at virtual meetings of the scrutiny 
committees. 

In addition, I would like to thank Gwynedd residents, Cabinet Members, other agencies 
and relevant officers for their contributions and their support.  

Looking ahead to 2021-22, scrutiny workshops were held in May in order for scrutiny 
committees to prioritise items by drawing up their draft work programme. The scrutiny 
work will be essentially important to contribute towards driving improvements in services 
for the people of Gwynedd. 

Councillor Beth Lawton, 

Chair of the Scrutiny Forum 

Page 171



2 

Contents 

Scrutiny Forum 3 – 4

Scrutiny Items 5 – 10

Call-in 11 – 12

Scrutiny Investigations 13 – 15

Parking Task Group 16

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015  

17

Cabinet Members Sessions  18

Facts about Scrutiny in Gwynedd in 2020/21 19

Appendix 

List of all items scrutinised in formal meetings during 
the year 

20 – 21

Page 172



3 

Scrutiny Forum 

Members of the Scrutiny Forum include the Chairs and Vice-chairs of the Scrutiny 
Committees and the Audit and Governance Committee. The Forum takes an overview 
of all the Council's scrutiny work with members challenging each other to ensure that 
the right matters are prioritised. 

Membership of the Scrutiny Forum during 2020/21:

 Education and Economy Scrutiny Committee

Councillor                             Councillor 

Paul Rowlinson             Elwyn Jones 

Communities Scrutiny Committee

Councillor                                                Councillor 

Elfed P. Roberts                                                   Gethin Glyn Williams 

 Care Scrutiny Committee 

Councillor                                                 Councillor   

Dewi Wyn Roberts                                           Beth Lawton 

Audit and Governance Committee 
(Role of Scrutinising Corporate Issues) 

Councillor                                          Councillor                                       Councillor

John Brynmor                                           Angela Russell                 John Pughe  
Hughes                           (until 15/10/20)                Roberts (from

0 15/10/20) 

Page 173



4 

The role of the Scrutiny Forum is:

 Advise to PRIORITISE scrutiny items (majority being formal scrutiny with a 
small number of investigations) and challenge the basis of identifying matter 
to scrutinise. 

 Identify the most effective scrutiny method within the resources available 
(formal scrutiny/investigation) 

 Identify items for information, seeking to avoid using scrutiny arrangements to 
fulfil the information sharing role. 

 Assess the contributions of the individual committees and assess the IMPACT 
of the scrutiny work, and review our scrutiny arrangements on an ongoing 
basis.   

The Forum was key in terms of restarting the scrutiny work after it was delayed for a 
while due to the huge work pressures on the Council, which stemmed from the response 
to the Covid-19 pandemic.  

A meeting was held on 10 July 2020 to discuss the way forward with recommencing the 
scrutiny work. It was concluded to invite members to submit matters for Chairs and Vice-
chairs to raise at informal meetings with Cabinet Members, Heads of Department and the 
relevant Director during the period between 16 and 23 September.

Following the informal meetings, a meeting of the Forum was held on 29 September 
2020 to confirm the way forward in terms of restarting the formal scrutiny work, and a 
discussion was held in terms of prioritising items. 

Meetings of the scrutiny committees recommenced in October 2020. An informal session 
was held for Forum members in December 2020 with an opportunity for members to 
reflect after the first virtual meetings. 

The Forum met on 2 February 2020, a discussion was held on the practical 
arrangements of the virtual scrutiny committee meetings. The future was considered at 
this meeting and arrangements to draw up a work programme for 2021/22 were 
confirmed. It was resolved to hold workshops for each committee in May 2021 with an 
opportunity for all members to submit potential items for the work programme. 

The Scrutiny Forum enables Chairs and Vice-chairs to have an overview of all scrutiny 
work, recognising that prioritising items for a timely discussion will mean that there will be 
a difference in terms of the number of items included on committee meeting agendas. As 
a result, the practical arrangements of scrutiny committee meetings vary from meeting to 
meeting. 

Membership of the Scrutiny Forum will change during the Council year of 2021/22. A 
training plan will be formulated for chairs and vice-chairs with attention given to 
practical/technical matters and governance matters. 

Page 174



5 

Scrutiny Items 

During 2020/21, items for scrutiny were prioritised considering the context of the Covid-
19 pandemic and the huge pressures on Council services. A snapshot of the items 
scrutinised in formal meetings is provided below. The items that have added the most 
value are focused upon. A complete list of items scrutinised in formal meetings can be 
seen in the Appendix to this report.  All information on what was discussed during 
2020/21 can be seen on the Council website - https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/scrutiny 

North Wales Economic Growth 

Over the past few years, the Education and Economy Scrutiny 
Committee has been a key part of the process to establish the North 
Wales Economic Ambition Board and has scrutinised the work of the 
Board after its establishment.  In 2016, partners of the Ambition Board 
adopted a Growth Vision for the Economy of North Wales with the 
Growth Deal agreed upon in October 2018. The North Wales Growth 
Deal is a portfolio that includes five programmes for implementation 
over the next fifteen years, seeking to deliver a total of up to £1.1bn of 
investment in the north Wales economy (£240m from the Growth 
Deal). In November 2019 the Ambition Board, the Welsh and UK Governments came to 
an agreement on the heads of terms, for final deal agreement to be completed in 2020. 

At the meeting of the scrutiny committee on 5 November 2020, the key documents and 
the final agreement were scrutinised before they were submitted to the Cabinet and the 
Full Council for approval. Prior to recommending to the Council, the scrutiny committee 
was required to consider whether the Business Plan, Governance Agreement 2, the 
funding model and the operational arrangements were clear and robust to achieve the 
objectives of the Growth Agreement for the benefit of the businesses and residents of 
Gwynedd. 

Here are some of the observations submitted by scrutiny members during the meeting: 
 Approve the principles and vision, but that the major problem would be achieving 

the goal, as now was not a good time to set up this kind of plan bearing in mind 
Covid and Brexit and everything else we were up against. 

 Concern that the majority of the sector that contributed most to the plan, i.e. the 
private sector, was in the north-east. The Wylfa B scheme would have contributed 
to the sector in the north-west, but this would no longer be happening.  

 That the plan laid very firm foundations and that many of the projects were 
interesting and ambitious. 

 It would have been good to see some of the investment coming to the Llŷn 
Peninsula and south Meirionnydd, but best wishes were extended to the Board 
and officers as they worked together to ensure a thriving and economically 
prosperous north Wales. 

After receiving responses to the observations of members, the scrutiny committee was of 
the view that the Business Plan; Governance Agreement 2; the funding model and the 
operational arrangements are clear and robust to achieve the objectives of the Growth 
Agreement for the benefit of the businesses and residents of Gwynedd. The Full Council 
approved the report and the action to complete a final agreement at its meeting on 3 
December 2020. 

Page 175

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/scrutiny


6 

The Education and Economy Scrutiny Committee will continue to scrutinise the work of 
the North Wales Economic Ambition Board in future.  

Delivering the Youth Engagement and Development Framework in 
Gwynedd 

The Youth Engagement and Development Framework was introduced by the Welsh 
Government in 2013. The framework sets out the government's strategy to reduce the 
number of young people between 11 and 25 years old who are not in employment, 
education or training (NEET). The role of the Management Group that has been 
established in Gwynedd is to set a local vision for the Framework. 

A number of services in the Council contribute towards supporting young people who are 
at risk of falling out of education, or who are not in education, training or work,including 
the Youth Justice Service; Children and Supporting Families Service; Additional Learning 
Needs and Inclusion Service and the Youth Service.  

The Council's arrangements and provisions to support young people who are at risk of 
disengaging from education or who have disengaged from education, training or 
employment were scrutinised at the meeting of the Education and Economy Scrutiny 
Committee on 15 April 2021. This was done in the context of funding from the European 
Social Fund (ESF) for specific projects coming to an end: 

Reduce the number of individuals who are at 
risk of being NEET by supporting young 
people aged 11-16 through a variety of 

interventions and consequently improve the 
life chances of vulnerable individuals 

Support Young People aged 16-24 to 
re-engage with Education, Training or 

Employment. 

Funding ends in July 2022  
The total value of the scheme is £4.6 million 

(£3.3M of ESF funding). 

Funding ends in May 2021 
The total value of the scheme is 

£1.6 million (£1.1M ESF funding). 

It was noted during the discussion, from the information submitted, that the projects had 
been successful. Concern was expressed in terms of the future given the impact of 
leaving the European Union and the impact 
of the Covid-19 pandemic on the provision. 
It was resolved to accept the report, noting 
the observations made - particularly in 
respect of the suitability of the Framework's 
arrangements, the need to offer full support 

"The observations are very 
much welcomed." 

Cabinet Member

Page 176



7 

for young people who are at risk of disengaging / are disengaged from the field of 
education, training or employment, ensuring that these elements are addressed when 
reviewing our provisions in the future. The committee would consider the field further, 
discussing the timetable for that at the committee's Annual Workshop in May. 

Use of the Housing Support Grant to reduce homelessness in 
Gwynedd 

Since the beginning of the pandemic, homelessness has been highlighted as a matter 
that requires immediate attention. There was a 26% increase in referrals to the 
homelessness service during the past year, with the number of homeless people 71% 
higher than it was following the inception of the Housing Act 2014. In 2020/21, 
approximately 950 individuals were homeless. 

At the Care Scrutiny Committee on 18 March 2021, the intended direction to take in order 
to ensure that the Housing Support Grant lead to the best possible support for the 
homeless in Gwynedd and to prevent homelessness in the future was scrutinised. The 
aspiration of the Housing and Property Department was to wind up the overuse of bed 
and breakfast accommodation by providing a sufficient supply of temporary 
accommodation and developing suitable supported accommodation to be used to meet 
this demand. The Housing Action Plan sets out how the aspiration will be achieved with a 
sufficient budget available to provide such a resource over the next few years. In 2019-
20, the Care Scrutiny Committee was part of the process as the Council adopted the 
Housing Action Plan 2020-2025. The scrutiny work managed to contribute to prioritising 
the schemes and to highlight further matters that required consideration.  

When scrutinising the matter, it was noted that one type of service would not be suitable 
for everyone, as well as the importance of collaborating with local agencies and local 
members. The motion to end the need to use bed and breakfast accommodation as 
temporary accommodation was supported. A proposal to increase the size of the support 
team was welcomed, as was the aim of reducing the staffing ratio from one supporting 
officer to approximately 60 individuals to one officer to approximately 25 vulnerable 
individuals. An enquiry was made regarding future funding, it was confirmed that there 
was no definite certainty regarding the grant funding, but the instructions highlighted the 
need to plan on a long-term basis. 

The Housing and Property 
Department will undertake a joint 
exercise with local providers over the 
coming year to review the valuable 
services provided by them, and return 
with a further review on the findings of 
the work to the Care Scrutiny 
Committee for further input. 

Research Paper: Managing the use of dwellings as holiday homes 

A report was submitted to the Communities Scrutiny Committee on 5 December 2019 
updating the Committee on the detailed research that the Cabinet had agreed for the 
Environment Department to conduct in relation to holiday homes. The objective of the 

Page 177



8 

work was to seek to address how we could limit the number of houses that could be used 
for holiday purposes, looking at measures that are being implemented in other places 
and how could planning legislation be changed for implementing in Wales. 

At the committee meeting on 10 December 2020, members received the opportunity to 
scrutinise the research on holiday homes before the Cabinet considered it on 15 
December 2020.  

Some of the observations made by members in their discussion were: 
 The report was welcomed - it was a good foundation to begin lobbying and was a 

golden opportunity to change the system and to take responsibility and control of 
the situation.   

 The report addressed matters such as AirBnB, however, not enough was being 
made to change the Planning Act by setting thresholds for control. It was 
necessary to persuade the Welsh Government to change the Act.   

 It was necessary to act and challenge the Government to make a difference.  
 More details regarding employment was required as well as the high house prices 

in some areas. This would highlight how the Welsh language was losing its 
foothold - the Welsh language strongholds were losing their Welsh character. 

 There was a need to close the gaps in order not to avoid regulatory 
arrangements. 'Short let holiday units' could be targeted - owner was likely to 
transfer back to the 'second home' category as a way of avoiding control.  

 A suggestion to adopt 'intervention' - create two tiers, holiday and local, that 
would protect the local housing stock and drive prices.  

 Need to consider Land Transaction Tax - an opportunity to charge a premium  
 Control was required over 'second homes' - no opportunities or homes were 

available for young people  

The contents of the report were accepted and 
officers were thanked for presenting evidence and 
detailed and useful information which may be 
used to try to convince Welsh Government to 
change its planning policies. At its meeting on 15 
December 2020 in light of the need to obtain 
better control of houses being taken out of the 
supply available for local people, and thus benefit 
local residents first, the Cabinet resolved to 
approve the research work to be submitted to 
Welsh Government. 

Public Protection Service 

One Council service that has been significantly affected in terms of service provision 
during the pandemic is the Public Protection Service. Members of the Communities 
Scrutiny Committee were eager to scrutinise their work during the period.  

A report was submitted to the committee on 25 February 2021 detailing the work. It was 
explained that there were 3 services prior to the pandemic, namely: 

 Pollution Control and Licensing Service 
 Trading Standards and Animal Health / Animal Feed Services 

Page 178



9 

 Food, Health and Safety Service (including infectious diseases) 

In light of the pandemic, Public Protection duties involving infectious diseases have 
clearly become one of the Council's main priorities, and a new Service was created in 
May 2020 to undertake the relevant work, namely the Test, Trace and Protect - Covid 
Service. The service came into operation on 1 June 2020.  

One concern was noted for the service in moving forward, namely the provision of normal 
service as well as the current requirements relating to the pandemic. 

During the discussion, the following observations were made by members: 
 Gratitude was expressed for the report and to the whole department for their very 

important work during the period. 
 There was praise for the tracing officers who had worked tirelessly in order to 

contact everyone involved, especially when a surge of Covid-19 was seen in 
some areas. 

 How does the department deal with residents who have started food businesses 
from their homes during the pandemic? 

 The news that three new members had been appointed to the department was 
welcomed and it was noted that this was a good move for the future. 

 Members gave thanks for all e-mail updates provided on the public protection 
situation and it was reiterated that this report outlined the additional work that was 
being done. 

 It was asked whether the service was confident that it would be able to cope with 
its workload when normal duties returned. 

As part of their response to the above observations, the 
officers noted that the service would be under pressure 
should inspections recommence at the usual scale, on top 
of the Covid-19 duties. It was acknowledged that the 
department's officers worked long hours and that this was 
now a long-term situation, and not a temporary one as 
initially anticipated. It was noted that support from the 
Council and Welsh Government to appoint additional staff 
was to be welcomed as this reduced pressure on officers.  
A challenging period was anticipated in coping with the 
phased reopening of the economy. 

The field was identified as a matter to be monitored by the committee. At the request of 
the Head of Department and Cabinet Member, consideration was given to the staffing 
resources of the Public Protection Service at the meeting of the Communities Scrutiny 
Committee on 22 April 2021.  

The report detailed the challenges in relation to ensuring capacity and resilience now and 
in the future. During the discussion, members noted the need to strengthen resilience for 
the long-term and that savings made in the services had gone far. Reference was made 
to the need to retain experienced staff and attract new staff and in the context of higher 
salaries in other north Wales councils. It was resolved to accept the report, noting the 
observations made during the meeting, and to recommend that the Cabinet considered 
looking at staff salary scales across the Council, and how they compared with the 
salaries of neighbouring councils. 

Page 179



10 

Control of Firework Displays 

At the Full Council meeting on 3 December 2020, the Council adopted a notice of motion 
submitted by Councillor Paul Rowlinson in relation to the control of firework displays. One 
clause of the adopted notice was to request the Communities Scrutiny Committee give 
consideration within its work programme to review what steps the Council could take to 
promote or encourage: 
 That all public firework displays within the local authority boundaries should be 

advertised in advance of the event, allowing residents to take precautions for their 
animals and vulnerable people. 

 A public awareness campaign about the impact of fireworks on animal welfare and 
vulnerable people – including precautions that can be taken to mitigate 
risks. 

 Local suppliers of fireworks to stock ‘quieter’ fireworks for public displays. 
 People to limit the use of fireworks to a period close to specific dates. 

In accordance with the request, the matter was discussed at the meeting of the 
Communities Scrutiny Committee Meeting on 22 April 2021. A presentation was given by 
the Assistant Head of Environment where it was explained that statutory requirements 
applied to the sale and storage of fireworks, the type of fireworks permitted as well as 
noise restrictions and sale periods. It was explained that the law restricted the Council's 
ability to change regulations regarding fireworks. 

Some of the observations made by members in their discussion were: 
 Welcomed the report and suggested that the fireworks code needed to be amended 

or restrictions imposed on the licences of retailers and give them further guidelines 
to avoid anti-social use. 

 That most residents followed the rules and that only a minority were being anti-
social and setting them off from mid-October onwards and not on Bonfire Night only. 

 Thanked Councillor Paul Rowlinson for submitting this important matter to the Full 
Council. 

 Would a further report be submitted to the Committee? A suggestion to establish a 
sub-group to discuss the matter including the Councillor who had proposed the 
notice of motion. 

 That fireworks had now been developed to be much noisier and disturbed people on 
a larger scale. 

In response to the observations, the officers noted: 

 That advising consumers before events was something that officers had been doing 
for a while. It was noted that improvements were possible in terms of highlighting 
the guidelines and also by continuing to maintain a good working relationship with 
the retailers.

 Agreed to continue to raise awareness and highlight 
good practice and to discuss with the Councillor who 
had proposed the notice of motion. 

 It was possible to highlight and share good practice 
with retailers and consumers as a way forward. The 
Council had been bound by law in terms of what 
could be done. 

                         Image: “freepik.com @lifeforstock’

It was resolved to accept the report, noting the observations made during the meeting. 

Page 180



11 

Call-in 

As part of the scrutiny system, members have the right to call-in decisions to be 
scrutinised. The process of calling in a decision - the Chair or Vice-chair of a scrutiny 
committee, along with two members of that Scrutiny Committee (from two different 
groups) will need to make a request, noting their reasons for calling in the decision.  

In 2020/21, one decision was called in for scrutiny, namely: 

At the request of Councillors Paul Rowlinson (Chair of the Scrutiny Committee), Dewi 
Roberts (Local Member) and Elwyn Jones (Vice-chair of the Scrutiny Committee), the 
decision was scrutinised at a meeting of the Education and Economy Scrutiny Committee 
on 8 October 2020. An opportunity was given to the Cabinet Member and the Education 
Department to respond to the reasons for call-in, the Local Member submitted information 
and the Chair and Vice-chair of Ysgol Abersoch Governors were invited to submit 
evidence and answer questions. 

A record of what was discussed at the meeting can be viewed via this link - Minutes of 
Call-in Item 

03/11/20

Cabinet decides not to modify the original Cabinet decision

08/10/20

Education and Economy Scrutiny Committee scrutinizes the decision

25/09/20

Receive a request to call the decision into scrutiny

15/09/20
Cabinet decides to hold a statutory consultation on the proposed closure 

of Ysgol Abersoch 

The Cabinet’s decision to carry out a statutory consultation on the 

proposal to close Ysgol Abersoch

Page 181

https://democracy.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/mgai.aspx?id=19724&LLL=0
https://democracy.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/mgai.aspx?id=19724&LLL=0


12 

Following a comprehensive discussion, it was resolved that the scrutiny committee 
remained concerned about the situation and therefore referred the matter back to the 
Cabinet for reconsideration for the following reasons: 

 Owing to the COVID situation and legal guidance and the Education Department's 
policies, it is not possible to hold meetings in the usual manner and it is impossible 
to hold meetings with some people who have a keen interest in the matter.  It is 
also impossible to hold public meetings in the usual manner in the community to 
discuss and respond to the consultation. 

 The Headteacher was off work during the period, and she continues to be off.  As 
the permanent headteacher was best placed to know about the school's situation, 
continuing with the process when she continued to be off was unfair to the school 
and the community. 

 Some believe that small schools should not be closed without scrutinising the 
decision. 

The Chair of the Scrutiny Committee attended a meeting of the Cabinet on 3 November 
2020. He presented the rationale and the background behind the decision of the Scrutiny 
Committee. The Local Member elaborated on the school's situation and the concerns in 
terms of undertaking a public consultation under Covid-19 restrictions. After weighing up 
what the Scrutiny Committee had highlighted, the guidance of the officers and the 
reasons for the original decision, the Cabinet did not consider that the matters raised 
justified an amendment to the original decision. 

IMPACT OF SCRUTINY 

Although the Cabinet did not amend its original decision, this scrutiny work 

managed to highlight local concerns with the Cabinet recognising the need 

to keep an eye on the consultation and to ask the Education Department to 

provide a regular report on how the process was moving forward.

Page 182



13 

Scrutiny Investigations 

Scrutiny Investigation - Supporting Disabled People in Gwynedd 

The work of the scrutiny investigation was reported in the Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-
20. A progress report on the implementation of the recommendations had been 
programmed for presentation to the Care Scrutiny Committee on 26 March 2020. 
Unfortunately, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, this was not possible.  A progress report 
was submitted to a meeting of the committee on 26 November 2020. 

An update was received in terms of actions on the recommendations by the Adults, 
Health and Well-being Department, the Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Well-
being and the North Wales Posture and Mobility Service (PAMS).  

Full details of the update can be 
viewed via this link - Progress 
Report on the Recommendations 
of the Supporting Gwynedd's 
Disabled Persons Scrutiny 
Investigation.

Here are some of the observations noted during the meeting: 
 There was a shift in specific matters for the Health Board but progress had 

slowed down due to Covid-19. 
 Appointing an Occupational Therapy Lead for Gwynedd Council had facilitated 

communication and collaboration with the Health Service. 
 Electronic referral documents were currently being trialled by the Health Service, 

and it was intended to introduce an electronic referral system soon. 
 The Council's occupational therapists were responsible for carrying out an 

environment assessment in the home and PAMS occupational therapists were 
responsible for completing assessments for specialist equipment. There were no 
further developments regarding an agreement with the Health Board for 
Occupational Therapists from Local Authorities to receive the specialist training. 
Despite this, there had been progress in joint visits, which improved collaboration 
and reduced delay in ensuring suitable equipment on a timely basis. 

 It was noted that it was important not to forget the recommendations, to continue 
to receive updates and continue to improve in order to move forward. 

As a follow-up, a report on the Occupational Therapy Service was scrutinised at the 
meeting of the Care Scrutiny Committee on 14 January 2021. The main conclusions of 
the discussion were as follows: 

 The Service was facing a few challenges, however, it was also a period of 
opportunity to improve the service. A concern was noted that staffing level did not 
correspond with the workload. 

 The vision of the Department is to establish a manual handling service that would 
support timely hospital discharge arrangements and to ensure that the individual 
receives the right support and equipment to enable them to meet what matters to 
them. An application has been made for funding from the Independent Living 
budget of the Welsh Government to fund the service. 

Page 183

https://democratiaeth.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/mgai.aspx?id=20056&LLL=0


14 

 There was a need to keep an eye on the impact of Covid-19 on the service and 
whether or not there were sufficient resources to deal with the workload. 

Impact of New Building Developments on the Quality of Education - 
Scrutiny Investigation 

Reference was made to the work of the scrutiny investigation in the Scrutiny Annual 
Report 2019-20. A draft investigation report was to be submitted before the Education 
and Economy Scrutiny Committee on 19 March 2020, however, due to the Covid-19 
pandemic, the meeting was cancelled. 

Due to a period where no formal scrutiny meetings were held, matters to scrutinise in 
formal meetings were prioritised. The report of this investigation was not prioritised and, 
therefore, the committee has not considered the findings and recommendations of the 
investigation.   

The findings and recommendations of the investigation are summarised below. The main 
question to be addressed by the investigation was:  

"What effect has new building developments 
had on schools and the quality of pupil 
education, and are there lessons to be learnt 
in future?" 

Members of the group who undertook the 
work were Councillors:  

o Beth Lawton (Chair),
o Steve Collings, 
o Cai Larsen, 
o Paul Rowlinson. 

It was seen that the new buildings offered flexible, safe facilities of a high standard that 
would not require any substantial maintenance for a long time. The opportunities and the 
spaces that have been created facilitate education provision in Gwynedd, and the pupils 
have reported that they are very proud of the facilities and the investment in their areas.  

It became apparent that it was difficult to prove the impact of the new buildings on the 
quality of education, and the conclusion was reached that the buildings was one element 
that contributes towards the quality of education. Members of the investigation were 
pleased to see that the investment had brought more flexible learning conditions to our 
schools, as well as pride amongst the pupils, the staff and within the communities. 
Lessons to be learnt were identified from the qualitative evidence gathered which has led 
to presenting the recommendations below. 

 That the Education Modernisation Service continues to evaluate projects by 
learning lessons whilst delivering them, and adapt in light of those lessons. 
Specific points identified by the investigation should be considered with those 
lessons. 

 That the Cabinet Member makes a formal application to Welsh Government in 
order to slacken the guidelines and 21st Century grant conditions somewhat, 
giving consideration to the methods of projecting the population of individual 
schools in the longer term. 

Page 184

https://democratiaeth.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/ielistdocuments.aspx?cid=392&mid=2874&ver=4&lll=0


15 

 That the Cabinet Member makes a formal application to Welsh Government to 
carry out a study across the whole of Wales on the impact of new school 
buildings on the quality of education. 

Throughout the case studies and the meetings with the experts in the field of education, 
the impact of good leadership on the quality of education became apparent, and 
therefore the members of the investigation note the importance of aiming towards strong 
leadership. 

Undertaking Scrutiny Investigations in the future 

No matters for investigation were identified during this Council year. Members have been 
aware of the additional requirements on officers during the Covid-19 pandemic and have 
attempted to avoid placing additional substantial work pressures on them. 

When prioritising the 2021-22 work programme, consideration will be given to whether a 
matter is suitable/merits a scrutiny investigation. As usual, areas that will be the subject 
of a scrutiny investigation will need to be prioritised, giving consideration to the virtual 
meeting context.  

At the time of writing this report, Covid-19 restrictions are continuing to ease. It is hoped 
that the situation continues to improve. The pandemic has shown us that it is possible to 
hold meetings virtually, with members taking part in a remote meeting. In the past, video 
conferencing equipment was used with a choice for members to take part by attending 
Council offices in Caernarfon, Dolgellau or Pwllheli. 

The technology available to hold 
virtual meetings via Microsoft Teams 
and Zoom maximises the 
opportunities to programme 
meetings that are convenient for 
members to participate. In a time 
where focus is placed on climate 
change, holding virtual meetings 
reduces carbon emissions as 
members do not travel as much. 

At times, it is fair to say that face-to-face meetings are of an advantage, especially when 
witnesses are called in to provide personal evidence. Looking at body language and eye 
contact can help to make witnesses feel more comfortable when presenting evidence. 

It is not yet clear how exactly scrutiny investigations will be carried out. The above 
considerations will be considered along with work pressures on Council Departments. A 
conclusion will be needed per investigation on the best way to act and learn lessons in 
moving forward. 

Page 185



16 

Parking Task Group 

A request was received from the Cabinet Member for the Environment to establish a 
Task Group in 2019, to assist the Department with the work of analysing the range of 
options to manage parking in light of the financial income challenges from car parks in 
the future.   

Members of the Task Group undertaking the work are Councillors:  
o Kevin Morris Jones, 
o Angela Russell, 
o Annwen Hughes, 
o Gethin Glyn Williams. 

A report on the work of the Task Group was 
submitted to a meeting of the Communities 
Scrutiny Committee on 10 December 2020 
detailing the options and recommendations put 
forward by the Task Group.                                                                            Image: “freepik.com” 

It was reported that the Task Group had undertaken a review of the Council's current 
parking strategy, having regard to electric vehicles, use of cash, events, use of dwellings 
and holiday homes, motor-homes, changing the structure of parking fees, parking during 
the Christmas period, Blue Badge Scheme, Parking Scheme for Residents and 
strengthening the Parking Enforcement Team. 

The committee resolved to accept the update and 
support the recommendation of the Task Group 
that pay and display fees be increased by 
10%. The report and minutes of the 
meeting can be viewed via this link - 
Report and Minutes

A report was submitted to the Cabinet on 
16 February 2021 in terms of the parking 
review. The recommendations of the 
Task Group were accepted and an 
adjustment was made in terms of 
reconciling the enforcement hours of Band 
1 Car Parks to be operational between 
10am and 4:30pm. It is intended to hold 
meetings of the Task Group in 2021/22 and 
report back to the Communities Scrutiny 
Committee.

"...so good as a Cabinet Member, to 
see our scrutiny committee system, by 
means of the cross-party task group, 

contributing towards making a decision 
rather than examining a decision and 
scrutinising it afterwards. I think that 
this is always good news. ...there are 
very positive elements in the report. I 
would like to congratulate the group 

on their work."

IMPACT OF SCRUTINY 

Members of the Task Group collaborated with the Cabinet Member and 

added value as they reviewed the parking strategy. It is an example of what 

can be achieved when collaborating with a Cabinet Member.

Page 186

https://democratiaeth.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/mgai.aspx?id=20113&LLL=0
https://democratiaeth.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/mgai.aspx?id=20347&LLL=0


17 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015  

The Act requires public bodies to design services that protect future generations in the 
long term. It places a duty to improve the environmental, economic, cultural and social 
well-being of the people of Wales.  

When undertaking scrutiny, members consider the five ways of working that are noted in 
the Act:  

It is essential that members refine scrutiny skills giving consideration to what is required 
of public bodies within the Act. It is proposed to regularly remind members of the Act's 
requirements in order to be able to ensure that the Council acts in accordance with the 
Act.  

Balance short term needs with long term ones and plan for the 
future.

Prevent problems from occurring or worsening in the future, 
rather than responding to problems. 

How the Council's well-being objectives can affect the national 
well-being goals and the well-being objectives of other public 

bodies (e.g. local health board or police). 

Working with others to achieve the well-being objectives. 

Include the people of Gwynedd when seeking to realise plans 
and ensure that those people reflect the area's diversity.

Page 187



18 

Cabinet Members Sessions 

As 2020/21 was a very different year, the need was identified for Cabinet Members to 
hold sessions for members in order to share information on the work of departments, the 
impact of Covid-19 on service provision and the main priorities of the Cabinet 
Member/Department for the future. Members were given the opportunity to make 
observations and to ask questions. 

Information sessions per Cabinet Member were held during November 2020: 

Members who attended the sessions greatly appreciated them. It was a golden 
opportunity to receive information and to receive responses to members' questions in an 
informal setting.  

An appreciation was noted of the staff's work during the pandemic, responding to 
challenges and endeavouring to provide first class services for the people of Gwynedd. 

The sessions were beneficial with members receiving information that gave them a better 
understanding of the work of different services within the departments. 

Highways and 
Municipal and 

Gwynedd 
Consultancy 

Catrin Wager

Housing and 
Property 

Craig ab Iago

Children and 
Supporting 

Families 

Dilwyn Morgan

Environment 

Gareth Griffith 

Education 

Cemlyn 
Williams

Corporate and 
Legal Support 

Nia Jeffreys 

Economy 

Gareth Thomas

Finance 

Ioan Thomas

Adults, 
Health and Well-

being  

Dafydd Meurig

Page 188



19 

Facts about Scrutiny in Gwynedd in 2020/21 



29 items have been scrutinised in formal meetings.

3 meetings of the Scrutiny Forum have been held during the 
year.

A total of 32 scrutiny members have attended 9 Cabinet 
Member information sharing sessions.

Others who are part of the scrutiny work:  
 7 co-opted members (5 with a vote on education   

 matters only, 2 without a vote)
  1 lay member


Meetings were held between the Chairs and Vice-chairs and 
relevant Cabinet Members and Heads of Department.

Support for the scrutiny work by the Democracy and 
Language Manager, Senior Language and Scrutiny Advisor 
and Scrutiny Advisor. 

48 members have been a part of undertaking important 
scrutiny work during the year.

Page 189



20 

APPENDIX 

Scrutiny Work Programme 2020-2021 

Education and Economy Scrutiny Committee 

8 October 2020   Call in - Cabinet decision (15/09/20) to hold a statutory 
consultation on the proposal to close Ysgol Abersoch.   

5 November 2020  North Wales Economic Growth (North Wales Economic 
Ambition Board) 

4 February 2021  Education Annual Report 2018-19, 2019-20, The 
Education Department's Response to the Covid-19 
Pandemic 
The Education Department’s Priorities 

 GwE's work programme and support for schools during 
the Covid-19 Pandemic 

 Post-16 Education Informal Engagement 
 Developing the Principles of Sustainable Tourism and 

Tourism Tax 

15 April 2021  Delivering the Youth Engagement and Development 
Framework in Gwynedd 

 Review of the Mobile Libraries Service 

Care Scrutiny Committee 

26 November 2020  Progress Report on the Recommendations of the 
Scrutiny Investigation: Supporting the Disabled People 
of Gwynedd (Wheelchair Service)  

 Looked After Children and Young People  

14 January 2021   Occupational Therapy Service  

18 March 2021   Extra care and housing provision on the Penrhos site, 
Pwllheli  

 Use of the Housing Support Grant to reduce 
homelessness in Gwynedd 

Communities Scrutiny Committee 

22 October 2020   Annual Update by the (Gwynedd and Anglesey) 
Community Safety Partnership  

Page 190



21 

 Annual Report of the Gwynedd and Anglesey Public 
Services Board 2019/20 

10 December 2020   Governance Structure and Delivery Arrangements of 
the Public Services Board   

 Update - Parking Review  
 Research Paper: Managing the use of dwellings as 

holiday homes  

25 February 2021   Rights of Way Action Plan  
 Supplementary Planning Guidance: Tourist Facilities 

and Accommodation  
 Public Protection Service - work of the services during 

the pandemic  

22 April 2021   Public Services Board - Progress on realising the Well-
being Plan  

 Control of Firework Displays  
 The Council's Public Protection Services staffing 

resources - ensuring capacity and resilience now and 
in the future 

Audit and Governance Committee 

15 October 2020  Savings Overview: progress report on realising savings 
schemes  

 Budget Strategy 2021/22 (scrutinise this work early with 
regards to Council budgeting) 

11 February 2021  The Savings Situation 
 2021/22 Budget (with a focus on risk, prior to the 

Cabinet recommending the budget and tax for 
approval by the Full Council) 

 Capital Strategy 2021/22 (including Investment and 
Borrowing Strategies) - note the relevant information 
and risks, and support submission of the strategy to the 
Full Council for approval 

Page 191



CONCISE VERSION 

ANNUAL SCRUTINY REPORT  

2020-21 

Page 192



SCRUTINY DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

Scrutiny has had to adapt its way of working over the past year. Here are the steps 
taken to restart the scrutiny work after it was delayed for a while due to the huge 
work pressures on Council services. 

Step 1 -  Scrutiny Forum met on 10 July 2020 to discuss the way                          

forward with recommencing the scrutiny work.

Step 2 -  Invite members to submit matters for Chairs and Vice-chairs to raise    

                     at informal meetings with Cabinet Members, Heads of Department     

                     and the relevant Director.

Step 3 -  Informal meetings with Cabinet Members, Heads of Department and    

the relevant Director during the period between 16 and 23 
September.

Step 4 -  Scrutiny Forum met on 29 September 2020 to discuss the way   

forward in terms of recommencing the formal scrutiny work, and a 
discussion in terms of prioritising items. 

Step 5 -  Scrutiny Committee meetings recommencing in October.

Step 6 -  Cabinet Member Sessions in November to share information about   

the work of departments, the impact of Covid-19 and the main 
priorities for the future. An unique opportunity to identify potential 
matters to scrutinise in the extraordinary period.   

THE PURPOSE OF SCRUTINY

TO FACILITATE DRIVING IMPROVEMENT IN SERVICES FOR THE PEOPLE 

OF GWYNEDD

This will be done constructively by:   

 Investigating concerns regarding the quality of our services 

 Acting as a Critical Friend, and ensuring that appropriate attention is 

given to the citizen's voice 

 Identifying good practice and weaknesses 

 Holding the Cabinet and its members to account

 Review or scrutinise, decisions or actions, that are not the 

responsibility of the Cabinet



Page 193



All information about scrutiny work in 2020-21 is available in the full version 
on the Council website - https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/scrutiny

SCRUTINY ITEMS

In 2020-21, 29 items were scrutinised in formal scrutiny committees, including the 
following: 

North Wales Economic Growth 

Delivering the Youth Engagement and Development  
Framework in Gwynedd 

Use of the Housing Support Grant to reduce  
homelessness in Gwynedd 

Research Paper: Managing the use of dwellings as holiday homes 

          Public Protection Services     Control of Firework Displays 

Scrutiny members choose items and identify a topic that is important and needs to 
be scrutinised in order to make a difference to the people of Gwynedd. Scrutiny 
members will continue to do so in 2021-22. 

CALL-IN

As part of the scrutiny system, members have the right to call-in decisions to 
scrutinise. In 2020/21, one decision was called in for scrutiny, namely the Cabinet's 
decision to undertake a statutory consultation on the proposal to close Ysgol 
Abersoch. 

Although the Cabinet did not amend its original decision. This scrutiny work 
managed to highlight local concerns with the Cabinet recognising the need to keep 
an eye on the consultation and to ask the Education Department to provide a 
regular report on how the process was moving forward.

Page 194

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/scrutiny


Facts about Scrutiny in Gwynedd in 2020/21 



29 items have been scrutinised in formal meetings.

3 meetings of the Scrutiny Forum have been held during the 
year.

A total of 32 scrutiny members have attended 9 Cabinet 
Member information sharing sessions.

Others who are part of the scrutiny work:  
 7 co-opted members (5 with a vote on education   

 matters only, 2 without a vote)
  1 lay member


Meetings were held between the Chairs and Vice-chairs and 
relevant Cabinet Members and Heads of Department.

Support for the scrutiny work by the Democracy and 
Language Manager, Senior Language and Scrutiny Advisor 
and Scrutiny Advisor. 

48 members have been a part of undertaking important 
scrutiny work during the year.

Page 195



  

GWYNEDD COUNCIL 

 
 

Report to a meeting of Gwynedd Council 
  
Date of Meeting: 8 July 2021 
 
Title of Item:  Review of the Council’s political balance    
      
 
Contact Officer: Geraint Owen, Head of Democracy Services  
    (Head of Corporate Support Department) 

 

 

1. THE DECISION SOUGHT 
 
The Council is asked to: 

 

 adopt the seats allocation as noted in the appendix A.   
 

 delegate the power to the Head of Democratic Services to make 
appointments to the committees on the basis of political balance and in 
accordance with the wishes of the political groups. 
 

 

2. BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE 
 
2.1. INTRODUCTION 
 

2.1.1 At the annual meeting of the full Council on 13 May 2021, it was reported 
that the political constitution of the Council was as follows:- 

 
 Plaid Cymru   39 
 Independent   21 
 Llais Gwynedd     6 
 United Independent Group for Gwynedd    3 
 Propel Group    2 
 Individual Member     4 
   
 Total   75 
 

2.1.2 Since then, the following changes: 
 

 A by-election was held in Harlech following the resignation of Freya 
Bentham, Independent group. 

 Councillor Gwynfor Owen, Plaid Cymru Group, has been elected to 
represent Harlech ward. 
 
 
 

Page 196

Agenda Item 12



  

2.1.3 Therefore, the Council's political balance is now as follows:- 

 Plaid Cymru  40 
 Independent   20 
 Llais Gwynedd     6 
 United Independent Group for Gwynedd    3 
 Propel Group     2 
 Individual Member     4 
  
 Total   75 
 
 
 

2.2 ALLOCATION OF SEATS ON COMMITTEES 

2.2.1  To remind members, the four main rules included in the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 in relation to the allocation of seats are noted here:- 

(a) Every seat on a committee cannot be allocated to the same political group; 

(b) The majority of seats on a committee must be allocated to a political group if the 
number of persons who are members of that group constitute a majority of the 
Council’s members; 

(c) Subject to paragraphs (a) and (b) above, the number of seats on ordinary 
committees allocated to each political group will be the same as the number of total 
seats the members of that group have on the Council; 

(ch) Subject to paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) above, the number of seats on a 
committee allocated to each political group will be the same proportion of seats on 
the committee as the number of seats the members of that group have on the 
Council. 

2.2.2 In order to ensure that these rules are adhered to, the Council has been dealing with 
committees in different blocks in the past. Also, this makes it easier to ensure that 
rule (c) in paragraph 2.2.1 above is adhered to.   
 

 
2.3  CHANGES TO THE ALLOCATION OF SEATS ON COMMITTEES  
 
2.3.1  The rule noted in 2.2.1 (b) above means that there is no effect on the political 

balance for Plaid Cymru Group.  However, the changes to the political balance as 
a result of the review are as follows: 

 

 Group Llais Gwynedd gains one seat on the Language Committee at the 
expense of the Independent Group.   

 

2.3.3 The Council is requested to adopt the seating allocation in accordance with the   
     political balance as noted in Appendix A. 

 
 
 

3. ANY CONSULTATIONS UNDERTAKEN PRIOR TO RECOMMENDING THE 
DECISION 
 

Page 197



  

3.1 The Council’s Business Group was consulted as usual, however due to the 
very limited time scale the consultation was held through electronic means by 
prior arrangement with the Political Group Leaders. 
 

3.2 STATUTORY OFFICERS’ OBSERVATIONS: 
 
Monitoring Officer: 
 
 No observations to add in relation to propriety.   
 

 
Statutory Finance Officer: 
 
 
 Nothing to add to the report from a financial propriety perspective.

Page 198



 

APPENDIX A – ALLOCATION OF SEATS ON COMMITTEES 
 

A Plaid Cymru Independent Llais Gwynedd Propel Group United 
Independent 
Group for 
Gwynedd 

Individual 
Member 

Total 

Education and Economy Scrutiny 
Committee 

10 5 1  1 1 0 18 

Communities Scrutiny Committee 10 5 2  0 1 18 

Care Scrutiny Committee 10 5 1 1 0  1  18 

Audit and Governance 10 5 1  1 1 18 

 

B Plaid Cymru Independent Llais Gwynedd The National 
Party 

United 
Independent 
Group for 
Gwynedd 

Individual 
Member 

Total 

Democratic Services 8 4  1 1 1  15 

Planning 8 4 1  1 1 15 

Central Licensing 8 4 1  0 2 15 

Language  8 4 ( i lawr o 5) 2 ( up from 1)  1  15 

Chief Officers Appointment 8 4  1  1 0 1  15 

Employment Appeals 4 2 1  0  7 

Number of seats 84 42 12 4 5 7 154 

 

C Plaid Cymru Independent Llais Gwynedd The National 
Party 

United 
Independent 
Group for 
Gwynedd 

Individual 
Member 

Total 

Pensions 4 2 0  0 1 7 

Local Joint Consultative 
Committee 

6 3 1  1  11 

SACRE 4 1  0 1 0 1  7 

Joint Planning Policy Committee 4 2 1  0  8 

 

Total seats 102 50 14 5 6 9 186 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 desig nating  
 

P
age 199



 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

P
age 200



   

Ministerial 
Correspondence 
Caxton House 
Tothill Street 
LONDON 
SW1H 9DA 

  
0207 340 4000 
 
www.gov.uk  

ministers@dwp.gov.uk 
 

Your ref: ER      
 

Our ref: MC2021/29325 
 
 

10 May 2021 
 

  
 
Cllr Edgar Owen 
eirianroberts3@gwynedd.llyw.cymru 
 

 
Dear Councillor Owen,  
 
Thank you for your letter of 13 April to the Secretary of State on behalf about 
Universal Credit Basic Income (UBI). I am replying as the Minister for Welfare 
Delivery. 
 
I can confirm that there is no intention to introduce a UBI as we need to provide 
support to those who need it most and a UBI would not do that. 
  
Our analysis indicates that a basic income would mean a choice between an 
extremely expensive approach, that would require lifting taxes substantially to 
afford a meaningful payment to all, or paying a very small amount, insufficient 
to live off, that would be more affordable. I believe neither option would be 
acceptable.  
  
A flat rate UBI would also not target support at those in greater need, and 
would not take into account additional costs faced by many citizens. For 
instance, those with disabilities or childcare responsibilities. Furthermore, a UBI 
would reduce incentives to work. The absence of work search conditionality in a 
full UBI scheme has potential to damage work incentives, trapping people on 
benefits indefinitely. 
  
In the context of the current COVID-19 outbreak, the Government set out a 
substantial package of targeted measures to provide support to people affected 
by Coronavirus. 
  
Our plan is among the most generous in the world. We have strengthened the 
safety net for the most vulnerable investing billions into improving our welfare 
system. Using existing frameworks for those who need additional support is the 
quickest and most effective way to do so during the COVID-19 outbreak. 
 

Page 201

Agenda Item 14



I hope you will find this reply helpful. 
 

Kind regards, 

 
Will Quince MP 

 
Minister for Welfare Delivery 

 

Page 202



Jane Hutt AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyfiawnder Cymdeithasol 
Minister for Social Justice 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Jane.Hutt@llyw.cymru 
               Correspondence.Jane.Hutt@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref JH-/10036/21 
 
Y Cynghorydd Edgar Owen 
 
eirianroberts3@gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

 
 

10 June 2021  
 

Dear Eirian,  
 
Thank you for your correspondence of 21 May and for bringing attention to Gwynedd 
Council’s proposals in relation to Universal Basic Income. I have responsibility for taking 
forward the recently announced Basic Income pilot as one of the many aspects of my new 
role as Minister for Social Justice.  
  
Tackling poverty and inequality in Wales is at the forefront of our priorities as a government. 
In its essence, Universal Basic Income is about giving people more control over their lives, 
alleviating poverty and having a positive effect on mental health and well-being. Our aim is 
to test out these claims through the proposed pilot.  
 
A great deal of work must now be done to explore the development of the pilot. We must 
ensure the pilot is designed with the involvement of a variety of key stakeholders, and that it 
draws on the experience of Scotland and other countries around the world.  
 
It is too soon to confirm any further details at this stage, but I would like to thank you for 
taking the time to bring my attention to the work you are doing in Gwynedd, which appears 
to align closely with this new area of policy. I hope to be in a position to share more about 
the pilot over the coming months. 
 
Yours Sincerely,  

 
Jane Hutt AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyfiawnder Cymdeithasol 
Minister for Social Justice  

Page 203

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Jane.Hutt@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Jane.Hutt@gov.wales


Arweinydd y Cyngor 
Leader of the Council 
Cynghorydd / Councillor Dyfrig Siencyn 

Cynghorydd.DyfrigLewisSiencyn@gwynedd.llyw.cymru 
  (01286) 679666

Swyddfa’r Cyngor 
Caernarfon 
Gwynedd  LL55 1SH 
01766 771000 
www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

Gofynnwch am/Ask for: Cyng. Dyfrig Siencyn
 (01286) 679666 Ein Cyf / Our Ref: DS/SEW

 Cynghorydd.DyfrigLewisSiencyn@gwynedd.llyw.cymru Eich Cyf / Your Ref:

28/06/21
Mark Drakeford MS, 
First Minister for Wales  

Dear First Minister, 

I write on behalf of of Cyngor Gwynedd in response to the publication of the report entitled 
Second Homes – Developing New Policies in Wales by Dr Simon Brooks, which was of course 
commissioned by your government. 

Cyngor Gwynedd recognises that the work undertaken by Dr Brooks is of significant importance 
and we are indeed glad that Dr Brooks has based a substantial part of his work upon the research 
undertaken by Cyngor Gwynedd’s planning department and indeed welcomes the fact that Dr 
Brooks has incorporated numerous recommendations made by this Council in his final report. 

From previous discussions you will be aware that Gwynedd, along with several other areas of 
Wales, currently faces a housing crisis and that the continuous increase in house prices in rural 
Wales compounds the problem of affordability which has placed local residents at a disadvantage 
for many years. It is therefore heartening to see that the government commissioned the work by 
Dr Brooks and the purpose of this letter is to urge your government to adopt the 
recommendations contained therein. 

The council discussed Dr Brooks' report at its Cabinet meeting on the 15th of June and a copy of 
chief executive’s report is attached to this letter. You will note from the report that the council is 
supportive of all 12 recommendations made by Dr Brooks apart from recommendation number 7, 
which, as it currently stands, would not achieve the desired outcome. 

One of the main frustrations in respect of the current situation is the fact that a second home 
owner can avoid all taxation on the second dwelling, be it either local council tax or national non 
domestic rates. You will no doubt be aware that a second home owner who can provide very 
minimal evidence of an attempt let the property as holiday accommodation for 140 days per 
annum, and who succeeds to do so for 70 days per annum, can transfer that dwelling from the 
local council taxation system to the national non domestic rating system. Furthermore, the owner 
of a second home with a rateable value of less that £12,000 can apply for small business rates 
relief. Therefore a second home owner can avoid paying any taxation whatsoever on that 
dwelling. We have no doubt that the current situation is in an unintended consequence and that 
the current taxation legislation was not designed to allow or promote such activity. 

Page 204



[2]

In previous discussions and declarations your government has quite rightly suggested that local 
authorities should make full use of its powers to raise the council tax premium to a maximum 
100% on second homes. Cyngor Gwynedd has already implemented a 100% premium, however 
the aim of such a premium is being lost whilst second home owners are able to transfer from local 
taxation to national nondomestic rates and subsequently apply for small business rates relief. I 
have no doubt that your government does not wish to see the situation whereby a local person 
who owns a single dwelling is paying council tax whilst a second home owner in the same village 
can not only avoid the council tax premium but can also avoid paying any taxation whatsoever on 
a second home. 

The solution to this unintended consequence is straightforward and achievable within a short 
timescale. Amending section 66 of The Local Government Act to prevent the ability to transfer a 
dwelling from the Council Tax system to the NNDR system would solve the current unjust 
situation. This would mean that a dwelling remains a dwelling for taxation purposes and therefore 
the dwelling owner would be liable for council tax and could not transfer that dwelling into the 
non-national nondomestic rating system and subsequently avoid any taxation at all by applying for 
small business rates relief. 

We urge your government to give this matter your consideration before adopting a final stance on 
the recommendations in the Brooks report. 

As you will be aware the report contains 12 recommendations in all and as stated above, apart 
from the amendment to recommendation 7, Cyngor Gwynedd is fully supportive of all other 
recommendations and urges your government to adopt the same as a matter of urgency. In terms 
of programming and prioritisation there are certain recommendations which would contribute 
more than others towards solving the current situation. Specifically, Cyngor Gwynedd would wish 
to see prioritisation of the following: 

Recommendation 7 – changes to the taxation system as outlined above. 
Recommendation 10 – creating a new planning use class for short term holiday let dwellings 
Recommendation 3 – establishing a registration system for short term holiday let dwellings 

Gwynedd’s residents are facing a situation which means that they cannot continue to live in their 
own communities and are being forced to seek homes elsewhere. We believe such a situation 
unacceptable and unjust and urge you government to act without delay for the sake of all 
communities in Wales.  

Yours sincerely, 

Y Cyng. Dyfrig Siencyn 
Arweinydd Cyngor Gwynedd 
Leader of Gwynedd Council 

Page 205



[3]

Page 206



Arweinydd y Cyngor 
Leader of the Council 
Cynghorydd / Councillor Dyfrig Siencyn 

Cynghorydd.DyfrigLewisSiencyn@gwynedd.llyw.cymru 
  (01286) 679666

Swyddfa’r Cyngor 
Caernarfon 
Gwynedd  LL55 1SH 
01766 771000 
www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

Gofynnwch am/Ask for: Cllr Dyfrig Siencyn
 (01286) 679666 Ein Cyf / Our Ref: DS/SEW

Cynghorydd.DyfrigLewisSiencyn@gwynedd.llyw.cymru Eich Cyf / Your Ref:

29/06/21 

Mark Drakeford MS 
First Minister of Wales,  

Dear First Minister, 

Gwynedd and Anglesey Joint Local Development Plan - Review 

I write to you on behalf of all Gwynedd Council members following an extraordinary meeting of the Council 

that was arranged at the request of members to discuss our review of the Gwynedd and Anglesey Local 

Development Plan, as a result of significant concerns regarding the housing crisis in the county. Our 

Development Plan was adopted in 2017 and there is an intention to undertake a review of it with the 

process commencing during the next few weeks. 

This is the proposal that was unanimously passed following an earnest and passionate discussion: 

"That this Council urgently addresses the Local Development Plan (approved 28.7.2017) with a 
view to review and update in relation to planning policies and the Welsh language.  It would be 
desirable to give this particular priority, beyond what was noted as the normal monitoring 
period within the Plan itself, and introduce proposals that correspond to the report of Dr Simon 
Brooks "Second Homes - Developing New Policies in Wales", commissioned by Welsh 
Government. 

Following the Pandemic, and the fact that Wylfa B will not be developed, it is expected that such 
a meeting will address the necessary changes required to comply with the Welsh Well-being Act, 
a More Equal Wales and a Wales with a vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language. 

Therefore, in light of the housing crisis and the requirements of the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act, there is a need to move urgently to review the Local Development Plan; that 
this process takes full attention of the views of members and the community, and that the 
Council proceeds as soon as possible to prepare the Review Report, and submit a Delivery 
Agreement before the Council.  Also, that the Council writes to the First Minister of Wales, Mark 
Drakeford, to press for the right to act within a shorter timeframe". 

During the meeting, deep concerns were highlighted in every community across the county about the unruly 
housing market and the critical position we have here in Gwynedd. The housing crisis requires an urgent 
response and, therefore, there was considerable astonishment in understanding that a review of our Local 
Development Plan would take three and a half years due to the statutory requirements of the system.  

Page 206



[2]

It is difficult to understand why so much time is needed when there is a need to respond with urgency to 
ensure that we can provide housing to meet the needs of our communities.  This is at a time when there are 
substantial changes such as the huge increase in second homes and holiday homes, the change in the situation 
regarding the Wylfa Newydd scheme, the requirements of Future Wales (The National Plan) in addition to 
the impacts of the pandemic.  

I was urged to write to you to ask if it would be possible to undertake a review of the Development Plan 
much sooner? A suggestion was made that this should be done within six months and certainly before council 
elections in May. 

We have a team of enthusiastic officers who are eager to make every effort to complete the review as soon 
as possible but it appears that the regulations restrict their ability to do so. 

It is clear that the Local Development Plan has a central part in what we can do as a Council to solve the 
housing problem, but we would like to remind you of our previous correspondence with our proposals 
noting what the Government can do, in an attempt to have local control over the number of second homes 
and holiday homes.  

I look forward to hearing from you to discuss the crisis facing our communities in detail and to seek 
resolutions as a matter of urgency. 

I look forward to your response as soon as possible in order for me to report back to my fellow members. 

Yours sincerely, 

Cllr Dyfrig Siencyn 
Leader of Gwynedd Council 

Page 207


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	7 ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE 2020/21
	Item 7 - Appendix

	8 GWYNEDD COUNCIL ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2020/21
	Item 8 - Appendix

	9 LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND ELECTIONS ACT (WALES) 2021
	Item 9 - Appendix A
	Item 9 - Appendix B
	Item 9 - Appendix C
	Item 9 - Appendix CH

	10 ELECTORAL REGISTRATION OFFICER / RETURNING OFFICER
	11 SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21
	Item 11 - Appendix 1
	Item 11 - Appendix 2

	12 THE COUNCIL'S POLITICAL BALANCE
	14 RESPONSES TO PREVIOUS NOTICE OF MOTION
	Letter from the Welsh Government Minister for Social Justice
	Letter to the First Minister for Wales in response to Dr Simon Brooks' Report
	Letter to the First Minister for Wales following the Special Meeting of the Council on 28th June, 2021


